Mynydd Parys Copper Mine:

Archaeological Assessment



Ymddiriedolaeth Archaeolegol Gwynedd Gwynedd Archaeological Trust Report No. 292

Mynydd Parys Copper Mine

Archaeological Assessment (G1469)

Report No. 292

Prepared for Cadw: Welsh Historic Monuments and Amlwch Industrial Heritage Trust

by

D. Rh. Gwyn

Ymddiriedolaeth Archaeolegol Gwynedd Gwynedd Archaeological Trust

Abbreviations

The following abbreviations are standard:

AIHT: Amlwch Industrial Heritage Trust AMplc: Anglesey Mining plc. CDH: Caernarfon and Denbigh Herald CRO: Caernarfon Record Office, Victoria Dock, Caernarfon, Gwynedd DRO: Dolgellau Record Office, Cae Penarlâg, Dolgellau, Gwynedd ICOMOS: International Council of Monuments and Sites LlRO: Llangefni Record Office, Shire Hall, Llangefni, Ynys Môn GD/IG: Gwynedd Diwydiannol/Industrial Gwynedd IAR: Industrial Archaeology Review JMHRS: Journal of the Merionethshire Historical and Record Society NLW: National Library of Wales NWC: North Wales Chronicle PRN: Primary Record Number SAM: Scheduled Ancient Monument SSSI: Site of Special Scientific Interest TAAS: Transactions of the Anglesey Antiquarian Society TCHS: Transactions of the Caernarvonshire Historical Society UWB .: University of Wales, Bangor

CONTENTS

Report

1 Introduction

2 Aims

- 3 Methods and Techniques
- 4 Results of the Desk-top Survey
- 5 Site Location and Geology
- 6 Historical Summary
- 7 Archaeological Summary
- 8 Management
- 9 Acknowledgements

10 Glossary

- 11 Bibliography
- Appendix 1: site gazetteer
- Appendix 2: archive maps and plans

Appendix 3: survey and assessment excavation of the Mona Mine smelter (feature 352): by D. Hopewell.

ILLUSTRATIONS

Report

Photographs

1 The Dyffryn Adda furnace (feature 387)

2 The Dyffryn Adda furnace (feature 387) - interior

3 The Mona Mine windmill (feature 74)

4 The Mona Mine - the magazine, kilns and sulphur chambers (features 293, 300-303)

5 The Pearl engine house (feature 122)

6 The Pearl shaft capstan pit (feature 123)

Мар

1 Mining Planning Consent 1986 and extension 1981

2 Scheduled Ancient Monuments, 1995

3 Geological SSSI

4 Lichenological SSSI

Appendix 1

Map

1 Distribution map of archaeological features identified on Mynydd Parys included in the database.

Appendix 2

Maps

Mona Mine, 1784-1786
Parys Mine, 1815
Mona and Parys Mines, *c*. 1815-1819
Underground survey

Appendix 3

Figures

1 The Mona Mine smelter (feature 352), flue (feature 353) and associated buildings

2 Topopgraphical survey and location of features

3 Grey-scale plot of geophysical area 1

4 Grey-scale plot of geophysical area 2

5 Trench A after excavation

6 Trench B after excavation

7 Trench C after excavation

8 Trench D and E after excavation

9 Trench F after excavation

10 Trench G after excavation

Photograph

7 The Mona Mine smelter (feature 352): the revetment after clearance.

SUMMARY

The present study constitutes an archaeological assessment of the copper mines on Mynydd Parys in the community of Amlwch, Ynys Môn. Desk-top work carried out in the UWB, Llangefni, Caernarfon and Hawarden Record Offices and the Manchester Central Reference Library has furnished details of the mines' revival in the Modern period, its pre-eminence within the copper industry in the late eighteenth century and its slow decline in the nineteenth. Recent archaeological studies have made clear its origins in the early Bronze age. Site visits have established the number and variety of identifiable features on the mountain, and a report has been produced on the basis of both desk-top study and field visits, which argues that Mynydd Parys, though a distinctive and unusual site with a number of possibly unique features, bears some features in common with other copper workings in Wales, in Britain and beyond, and that its archaeology needs to be understood within a world-wide context.

A database of all identified features has been prepared, together with recommendations for mitigatory measures to minimise damage to the archaeological resource.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Cadw: Welsh Historic Monuments and Amlwch Industrial Heritage Trust have jointly commissioned the Gwynedd Archaeological Trust to carry out an archaeological assessment on the copper, lead and zincmining sites of Mynydd Parys as a partnership project. The assessment of the site was to include an element of further evaluation to complete the management report. Management recommendations were to be made for the site as a whole and for specific features within it.

1.2 Location

Mynydd Parys, known in English as Parys Mountain, and formerly also referred to as Mynydd Trysglwyn, lies two kilometres due south of the town of Amlwch in the community, formerly the civil parish, of Amlwch on Anglesey (Ynys Môn). It is situated between the A5025 and the B5111 roads, the latter of which runs across the north-west side of the mountain. The mountain is approximately two kilometres long and nearly one kilometre wide, the long axis running nearly north-east to south-west. The highest point is 147 metres above Ordnance Datum, whilst the surrounding area averages 80 m above OD.

The mountain was formerly divided between Cerrig y Bleiddiau farm on the east, on which the Mona mine was developed, and Parys Farm on the west, on which the Parys mine came to be worked.

1.3 Ownership and leases

The eastern half of the mountain is owned by the Most Hon. the Marquess of Anglesey; the western half by AMplc, though a royalty is payable to the Marquess and Sir Paul Neave, who formerly owned the site in moiety. Small areas are owned by Miss R.E. Hughes and Mr A.M. Hughes. All these properties are managed by Jones Peckover, Land Agents, 129 High Street, Bangor, Gwynedd.

AMplc have a surface lease and a mineral lease of the eastern half until the year 2054, to whom planning consent was granted by Gwynedd County Council in May 1986 (No 1/11/C/79) for the exploitation of zinc, copper and lead sulphide resources. No archaeological conditions were attached to the permission. A further application was submitted by AMplc to Gwynedd County Council in February 1991 (No 1/11/c/77a) to extend the tailings disposal area to the south of the mountain, an area which includes the Dyffryn Coch precipitation pits (see Map 1).

1.4 Access

There are believed to be no common rights over the mountain. There are a number of public and discretionary footpaths through the site.

1.5 Nature of the threat

The threat to the archaeology of Mynydd Parys derives from a number of factors. Not only is there the active possibility that mining might resume, which would place much of the archaeology under risk, but the mountain is at risk from fly-tipping and domestic dumping. Vandalism is a recurrent problem. A number of the standing buildings are in danger of collapse.

1.6 Statutory protection

A number of features of the site have been scheduled as Ancient Monuments. These are:

Mona mine windmill:	A111A	Trust PRN: 3497
The Pearl engine house:	A111B	Trust PRN: 3499
The Hillside precipitation pits:	A111C	Trust PRN: 3498
The Great Opencast:	A111D	Trust PRN: 3496

(See Map 2)

Parts of the site have been designated a Geological SSSI; five are in, or are immediately adjacent to, the Great Opencast, and one is situated at Morfa Du (see Map 3).

Seven areas have been notified as Lichenological SSSIs (see Map 4), including the windmill and the Hillside precipitation pits. Operations likely to damage the Special Interest, as specified by the Countryside Council for Wales, include "construction, modification, removal or destruction of roads, tracks, walls (including buildings), fences, hard-stands, banks, ditches or other earthworks", and would require the prior approval of CCW. CCW note "The ruined mine buildings and walls provide further distinctive micro-habitats, such as the copper-rich mortar-filled crevices in which a community characterised by *Psillechia leprosa* occurs."¹









1.6 Historic landscape

The town and port of Amlwch and the Mynydd Parys mines were designated an Historic Landscape HLW (Gw) 1 (one of thirty-six) in the recent non-statutory *Register of Landscapes of Outstanding Historic Interest in Wales*. It is described in this document as "a landscape of considerable industrial archaeological importance and the only internationally important non-ferrous mining site in Wales."² The site has been submitted unsuccessfully for inclusion as a World Heritage Site.

2. AIMS

A report was requested from the Gwynedd Archaeological Trust assessing the importance of all the archaeological remains within the site, ranging from the Prehistoric to the Industrial period.

The basic requirement was for a desk-top study and field-search of the copper, lead and zinc mining and processing areas on Mynydd Parys. The importance and condition of known archaeological remains were to be assessed and new sites identified. Measures to mitigate possible damage to the archaeological resource were to be suggested. Further evaluation was to be carried out at selected sites.

Gwynedd Archaeological Trust's proposals for fulfilling these requirements were as follows:

a) to identify and record the cultural heritage of the area

b) to evaluate the importance of what was identified, both as a cultural landscape and as the individual items which make up that landscape

c) to recommend ways in which damage to the cultural heritage could be minimised.

3. METHODS AND TECHNIQUES

3.1 Desk-top study

Consultation of the mines' archives and other documentary records was carried out in the UWB archives, at Llangefni, Caernarfon and Hawarden Record Offices, and the Manchester Central Reference Library. The Gwynedd Archaeological Trust's Sites and Monuments Record was also consulted. Secondary sources were also consulted - see (4) below. Archive maps were digitised to form overlays, and dxf copies of maps prepared by and on behalf of Anglesey Mining plc were made available to the Gwynedd Archaeological Trust.

3.2 Field Search

The area of the mountain was divided into a number of discrete areas, and field visits were carried out. All upstanding masonry and other structures were noted, as were all shafts, drifts and adits, and all mineral extraction points, together with find-spots of Prehistoric artefacts, but in view of the restrictions of the current project, no attempt was made to differentiate between areas of spoil-tipping. Features thus defined and identified were marked on both the current 1/10,000 ordnance survey map and on the 1900 25" County Series.

3.3 Consultation

Liaison was maintained with the trustees of the Amlwch Industrial Heritage Trust throughout the period within which the report was written; Dr David Jenkins, chairman of the AIHT, gave valuable advice particularly on geology and Prehistoric archaeology, and Bryan Hope, secretary of the AIHT and author of *A Curious Place: The Industrial History of Amlwch* accompanied Trust staff on site visits on a number of occasions, and gave much useful and informative advice.

A number of persons connected with the Welsh Mines Preservation Trust were consulted, including John Bennett, Robert Vernon and Chris Williams. Jeremy Wilkinson generously made his list of bibliographic and archive references available to the Trust.

3.4 Report

The features as defined and identified in the course of **3.2** were alloted a unique number, entered on a database, assessed and allocated to the categories listed below. The database has been appended to the present report as **Appendix 1**, and the numbers which identify them in the present report refer to the database. Each entry is intended to give an idea of the importance of the site, and specific recommendations for further evaluation or mitigatory measures. The criteria used for allocating sites to categories are based on those used by the Secretary of State when considering ancient monuments for scheduling. These are set out in Welsh Office Circular 60/96 Planning and Environment: Archaeology.

3.5 Categories

The following categories were used to define the importance of the archaeological resource:

Category A - Sites of national importance.

Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Listed Buildings and sites worthy of scheduling or listing *i.e.* those which would meet the criteria for scheduling (ancient monuments) or listing (buildings) or both.

Sites which are scheduled or listed have legal protection, and it is recommended that all Category A sites remain preserved and protected *in situ*.

Category B - Sites of regional or county importance.

Sites which would not fulfil the criteria for scheduling or listing, but which are nevertheless of particular importance within the region.

Preservation *in situ* is the preferred option for Category B sites, but if damage or destruction cannot be avoided, appropriate detailed recording might be an acceptable alternative.

Category C - Sites of district or local importance.

Sites which are not of sufficient importance to justify a recommendation for preservation if threatened.

Category C sites nevertheless merit adequate recording in advance of damage or destruction.

Category D - Minor and damaged sites.

Sites which are of minor importance or so badly damaged that too little remains to justify their inclusion in a higher category.

For Category D sites, rapid recording, either in advance or, or during, destruction should be sufficient.

Category E - Sites needing further investigation.

Sites whose importance is as yet undetermined and which will require further work before they can be allocated to categories A-D are temporarily placed in this category, with specific recommendations for further evaluation.

3.6 Definition of Mitigatory Recommendations

Where a feature of archaeological significance is affected, mitigation measures should be instituted in accordance with current policies as recommended in Circular 60/96 for rescue archaeology. The varioius levels of recording are listed below, and appear in the Management field for each of the sites in **Appendix 1** along with other management recommendations.

For the purposes of this report the mitigation and rescue archaeology proposals have been divided into various levels of recording, which can be summarised as:

Level 1: Minimal recording

a. A photographic record of principal external views. The photographs to be dated and indexed. Negatives should be indexed and suitably stored for archive.

b. A brief summary description, related to the photographic record as appropriate.

Level 2: Basic recording

a. A photographic record of all principal elevations and selected features of particular interest. Photographs to be taken, as much as is possible, at right angles to the face of the feature and should include a scale. There should also be a few general photographs to set the site in context.

The photographs to be indexed as for Level 1 and related to a basic site plan which might be taken from a published OS map as appropriate.

b. A simple description of the visible remains relating to the photographic record.

Level 3: Basic recording with survey

As Level 2 recording, but to include:

c. A measured survey of the ground plan of the site or structure at an appropriate scale (1:200 for buildings or 1:500 for larger areas where individual buildings are of no great significance).

Level 4: Full photographic record

a. A photographic record of all external and, if appropriate, internal elevations as well as any features of particular interest. The photographs should be taken, so far as is possible, at right angles to the face of the feature and should include a scale. They should be reproduced at a scale where, for example, individual stones may be identified. Steps should be taken to minimise distortion, (*eg* by use of a shift lens) and achieve a consistent scale. These photographs should be supplemented with general photographs showing the site in its setting and, if composite photographs are necessary to cover a large feature or elevation, then general shots of the feature should be included. The photographs to be indexed as for Level 1, and related to a site plan.

b. A general description and a description of all the principal features.

c. A measured survey of the ground plan of the building or site at an appropriate scale as for Level 3.

Level 5 Full record

This would normally include the full photographic record as decribed for Level 4, but would be supplemented by a measured survey surveyed to no more than a 1% error. The record may be supplemented by elevations and sections, where appropriate, drawn at a scale consistent with the plans. Individual features should also be surveyed and drawn to scale. The full record would include a detailed description, including measurements wherever necessary.

Excavation

Excavation has also been recommended where appropriate.

4. RESULTS OF THE DESK-TOP STUDY

The great bulk of the surviving archival information relating to mining on the mountain is contained in the Plas Newydd Mona Mine papers at UWB. These papers include extensive correspondence, accounts, maps, and lists of disbursements to workers, particularly from the second decade of the nineteenth century to the 1860s, the period dominated by the management of James Treweek, from 1811 to 1852. There is therefore little about the mines' heyday in the eighteenth century, and little about their period of decadence from the 1860s onwards. Even for the period in which there is good documentary coverage, the mine papers are disappointingly vague about the location, construction and function of individual structures, and largely concern only the Mona Mine. The archival evidence is therefore weighted very heavily in favour of the eastern half of the site and for one particular period. Nevertheless, they do contain a great deal of information, and even when they are unspecific, there is much that can be inferred from them.

The Fanning Evans papers, recently bequeathed to UWB, contain archival information relating particularly to the second half of the nineteenth century and the first half of the twentieth, a period when the mines were united under one management. They are extensive, but as yet uncatalogued, and access to them at the time of writing is impossible.

Scattered references to the mines survive in other holdings at UWB, such as Llysdulas and Bangor (General collection).

The Llangefni Record Office's Mona Lodge papers contain many references to the mines, and a number of mine-plans which largely duplicate those in UWB. Other holdings include the diaries of Treweek, the Mona mine manager and other captains, for the years 1835 to 1841, and a number of photographs.

There are a number of published works on the mines. The earliest of these date from the mines' revival in the late eighteenth century, when the vogue for the sublime and the terrible brought travellers to this hitherto remote part of Anglesey. So fearsome was their aspect that they induced even so matter-of-fact a traveller as Thomas Pennant to write of "waters as distasteful as Avernus",³ and the Rev. Mr Bingley, on whom the sublime worked as powerfully as on any, drew a comparison to "the vestibule to Tartarus, described by Vergil."⁴ Others had different reasons for making the trip; the letters of the German industrial spy Augustin Lentin are in the process of being translated at the charge of the AIHT from a copy obtained from the National Museum of Wales, and the author of the present report is engaged on a translation of the article on the mines by Victor-Frère-Jean published in the *Annales des Mines* in 1826, obtained from the University Library, Cambridge. Michael Faraday's account of his visit to Mynydd Parys is brief but useful and forms a chapter of a book recently recently published by Gwasg Gee.⁵

There are extensive references in the *Mining Journal*, copies of which were consulted in the Manchester Central Reference Library; whilst it was not possible to consult the entire run within the scope of the present project, the opportunity was taken to consult those which relate to the later periods of operation, from the 1860s onwards, for which there is little archival evidence in any of the Gwynedd collections. As ever with the *Mining Journal*, the accounts cannot be taken at face value, and reports of the activities of the various companies which tried to re-open the Mynydd Parys mines in this period follow the familiar pattern, beginning with a confident promotion, accompanied by a report on the site by a supposedly independent expert, and an air of mutual back-slapping and goodwill, degenerating over the next few months or years into bad-tempered recrimination, in which anonymous letters in the correspondents' column are loftily and pointedly ignored by managing directors, and shareholders ask inconvenient questions about progress in driving a lode, leading, inevitably, to a debacle in which the company is wound up. Nevertheless, they often contain useful information about the type of machinery in use, or at least promised, and at the least they indicate approximately where work was going on. Even a cursory glance at its pages reveals its indispensability to any study of extractive industries in Britain and indeed world-wide.

The published *Reports of H.M. Inspectors of Mines* in the Manchester Central Reference Library were consulted for the period 1874 to 1896. For the first six years of this period the North Wales district was the responsibility of T. Fanning Evans, an Amlwch man and a son of the mine cashier, who resigned the position to take over the managership of the Mona mine in 1880. This source gives actual, rather than claimed, numbers of workers, but the mines themselves claimed neither life nor limb in this period, possibly due to the small number of workers involved, and the accident reports themselves are not particularly informative.

Archive maps were discovered dating from as early as 1763, when the Modern phase of mining had barely begun. However, not until the first 25" survey in 1887 are they sufficiently accurate to pin-point features precisely.

Secondary histories of the mine may be said to begin with Professor A.H. Dodd, who wrote an article on the mines in the *TAAS* in 1926. Edwin Cockshutt's articles on the mines in the same source, published in 1960, were reprinted in *Archaeologia Cambrensis* in 1965 and include much valuable information. Some of this seems to be corroborated by, and may be derived in part from, the *Mining Journal*, though Cockshutt's research was carried out at a time when it was still possible to tap the memory of the last generation of underground miners at Mynydd Parys. E. Wyn Hughes' account of bygone Anglesey, *Trem yn Ôl*, includes a chapter on the mines and a number of photographs.

An indispensable local account is by Owen Griffith, 1851-1897, who, after a spell in the mine, became a shopkeeper, and published a series of articles in *Cymru* between 1895 and 1897, published as a book, *Mynydd Parys*, at Caernarfon in 1897. As so often, his focus is on local characters and on the growth of religion, rather than on technology, but it nevertheless constitutes an essential source, for

anyone who can make sense of his defiantly demotic Amlwch Welsh.

J.R. Harris's *The Copper King*, published at Liverpool in 1964, is an indispensable account of the life and works of Thomas Williams, *Twm chwarae teg*.

Two particularly valuable secondary sources by locally-based historians are John Rowlands' *Copper Mountain*, published in 1966, which concentrates on the social history of the area, but which does contain much useful material derived from archive sources, and Bryan Hope's *A Curious Place: The Industrial History of Amlwch 1550-1950*, published by Bridge Books, Wrexham in 1994. This is an account of the multiplicity of industries that grew up around the mine and its port as well as of the mine itself. Both are fully researched and comprehensively referenced.

The Gwynedd Archaeological Trust carried out recording work on the Dyffryn Coch precipitation pits in 1995 and on the Pearl engine house in 1996; David Bick carried out a brief archaeological assessment of the site in 1988 on behalf of Anglesey Mining plc.

5. SITE LOCATION AND GEOLOGY

5.1 Topography

Mynydd Parys, known in English as Parys Mountain, is a prominent ridge whose long axis runs north-east to south-west. Two opencasts have been opened on the south-east facing flanks, near to the summit level, the Great Opencast of the Parys Mine and the Hillside Opencast of Mona Mine on the west and east sides respectively of the mountain. The flanks of the mountain are partly covered by the extensive tips from these and the underground workings. The Great Opencast covers an area approximately twice as broad as the other but is shallower.

On the north-western flank of the mountain lies the much smaller Morfa Du Mine, worked in the nineteenth century, and the focus of present operations. The recent Morris shaft was sunk here.

Ochre and precipitation pits are to be found at various points around the mountain; the important Dyffryn Adda pits and furnace lie to the north, and the Dyffryn Coch precipitation systems are situated at the foot of the southern flank of the mountain.

The town of Amlwch includes Porth Amlwch, where ore from the mountain and from other copper mines in North Wales was smelted and shipped. Town and port are connected to the mine by a roadway known as the *Lôn Gopar* ("copper road").

5.2 Geology and mine workings

Before the 1950s geological knowledge was restricted to surface exposure and accessible mine workings. However, between 1955 and 1987, 144 surface boreholes, representing a total length of 46.8 kilometres, were drilled to examine the geology and mode of mineralisation. Further boreholes have also been drilled in recent years from the bottom of the newly sunk Morris Shaft.

The mineralisation occurs within a thin sequence of rocks associated with volcanic events at the margin of an ancient sedimentary basin. The sulphide ores consist of chalcopyrite (copper, iron), sphalerite (zinc) and galena (lead). together with large amounts of pyrite (iron). An ore feature is the "bluestone", comprising an intergrowth of these minerals. The ore minerals were subsequently remobilised, giving rise to a complex ore body, occupying fissures or impregnating the surrounding rock.

Prior to recent discoveries, twelve mineral lodes had been recorded. The lodes on the south-west side are largely bluestone whilst those to the north-east yield mainly pyrite/chalcopyrite.

The Carreg y Doll lode was the most extensive, and was worked predominantly from shafts. It has a range of nearly one mile and although it maintains a thickness of some 20m along much of its length, though it dwindles rapidly to 2m at its eastern extremity and also tends to split up towards its outcrop at Mona Mine.

Several adit levels were driven to dewater the workings. The main one is the Joint Level, which emerges at the Dyffryn Adda adit; this runs northwards from the vicinity of the Carreg y Doll shaft, Parys Mine.

The deepest shaft until the sinking of Morris shaft recently was Gwen, which reaches the 150 fathom level.

The ore reserves which are presently under consideration are predominantly the sulphides of copper, lead, zinc and iron, and are contained within the contact zone of volcanic and sedimentary rocks in the vicinity of Morfa Du Mine.

6. HISTORICAL SUMMARY

6.1 Bronze Age Period

Prehistoric mining on Mynydd Parys was first postulated in 1796, when Christopher Sykes referred to cobblestones and fire-set drift workings, which had already been quarried away by the open-cast workings, but which were still a recent memory. He considered that these workings were pre-Roman.⁶

In 1937 Oliver Davies investigated, with a series of trenches, an ancient tip near the Oxen Quarry on the north side of the mountain near the windmill. Within the tip he found twenty-four stone hammers and some charcoal and other artefacts, which he assigned to the "Old Celtic" or Roman Period.⁷

A subsequent investigation by the Early Mines Research Group in August 1988 located Oliver Davies' original trenches. The Group carried out further trenching and soon found stone hammers and associated flakes. A layer of charcoal gave dates within the range 2000 - 1500 B.C., the Early Bronze Age, some of the earliest dates for Bronze Age mining recorded in Britain.⁸

Other stone hammers have being found during mining operations in the last century.⁹ An underground working dating from the late nineteenth century has recently yielded evidence of pre-Modern workings, in the shape of hammer-stones and an early tip; these may date from the Bronze Age. ¹⁴C dates are expected in the summer of 1998.¹⁰

6.2 Roman period

The tradition that there has been Roman mining on the mountain is itself an old one; it is first recorded on a map of 1764,¹¹ which shows "Roman workings", and clearly the belief was impressed on the mines' many visitors. Thomas Pennant was apparently the first to connect this tradition to the discovery of copper cakes at Llanfaethlu and at Caerhun in Dyffryn Conwy.¹² Since then a total of twenty-seven copper ingots which can be ascribed to the Roman period has been discovered in Wales, eighteen on Anglesey (two on Mynydd Parys itself), six in the former Caernarfonshire and three in Clwyd. None has been discovered in England, and one in Scotland may be a reworking of scrap metal.¹³ They are plano-convex, about 1' in diameter and about $21/_2$ " deep. Analysis has revealed they contain about 98% to 99% copper. The circumstantial evidence for Roman copper working at Mynydd Parys is therefore extremely strong.

6.3 Medieval and Early Modern

No Medieval mining is recorded at Parys Mountain. It was however during this period that the mountain gained its present name, from Robert Parys the Younger who in 1406 was commissioned by Henry IV to collect fines from the Anglesey supporters of Owain Glyn Dwr. He was given the mountain and surrounding lands as a reward for his services.¹⁴

The first indication of mining after the Bronze Age is a map of Traeth Dulas and Amlwch port, annotated in secretary hand, and otherwise also typical of Tudor cartography, which records that the mines lay one mile distant,¹⁵ possibly at Henwaith ("old workings"), exactly a mile from the port, where later documents also suggest early mining may have taken place. Sir John Wynn on several occasions expressed an interest in the Anglesey copper mines. His letters indicate that mining was taking place on Anglesey in the 1570s for in 1607 he refers to "a great mineral work in Anglesey 28 years ago that one Mr Medley had undertaken by boiling a quantity of iron in water. It made Alum and Copperas and transmuted iron into copper."¹⁶ Absalom Francis, the mining engineer, who prepared a report on the Mona Mine in 1880, remarked that in an area "300 fms. to the east of the present workings" shafts and workings dating from the seventeenth century, though reworked forty years previously, were still to be seen - and that further to the east again, and reaching almost to the road, there were traces of ancient mining reaching almost as far "the road, which forms the eastern boundary.¹⁷ 600 yards east of Carreg y Doll lies the dwelling Henwaith where a map of 1764 shows both current and past operations.¹⁸ When the modern phase of operations began in the 1760s, there are references to opening out old works,¹⁹ but no dates are mentioned. However, in 1698 there is a reference to "the prince's mines at Trysglwyn",²⁰ suggesting that some working was going on in this period.

6.4 Modern period 1761-1851

In 1763 Messrs Roe and Co. of Macclesfield were negotiating for a lease of the eastern half of the mountain, the farm of Cerrig y Bleiddiau, the site of the future Mona mine, with Nicholas Bayly, the sole landowner, where work had been going on since about 1761.²¹ In September and October 1762 Sir Nicholas made significant discoveries,²² and a payment is recorded to a Mr Cartwright, the agent, in 1764.²³ Roe and Co. were granted a lease in 1765 and according to legend the discovery which confirmed the mines' future was made on 2 March 1768 by an experienced Derbyshire miner called Jonathan Roose in a shaft sunk at Golden Venture.

In 1770 Bayly had begun mining on Parys Farm, the western half of the mountain, but ran into lawsuits brought by joint owner, the Rev. Edward Hughes of Llysdulas. These were to grumble on for several years, in the course of which Hughes secured the services of the attorney Thomas Williams. By 1774 Hughes and Williams were in partnership to work the western mountain, which came to be known as Parys mine, and with Williams' outstanding commercial skills, soon established offshoots in the form of smelters at Ravenhead in Lancashire and in Swansea, warehouses at London, Birmingham and Liverpool, and works at Holywell in Flintshire, Penclawdd in Glamorgan and Temple Mills in Berkshire.²⁴ For this he came to be known as "the Copper King", though to his workmen on Mynydd Parys he was always *Twm chwarae teg* ("Tom fair play").

This rediscovery of the mine in the late eighteenth century led to Mynydd Parys rapidly becoming the most productive copper mine in the world, resulting in a short-lived boom which was to affect not only the previously rural solitudes of north-east Anglesey but also the copper trade throughout Britain, and beyond, for it was in this period that the industry began to operate on a global scale.

The scale of output from Mynydd Parys represented a serious threat to the established Cornish copper industry, forcing them to mine deeper and obliging them to invest in ever-more sophisticated pumping machinery;²⁵ it enabled Thomas Williams to break the hold of the Swansea smelters on the copper trade, and ultimately to control half of the British industry.²⁶ Between 1773 and 1785 output exceeded 3,000 tons *per annum*.

Messrs Roe and Company departed the Mona mine in 1785, and Bayly's son, Henry Paget, Earl of Uxbridge, decided to work the mine directly, with Thomas Williams as agent, his Lordship having concluded that Williams' entrepreneurial skills more than outweighed the fact that he had represented the Llysdulas interest against his father only eleven years before.

By the early nineteenth century the mines were in decline, but were reorganised in 1811, when Vivian and Sons of the Swansea copper smelting firm became directly involved. Following the death of Thomas Williams in 1802 the Mona mine had come to be owned by Lord Uxbridge and the two surviving Williams brothers; they, in conjunction with the Rev. Edward Hughes, held the Parys mine also. In 1811 the Williams brothers sold their shares to Uxbridge, who set up a company with R.H. Vivian and J.H. Vivian as his partners. The reason for the Vivians' involvement is still a matter for debate; it may have been an attempt to break into the Liverpool market, and it may have been connected to the fact that they were able for a number of years to supply the mines with coal - though the number of furnaces at Porth Amlwch was reduced between 1811 and 1817, and the Vivians withdrew in 1826.²⁷ However, the Mona mines acquired a valuable asset in this period in the person of their new manager, the Cornishman Captain James Treweek.²⁸ Thereafter, in John Rowlands' phrase, the mines which had wrought havoc with the Cornish copper industry only a few years before, became "administratively a Cornish colony".²⁹ Despite all the charges of nepotism that were levelled at him, his managerial and technical expertise, combined with the Vivians' capital, enabled him to restore the mines to some prosperity throughout a period when smelters were increasingly being supplied from Chile and Cuba, later from Michigan, Spain and Australia.³⁰ The Amlwch smelters in this period not only served Mynydd Parys but also ores from Cwm Dyli, Drws y Coed, Llandudno, Sygun and Simdde Dylluan.³¹ Some of these were brought in as fluxes for the smelting process.

By 1833 Treweek controlled most operations, including the precipitation pits jointly operated by the Parys and Mona Companies. His death in 1851 was the end of an era for the mountain.

6.5 1851-1939

Operations from the mid-nineteenth century onwards were on a small scale only. The East Parys Mining Company Ltd was registered on 14 April 1858 but only operated for a couple of years. Hardly more successful was the Parys Mines Company Ltd, registered in 1860, in which the mining consultants, John Taylor and Sons were major shareholders, but their operations seem not to have outlasted the decade.

Parys Mountain Mines Ltd was established in 1870, and seven years later a special resolution was passed by the shareholders to sell the Morfa Du portion of the Company's property to the Morfa Du Mining Company. This latter Company was formed by Robert Oldrey, a principal shareholder in the Parys Company, to work the Morfa Du Mine.

On 24 March 1879 the Parys Copper Corporation Ltd was formed to acquire the business of Parys Mountain Mines Company Ltd. Again Oldrey was a shareholder, but the names of the Watson Brothers, Henry Dean, Charles Parry, all sharedealers, also appear on the list. Company records confirm that various agreements were made concerning discounted prices of share. J. Watson, for example, was one of twenty people in 1879 to receive shares discounted by 50%, instead of the going rate of £1. Much of the work in this later period of mining took place on the Carreg y Doll Lode 90 fathom level. The Company was wound up in 1885 when a special resolution was passed to merge the Parys Mine with Mona and Morfa Du Mines. The new company was to be called Mona and Parys United Mines Ltd. No records are believed to have survived of this new company, which is unlikely to have been floated on the stock exchange.

Elsewhere on and around Parys Mountain, other mines came into being. The East Mona Company was formed in 1860 to work copper at Tyddynmawr, to the south-east of Amlwch. This organisation was to be managed by Captain Tiddy, but seems never to have done any work. The South Parys Copper Mining Company and the North Parys Mining Company were registered in 1863 and 1864 respectively, but neither company appears to have been successful.

The Mona mine was leased on 20 April 1866 for a period of 31 years to Thomas Fanning Evans and John Wynne Paynter. The smelters at Amlwch were still in production, as a document of 1880 indicates that part was in lease to Henry Hills, who was also smelting Parys ores. Bryan Hope also gives an account of the ore being used for the production of sulphuric acid by the same man.³² There are also references in the *Mining Journal* for 1871 to the Mona Mines and Smelting Co. During this period, it seems that the Mona Mine operated as a private company, but in 1880 Mona Mines Ltd appears as a registered company, and once again Robert Oldrey is the principal shareholder. Capital was to be limited to 8,000 shares at £5 each; Oldrey held 1,685. Thomas Fanning Evans, John Wynne Paynter and Hugh Roberts were also principal shareholders, as they were paid for the lease of Mona Mine in shares for

the new company. The Company files give a clear indication of what was owned by the previous unregistered Mona Company, and these include land and a pool (369 acres), Trysglwyn Farm (100 acres), a paint mill at Amlwch, a smelting works at Amlwch Port, quays at Amlwch with bins and warehouses, rights under the Amlwch Harbour Act and plant and machinery on the premises.

Early reports by W. Hughes indicates that this company set to work with a will; a new engine was purchased, and smelting operations continued. Underground operations extended to the south and east and Lemin Shaft was sunk. However in 1885 the Company was wound up.

The Mona and Parys mines were eventually merged when Mona and Parys Mines Ltd was formed in 1899. Thomas Fanning Evans had died by this time, but the lease for the mines was still held by his family who sold it to the company for £22,000 in cash and £23,000 in shares. In the early years of this Company some underground work was carried out, but it seems likely that much of their output was derived from the precipitation of copper and ochre. The centre of operations was probably the ochre works adjacent to the Joint Level adit, as a photograph dated on internal evidence to about the turn of the century shows work going on here.³³

By 1921 a Receiver had been called in but precipitation continued. In 1928 Thomas Fanning Evans II informed Companies House that the Mona and Parys Mines were "now a private concern carried out by myself" and they continued on this basis until 1958, when the last of the precipitation pits were abandoned.³⁴

6.6 Post-World War II

Since the second world war a succession of companies has carried out geological exploration on Parys Mountain.

Between 1955 and 1957, Anglesey Mining Exploration Ltd, a subsidiary of New Consolidated Goldfields, carried out a detailed surface and underground geological survey on the Mona and Morfa Ddu Mines. From 1961 to 1962 exploration was continued by Anglesey Copper Mines (UK) Ltd., a subsidiary of the Irish-Canadian Northgate Exploration Ltd, who carried out further geological mapping and drilled eleven surface boreholes. Canadian Industrial Gas and Oil Ltd (CIGOL) explored the site from 1966 to 1970 with several partners, but despite drilling fifty-two boreholes, no promising reserves were found.

On 16 September 1971, the mineral lease for an area of about five square kilometres was granted to Parys Mountain Mines (UK) Ltd. for a term of ninety-nine years from 25 March 1969. A further eighteen boreholes were drilled between 1971 and 1972 by the Intermine Ltd/Noranda Ltd partnership.

Cominco Ltd, who began work in 1973, were eventually successful. Having initially concentrated exploration on the traditional bluestone areas, they turned their attention northward and by 1978 had made significant discoveries.

The present tenant, Anglesey Mining plc, a subsidiary of the Imperial Metals Corporation of Vancouver, was incorporated in 1984 and floated on the stock exchange in May 1988. They sank a vertical shaft adjacent to the proven ore reserves and drove laterals into it to test the reserves. A small building was erected to carry out milling trials.

Cementation Ltd began the sinking of Morris Shaft (named after Dr Hugh Morris, the Company Chairman) on 11 October 1988. By September 1990 the shaft was down 300 metres and a 280 metre level had been driven north-westward towards the ore reserves. A series of boreholes was also drilled to prove the immediate ore reserves in detail. Having confirmed the reserves, operations were suspended, because of the low value of metal prices on the international markets. Both the shaft site and the mill are at the time of writing (November 1997) out of use, though the drilling of boreholes continues and AMplc have recently acquired land on the site.

7. ARCHAEOLOGICAL SUMMARY

7.1 Extraction sites

(Numbers in brackets refer to the gazetteer of features printed as appendix 2)

7.1.1 Pre-Modern

Evidence of pre-Modern extraction has been discovered at several points. The hammer-stones discovered by Oliver Davies in 1937 lay immediately to the north of the Oxen Quarry, an open working to the north of the main Modern opencasts, and it is possible, as Simon Timberlake suggests, that this was itself a copper-extraction area. There is no evidence of shot-holes in its shallow face, though any copper has long been worked out here, and the quarry possibly used for stone subsequently.

Other hammer-stones have being found during mining operations in the last century,³⁵ and during the course of the present survey. It is possible that other surface sites may also preserve evidence of Bronze-Age extraction, such as the quarry to the south of the mine (333)

More recently, evidence for pre-Modern underground working has been discovered. Access was regained into the Parys incline shaft, an entry not marked on the abandonment plans of 1876, which leads to levels at 10m, 16m and 20m depth. Some lengths contain compressed air piping, which suggests that these were the focus of the abortive re-opening of Parys in the late 1870s and early 1880s. In a chamber at the end of a passage at 16m depth, the roof has been excavated into spoil in older workings above. The spoil is strongly cemented by hydrous iron oxides and contains hammer-stones of fine, hard-grained quartzose rock. Accompanying the cemented spoil are ponded deposits of banded clay containing charcoal fragments and organic debris, including acorns, leaves and fronds. At the other end of the chamber is more recent loose spoil from an infilled shaft, no longer visible at the surface, which also contains hammer-stones and organic debris.³⁶

There are hints in the documentary evidence of other methods of extraction before the Modern period. Thomas Fanning Evans observed in 1878 that copper-rich peat on the southern perimeter of the mines had been burnt and smelted at times in the recent past,³⁷ as at Dolfrwynog near Dolgellau, and in 1826 Victor-Frère-Jean observed that copper found in the turbary had been smelted there, by, he suggested, the Romans.³⁸ A map of 1764 shows a turbary as occupying the site of the later Dyffryn Coch precipitation systems, overlooked by a "mineral well" and "the old washing place" on a site near the present Mona mine yard. These may have been the source of a stream which impregnated the turf downslope, and also have been the focus for Sir John Wynn's experiments in 1607.³⁹

7.1.2 Modern

Within the Modern period, the Mynydd Parys mines were worked by three different methods - in two large opencasts, known as the Great Opencast and the Hillside Opencast, as an underground mine accessed by shafts and drifts, and by precipitation of the waters from the mine at a number of locations.

Opencast working

The two large opencasts are the most visually spectacular features of the whole site, and the Great Opencast is a Scheduled Ancient Monument. Though it is only 30m deep, and the Hillside is 50m deep, the steep sides and the vivid colours give them both an impression of considerable depth. Though the fearsome overhang on the north side of the Great Opencast which was commemorated in a number of early paintings has now been obliterated by gradual collapse of the rock face, both recall the working methods of the eighteenth century.

An account of the first phase of modern operations at the two mines, written in the early nineteenth century, speaks of extraction as being carried out initially by both underground and open workings. "The method in the Old Mine (*Mona*) being to dig pits or shafts wch are said to be 30 yards deep before they come to the bed or rock of ore In the new work (*Parys*) they also use this method but by far the greatest part of their Ore, being nearer the Surface is raised by taking it away, at least a great part of it, by wch they have made a tremendous Chasm."⁴⁰

There are several references to both the opencasts as having come about as a consequence of underground workings being deliberately collapsed.⁴¹ An engraving purporting to show the Mona mine in 1780 shows an open quarry in the face of which seven levels, each large enough to take a horse and cart, have been driven,⁴² and a map of the Mona mine prepared in 1786-8⁴³ marks the Mona mine's share of the Great Opencast as a series of falls.

The Hillside Opencast may have come into being in part by this method. It is possible that the the large opening or "heavy hanging" on its west side known as Gwaith Robin Ellis is a survivor of this eighteenth-century tunnelling technique. The same map of 1786-8 shows the site of the future Hillside Opencast as partly a fall and partly as an area of underground workings accessed by shafts. No less than 144 are marked, of which some were already out of use and had been capped.⁴⁴

The Great Opencast was already of enormous size by the time of the first visual records of the mine, in the 1780s and 1790s, which show deep pits, from which the ore was wound by windlass and horse-gin.⁴⁵ Opencast exploitation of copper ore is a feature of a number of other substantial copper workings elsewhere in the world, such as Stora Koparberg in Sweden, and is a particularly apt method where, as at Mynydd Parys, a particularly wide seam of low grade ore lies at a very slight distance below the surface.

Though it is likely that the opencasts have quarried away very many earlier features, including the alleged Roman workings, traces of other surface workings were observed. To the north of the Hillside Opencast are three parallel cuts, each about 10m deep, orientated south-west to north-east, which appear to contain no evidence for blasting, in the form of shot-holes, and no evidence of mineralisation, but which have yielded neither charcoal for fire-setting nor hammer-stones. These workings may be typical of early Modern practice on the mountain, and perhaps date to the mid-eighteenth century.

Underground working

As well as the open workings, mine-shafts giving access to underground workings are a common feature on Mynydd Parys. These have for the most part been capped with a concrete block, and identified by a unique number cemented into a concrete pillar set into the ground near each shaft-site. Others have been blocked by fallen rubble to within a number of metres of the surface, though the walls of some have collapsed badly, creating an ever-larger crater as the sides continue to degrade. Where it is possible to form an

estimate of their size, most appear small in cross-section, some with ginging visible, others cut straight through bedrock, of a size typical of late-eighteenth and early nineteenth-century workings, making use for the most part of horse-gins and hand-windlasses rather than mechanical prime-movers (see **7.3** below). A number of level adits were also observed.

It is known from the documentary record that the near-exhaustion of the ores accessible by opencasting in the early nineteenth century obliged the managers to revive and extend the practice of underground working, particularly in the area to the north and east of the opencasts. It is likely that most of the surviving shafts date from this period, and in some cases documentary evidence survives for their sinking. Early maps, however, show existing shafts which had already been capped,⁴⁶ and it is possible that shallow shafts from the earliest Modern phase of workings may come to light in the event of ground-disturbance.

Precipitation

Ample archaeological evidence survives of the third method of extraction, precipitation of copper by iron in water, in the form of extensive chequer-board patterns of shallow ponds, some covering many acres, often in conjunction with larger and deeper lakes for the extraction of ochre. Precipitation was a low-cost method which sought to extract the copper ore from waters flowing out of the deep mine or which had been passed through the tips, either as rainwater or deliberately by sparging. Several different accounts have been published of this method, of which the following is perhaps one of the clearest and most detailed:

"The water is raised by means of wooden pumps, and stored in reservoirs specially prepared for its reception. Here it desposits any clay and grit contained, and when clear it is tapped off as required into their precipitation tanks. These tanks are filled with old iron, and the cupreous water is allowed to flow first into the head "pit," and from it continuously flows through a series which is lengthened or shortened as found necessary with the varying strengths of the water passing through. Four times a year the precipitate thus obtained is thus collected. The water is first drawn off, all the iron is then placed upon the "backs" of the wavy bottom, and the copper attached to it is washed away by throwing violently against it by means of scoops the water still remaining in the hollows. This process accomplished, the precipitate is allowed to subside, and the clear water is drawn off by taking out the plugs placed in the middle of each trough. The precipitate is then carried in casks to a pit, where it gradually acquires the consistency of soft mud, and is then taken to a reverberatory furnace where it is dried and made ready for smelting. The water afterwards flows into large reservoirs, some of several acres extent, and there by a natural process deposits a sediment of sub-persulphate of iron, or precipitated yellow ochre. Some thousands of tons of this article are annually sold; it is used largely as a gas-purifying material, and considerable quantities are calcined for the production of the various iron oxide paints and Venetian red. These mineral waters must have issued from the ground for a very long period, for south of the mountain there is an extensive peaty tract, portions of which are cupreous, while others contain so much ochre as to produce an excellent gas purifying material. When the price of copper was so high the cupreous peat was largely burned, and the ashes thus obtained, containing from 2 to 4 per cent. of metallic copper, were smelted with others ores of the mine. The streams of water proceeding from the mine are of a deep port wine colour when first pumped out, they gradually become lighter in colour as they deposit the ochre; when they enter the sea they impart to it a yellow tinge, which sometimes stretches out a mile or more into the channel."47

Whilst there are a great number of separate systems, many appear to run into each other, such as those grouped around the Great Opencast, which all make their way by one means or another to the Dyffryn Coch systems, which formed the subject of a GAT measured survey in 1995. The extensive Hillside precipitation system has been Scheduled as an Ancient Monument.

This system has been practised at a number of copper mines in Europe, particularly at Hern Grundt in Hungary, but is said to have been first adopted in northern Europe at one of the County Wicklow copper mines when a miner left his shovel in the water and found that it attracted copper ore but that the iron itself came to be eaten away. Equally possible is that it was devised at Mynydd Parys and exported to Ireland; after the Macclesfield Copper Company lost the Parys lease in 1785, they took out a lease of Cronebane mine in County Wicklow, and may have taken Parys miners over with them.⁴⁸ In 1791 they took out a lease on Llanberis copper mine, where precipitation was also tried.⁴⁹ The date for its introduction to Mynydd Parys is uncertain, though at the Mona mine it was clearly no later than 1772,⁵⁰ and extensive pits on the south side of the mountain and in Dyffryn Coch, the valley to the south, are marked on both mines on a map of 1784-6.⁵¹ By 1815 the joint level was in operation, which fed precipitation pits at Dyffryn Adda, to the north of the mountain, where a furnace to dry the precipitate had been constructed.⁵² By 1819 the extensive systems on the east of the mountain, known as the Hillside precipitation pits were in existence.⁵³

Whilst the various methods of extracting the ore at Mynydd Parys have their parallels elsewhere in the archaeology of copper mining, they have to be sought far afield. No other copper mine site in Britain made use of opencasting to the same extent as Mona and Parys, and precipitation is only found at a small number of sites, including Hern Grundt, Rio Tinto and the Arklow mining region in Ireland.

7.2 Processing sites

7.2.1 Pre-Modern

Little archaeological evidence has been discovered to shed any light on pre-Modern processing on the mountain. Simon Timberlake records the discovery of a stray find of copper slag at Mynydd Parys (26), but considers that the hammer-stones were used for extraction rather than cobbing.⁵⁴ The discovery of copper ingots at Mynydd Parys itself implies on-site smelting, and the extensive

turbaries which are recorded on early maps would have provided fuel for the process. Ingots are recorded as having been variously stamped SOCIO ROMAE, NATSOL, IVFS and IVL.S.⁵⁵

7.2.2 Modern

There are several detailed accounts of ore-processing at Mynydd Parys, which describe the various stages involved. Whilst archaeological evidence survives *in situ* for some parts of the process of treatment, others have left no visible mark.

Processing of the ore took various forms. The ore was hand-crushed and possibly jigged and buddled on site and some was calcined on site as well. Calcination also took place at the smelter at Porth Amlwch. The preparation of the ore also yielded a number of useful by-products.

Mechanical processing

Faraday describes in 1819 how the ore, once raised from the mine "in large heavy masses .. is then thrown over a stage onto the ground below where it comes into charge of cobbers, principally women and boys. We came up to a large group of these, about 8 or 9 women were sitting on the ground in the midst of heaps of ore of the large and small, their mouths were covered with cloth to keep the dust of the ore from entering with the breath." The boys fetched lumps and the worthless rock was removed by cart.⁵⁶

Evidence for this first stage of the process, in the form of cobbing floors, was observed at a number of points, most notably the badlydamaged but clearly extensive area known as *Iard Charlotte* in the Mona mine. This has been partly quarried away by twentiethcentury reworking for roadstone of the spoil-heaps on which it was constructed. Here the *coparledis* ("copper-ladies") hammered at the ore, and operated jiggers. Until well into the nineteenth century this work was carried on in the open; a correspondent in the *Mining Journal* in 1871 suggested that it would be "a not unwise economy, as well as a philanthropic gesture, if the company were to provide for the showy and picturesque looking girls who work the jiggers a light zinc or galvanised iron roof over their heads".⁵⁷ Owen Griffith's account, written in 1895-7, states that as many as eighty women might work together, housed in a long wooden shed.⁵⁸

Archival evidence suggests these preliminary stages were increasingly being carried out by machines from the 1870s onwards. A crusher, powered by a steam engine, was at work in the Parys mine by 1872,⁵⁹ of which no archaeological evidence was observed, and a building known as the Calciner at Mona mine (263) may have housed a rotary crusher or possibly stamps, but for which, conversely, no documentation has come to light.

Calcining

The best of the ore produced by the first stage of processing was taken to the smelters at Porth Amlwch or elsewhere without further treatment, and the poorer rock or halvans was put through a number of other processes on site before it could be smelted. Buddling was practised in 1770, when payments are recorded to workmen building dams for buddles and to carpenters for building the buddles themselves,⁶⁰ and was revived from 1872,⁶¹ but has left no visible archaeological trace. For most of the mines' modern history the poorer ore was calcined, initially near the sea-shore, but before long at the mines themselves.⁶²

Calcination is a process which removes sulphur from the ore by burning. In the early days of the mines, this meant burning the ore in oblong heaps between 4' and 5' high, which would be set on fire in the same manner as a brick kiln and left to burn for several months, a method little different from those set out in the pages of Agricola's *De Re Metallica* and the *Pirotechnia* of Biringuccio in the sixteenth century.⁶³ In 1770 miners were paid for "cutting of Turff at the Turbary & cutting of Gorse upon the mountain for the burning of copper ore at the Undivided Estate at Paris Mt"⁶⁴ -- in other words, the Mona mine site. The residue would be broken with hammers almost to a powder, then washed. Turf was used in preference to coal in the early stages because substances carried by coastal vessel from one port to another paid a duty, at least until Thomas Williams finally succeeded in persuading Parliament to suspend it in 1786.⁶⁵ The furnaces themselves would be rebuilt every few months.⁶⁶

Though initially the fumes of sulphur dioxide thus released were left to drift away, Roe and Company realised that sulphur (brimstone) could be manufactured from them;⁶⁷ early accounts refer to a horizontal brick chimney over the roasting ore which would feed the sulphur fumes emitted from the ore into a brick arch 40 or 50 yards long and 6' high and wide. The sulphur would be condensed into a fine yellow powder 1' or more deep, then put into furnaces and gently heated into a liquid, drawn off through a cock, cooled to a solid and sold to the chemical industry and to gunpowder manufacturers.⁶⁸

Slightly later eighteenth century accounts suggest that this process was before long being carried out on a more ambitious scale, involving heaps about 35' long, 10' wide and 10' high, held in place by larger pieces of ore, and into which four or five holes were made, in the manner of ash pits. Flues were constructed over the top of these heaps communicating with flues at ground level covered with earth. John Champion, who joined forces with Roe and Company to calcine Mona ore in exchange for the sulphur, used a batch process with large horizontal ovens similar to the original kilns,⁶⁹ and the Mona mine papers record the construction of horizontal kilns, condensers and flues for calcining and sulphur extraction after the departure of Messrs Roe and Company in 1785.⁷⁰ At least five are shown on the plan of 1784-6, ⁷¹ and Dr Lentin's letter of 1800 makes it clear that these were being used at the time of his visit.⁷² Pennant gives a clear description of how the ore was burnt when he came to the mountain:

"For that purpose *[burning]* it is placed between two parallel walls of vast length: some kilns are twenty, others forty, and fifty yards in length; some ten, others twenty feet wide, and above four feet in height. The space between is not only filled, but the ore is piled many feet higher, in a convex form. from end to end: the whole is then covered with flat stones, closely luted with clay; and above is placed a general integument of clay, and small rubbish of the work, in order to prevent any of the fumes from evaporating. Of late some kilns have been constructed with brick arches over the ore, which is found to be the best method of burning. Within these few years, attempts are made to preserve the sulphur from flying away; and that is done by flues, made of brick, whose tops are in form of a Gothic arch, many scores of feet in length: one end of these opens into the beds of copper which are to be burnt. Those beds are set on fire by a very small quantity of coal, for all the rest is affected by its own *phlegiston*. The volatile part is confined, and directed to the flues; in its course the sulphurous particles strike against their roofs, and fall to the bottom in the form of the finest brimstone; which is collected, and carried to adjacent houses, where it is melted into what is called in the shops stone brimstone."⁷⁷³

A number of what appear to be later versions of these kilns survive, though the sulphur chambers are stone-built rather than brick. Four calcining kilns and their related flues and sulphur chambers were noted at Parys mines (4, 6-9, 11-13, 15-17), believed to be for copper ore, and eight at Mona (294-303), believed to be for iron ore, along with other structures on both mines that may also have been connected with calcining (263, 276). The kilns themselves are visible as rounded oval depressions, anything up to 17m long and 6m across, some of which appear to feed into long but barely defined flues and which are associated with sulphur sublimation chambers, visible as parallel stone walls, typically 16m long, 1m high, each 0.8m wide and 0.6m apart. Around the kiln-sites the spoil is a distinctive pinkish colour.

However, it is clear that this was not the only type of kiln to have been used. Another method was adopted on the mine sites themselves and at the smelters at Porth Amlwch. Matthew Boulton in a letter to his son dated 1787 describes a visit to the "Anglesey Copper Mine" where he saw the kilns then in use for calcining the ore - conical brick-built structures from the top of which a flue led to a condensing chamber, where the sulphur was condensed in the form of "Flowers of Brimstone" in a separate chamber, "a large empty space built with brick in the Ground when that is nearly full it is put into a Cast Iron Cylindrical vessel & melted by a gentle heat into a solid form & ladled and poured into Moulds. This Brimstone is sold for the purpose of making Oyl of Vitriol."⁷⁴ The 1788 valuation speaks of "coal calciners and condensers" at Mona worth £1283 2/7d and "Horizontal do." worth £783 13/3d, as well as "cone calciners and condensers" worth £488 14 14/3¹/₂d at the port.⁷⁵ Parys mine had allocated ground immediately to the north and south of the Great Opencast for new calcining kilns in 1815,⁷⁶ and these had been constructed by 1819, apparently of the horizontal variety.⁷⁷ A calciner, valued initially at £100, makes its appearance in 1832,⁷⁸ and payments to calciners are recorded in the Mona mine wages list from when they begin in 1822.⁷⁹ A building at the Mona mine which has traditionally been known as the Calciner (263) bears no similarity to any of the other kilns and appears latterly at least to have housed either stamps or a rotary crusher, but is connected to a lengthy flue which climbs to the top of the nearby outcrop of Carreg y Doll. On the northern part of the Parys mine are a number of flues built into the sides of tips leading to the base of a chimney which may have been part of calcining kilns (47-51).

According to Thomas Fanning Evans, calcining ceased to be carried out on the mountain some years prior to 1878.80

Smelting

Only one modern smelting site has so far been discovered on the mountain, a brick-built structure near the eastern perimeter of the Mona mine (352), from which a lengthy flue (353) runs to the summit of a nearby outcrop. A pile of slag survives nearby. A survey and assessment excavation appears as **Appendix 1** of the present document.

Whilst there may be other smelters as yet unidentified, it appears that the bulk of the smelting was carried out off-site, mostly at Porth Amlwch or at Swansea or elsewhere. A "Smelting hous" was established in 1770 - where is not known - which may not have lasted, as Thomas Williams struck a deal for the ore to be smelted at Ravenhead on the Mersey and at Upper Bank works in Swansea. In 1797 Mona and Parys were making joint use of thirty-one reverberatory furnaces, which may represent the peak of their activity.⁸¹ The Mona mine abstracts of dead capital for the years 1818 to 1837 record between sixteen and eighteen furnaces, valued variously at £90 and £60, at work at any one time. In 1827 ten new furnaces valued at £80 each are recorded as having been fired for the first time,⁸² but the dead stock accounts for the 1860s show by how much things had declined. The "Furnaces, Roasters, Kilns &c" were valued at £1,630 in 1867, but otherwise they only refer to three furnaces at £80 each, as well as the calciners.⁸³

The precipitated copper removed from the precipitation pits needed little treatment beyond drying in specially-constructed furnaces before being taken to the smelters. Several buildings to house these furnaces survive, including one at Dyffryn Adda, in existence by 1815-1819,⁸⁴ which preserves the reverberatory furnace itself, and which appears to have remained in use until perhaps 1958 (387). Others survive roofless and heavily dilapidated. Little documentation survives for them, though one of the mine captains noted in his diary for 1841 that he was trying new furnaces at Dyffryn Coch.⁸⁵ However, the precipitation system resulted in a number of other useful products.

Ochre was extracted from the spent water from the precipitation pits by being agitated whilst still in the final pit, then diverted into large ponds, where it was allowed to stand. It became further oxidised by exposure to air and settled as a fine yellow precipitate. It was redirected several times to different ponds and the ochre was drained before being taken to covered drying floors. It was dried out by coal-fired kilns, and then carted away to be ground off-site. It is unclear whether this process took place in the same furnaces as were used to dry the copper precipitate.

Spent iron sulphurate water was also used to make sulphuric acid, a substance which continued to be called vitriol even after it ceased to be made from green vitriol. A works had been established at Trysglwyn by 1793, when it is noted by Aitken, and it was leased in 1803 to Dr Joshua Parr, a manufacturing chemist from Carmarthenshire, and it is marked in 1815.⁸⁶ The works seems not have functioned in the period 1817-1818, but it is again marked on a map of 1835. The sulphuric acid was used to make pigments and dyes. This site is extremely overgrown, and is only visible as a series of shallow pits and piles of leached spoil.

Mynydd Parys in its Modern phase of operations harked back to methods that had been current in the sixteenth century. There was little mechanisation, and very little use of such common techniques as power-crushing and buddling. Instead the mines relied for over a hundred years on simple low-cost systems, involving hand-cobbing and slow calcination.

7.3 Power systems

7.3.1 Pre-Modern

No evidence is known to survive for pre-Modern power system on the mountain.

7.3.2 Modern

Both the Mona and the Parys mines made consistent use of human and animal power, intermittent use of wind and of steam power, and limited use of water.

Human and animal power

Early illustrations of the mines show windlasses perched on flimsy platforms on the edge of the opencasts, hauling kibbles and sometimes men on hemp ropes. As an example, "Turn Trees Rolls & Stages" worth £17 13/- are recorded at Mona Mine in 1788⁸⁷ and three "hand-whimseys" are recorded at Parys mine in 1815 along the edge of the opencast.⁸⁸ Such devices survived to haul up shafts for many years, but by their nature leave little physical evidence. The one feature on the mountain which shows evidence of having depended on human muscle alone is the capstan pit associated with the Pearl shaft, which would have been used for raising and lowering sections of pump-rods when repairs were being made (123). This feature has recently been restored with grant-aid from Cadw

A number of horse-gin sites were noted in the course of the survey, all of them the "whim-gin" variety, in which the horse circle is to one side of the shaft rather than around it. They are seen most clearly in association with the capped Charlotte shaft (77-78) where it is surrounded by a low bank and with shaft (138-139). No pivot stones survive. Gins were clearly once very common, and were being installed as late as 1880.⁸⁹ They were used not only to raise ore but also to raise water. An account of the Parys mine written in the early nineteenth century, looking back at the period 1753 to 1790, refers to water to be used for precipitation being "work'd up by engine",⁹⁰ a word which at the time is as likely to mean a pump or a horse-gin as a steam engine, and may refer to a shaft at the south-western extremity of the Great Opencast referred to in 1854 as the "water whimsey shaft" or "south engine shaft" (though known colloquially as *twll drwg*, "the bad pit"), from which water was ducted to the Parys precipitation system (212). It is marked on the earliest Parys map, dated 1815.⁹¹ Possibly a gin operated a pump, an unusual arrangement.

At the Mona mine horse-gins raised water in kibbles; the wages abstracts record payments to partnerships for raising water until June 1846 when they cease,⁹² probably as a consequence of installing a steam engine at Carreg y Doll shaft, which first appears in the records the following month.⁹³

Wind power

The Mona mine stock-list of 1788 refers to pumps valued at £22 18/- and "water shafts", presumably a rising main,⁹⁴ which may have been powered by a windmill, since the same source includes a "wind engine" valued at £178 13/-. A windmill - and there may have been several in the late eighteenth century⁹⁵ - is depicted in John "Warwick" Smith's watercolour of 1785, a small tower mill with vertical walls, believed to have been demolished by 1790.⁹⁶ There is an obscure reference to "fixing air machine at New shaft" in 1836,⁹⁷ which may be interpreted as a wind-pump rather than as a fan, but otherwise nothing more is heard of wind-power until 1878, when the Cairns shaft windmill was built.⁹⁸

This impressive feature is the single most prominent landmark on the mountain, and is visible over a considerable distance. It is a stone-built conical tower mill, which measures 8m in diameter across the base and stands approximately 20m high. Uniquely for Anglesey, it was a five-sailed mill; the cap and all the machinery are missing, but it is believed to have contained an upright shaft driven by bevel-gearing from the sail-shaft, which in turn operated 200' of flat-rods by means of a crank in its foot. The flat-rods operated a pump in Cairns' shaft, and were supported on intermediate dolly-posts. The windmill was still operating in 1901.⁹⁹ Its importance as the only surviving pump-windmill in an extractive industry in Britain was recognised by scheduling as an Ancient Monument in 1995.

The earliest attempts to use steam power at the mines seem to be in the latter years of the eighteenth century. A steam engine is believed to have been installed at the Parys mine to wind in about 1790, but to have seen little use owing to the problems of the cupriferous water damaging it.¹⁰⁰ Steam winding engines had only been in use since the early 1780s, so Parys was early in the field.¹⁰¹ Its site may be indicated by the stone retaining wall on the north side of the Great Opencast, where cinders have been found in the grass (216), though it is clear that portable and other steam engines were in operation at Parys mine, possibly hereabouts, in the nineteenth century.

When Thomas Williams petitioned for the duty on coal delivered by coast to be suspended in 1786, ones of his reasons was that by "reason of the increasing depth of the said Mines, and the Situation of the Ore, it will be impossible for the Water to be kept out of them without the help of Fire Engines"¹⁰² - even so, no steam pumping engine was to be installed until well into the next century.

This was the Cornish engine to pump the already existing Pearl shaft, installed in 1819 in a purpose-built engine house, believed to be the the oldest surviving example in Wales,¹⁰³ and Scheduled as an Ancient Monument in 1995. It has recently been consolidated with grant-aid from Cadw. The engine was purchased by the Mona mine from Neath Abbey ironworks in 1819, and installed on the north-eastern perimeter of the site that year, where it replaced a horse-gin.¹⁰⁴ It first worked on 27-30 March 1819.¹⁰⁵ Faraday describes it as "a small steam engine employed to drain one of the workings of the mine … good and preserved in very neat order within the house, the outdoor parts were of timber" but adds:

"The miners found themselves at first very much embarrassed in working this engine in consequence of the peculiar nature of the waters in this neighbourhood. For being a solution of sulphate of copper they acted on the cylinder and other iron parts of the engine rapidly corroding them and rendering the whole useless. Now they very carefully collect the waters from the higher parts of the mountain where they are more free from sulphate of copper, and they neutralise what portion of that salt may be in them with the acid also that they contain by lime and they also preserve the condensed water and cooling it in reservoirs they use it again."¹⁰⁶

Effective though lime, and chalk, which they had also been using, may have been, it was not long before Treweek was on the lookout for cheaper ways of neutralising the acidity of the water, as they were costly and could not be recycled.¹⁰⁷ This engine powered a lifting pump and a forcing pump in a 360' shaft.¹⁰⁸ The original pumps were of iron, for which wooden pumps with brass moving parts had to be quickly substituted.¹⁰⁹

A French visitor of 1826 appears to be referring to this machine when he describes the mine as dewatered by *"une seule machine à feu, de la force de 6 chevaux, placée à quelque distance de la grande ouverture."* ¹¹⁰ How long it remained in use is doubtful, for the Mona mine wages lists, which survive from 1822 onwards, consistently refer to the steam engine department until 1829, and the accounts refer to men working on the steam engine until March of that year,¹¹¹ suggesting it was taken out of use then, and a curious reference of 1819 suggests that the engine was only intended to work for ten years.¹¹² By 1833 the abstracts of dead capital refer to it as "old steam engine", possibly to distinguish it from a new arrival.¹¹³ In 1853 a 24" engine was bought from the Perran Foundry through Messrs Messrs Hocking and Loam of Redruth, consulting engineers, for a total of £632 and installed in the Pearl engine house,¹¹⁴ but it was not long before it needed attention, for the spring beams were observed to be rotten in 1857 and had to be replaced.¹¹⁵ It was still at work "in an efficient manner" in 1880.¹¹⁶ Though commonly referred to as the "pearl engine", Owen Griffith calls it "ingian Cerrig y Bleiddiau.^{"117} It was valued at between £820 and £750 between 1865 and 1870,¹¹⁸ suggesting that Hocking and Loam only supplied some parts of the machine, and that a number of components remained from the previous engine.

To the south of this feature is a heavily dilapidated and overgrown structure (140) which may also have been an engine house, and which lines up with a row of substantial pillars (131) leading to a pump-shaft (127).¹¹⁹

Another steam engine arrived in, or by, 1834, evidently a small affair, for it was valued at no more than £425.¹²⁰ What function it served is not clear, but there is a reference to steam power in a mine captain's diary for 1836 ("at Port saw Mr Treweek there Mr Scott, & Harrison & R.M. Jones about Steam Engines")¹²¹ and there are scattered references to "engines" in a mine captain's diary for 1841, in contexts that suggest that these were not all of them necessarily pumps - one of them, for instance, suffered a broken crank (so clearly a rotative engine), and another had to have water carted to it. A "surface engine", an "underground engine" and an engine in the opencast are noted in 1841,¹²² suggesting that there had been more than one arrival in the 1830s. The "surface engine" may have powered an uphaulage incline from the opencast.

The overgrown remains of a small engine-house (242) for pumping the Carreg y Doll shaft at the Mona Mine (241) probably date from July 1846 when workmen were paid for carting water to the engine,¹²³ which was valued at £250 in the 1860s. In 1860 the unfortunate Captain Tiddy took refuge in the engine house from the workmen during a strike meeting, only to find that the engine's wheels broke loose and shattered over him whilst the building shook to its foundations.¹²⁴ The engine here was patched up and supplied with a new boiler in May 1865, but the want of a powerful unit was still felt.¹²⁵ The Carreg y Doll shaft at the Parys mine also acquired a steam engine for winding at some stage; a photograph shows corrugated iron buildings and a timber headframe here.¹²⁶

A steam winding engine at Mona mine's "New Shaft" (Cairns) is recorded in the period 1865-1870, valued at £260.¹²⁷ Pumping this shaft was carried out by the windmill, once it had become clear that the Carreg y Doll engine was not capable of dewatering this part of the mine by itself, but the need of a more powerful engine was felt, and a pumping engine came to be erected at the head of

the Cairns' shaft. Its site is marked by a substantial stone base and twisted holding-down bolts; it is possible on the evidence of the site that the engine itself was a differential compound, such as were frequently advertised in the *Mining Journal* at this time. The engine was manufactured by the Sandycroft foundry on the river Dee, and first steamed on 8 December 1880; it took the labour of seventeen horses to drag the boiler to the top of the hill.¹²⁸

The inclined plane out of the Hillside opencast had a steam engine by 1852,¹²⁹ valued at no more than £50 to £30 in the 1860s stock accounts, suggesting that it had been there in 1841 for the Captain to refer to in his diary. In 1889 a "new engine" is noted at the summit of the plane from the Hillside.¹³⁰ The possible site of such a machine was noted in the course of the present assessment, (258) but the incline itself appears to have degraded.

Absalom Francis, in his report on the mine in 1880, refers to a 16" winding engine "which draws from three main shafts by means of a vertical drum"¹³¹ which Cockshutt appears to gloss as the Calciner engine, operating Black Rock (260), Tiddy Newydd (134?) and Job (236) shafts, as well as the Calciner shaft itself (266).¹³² It is possible that this engine also powered whatever machinery was installed in the calciner itself (263), though the suggestion that it bored wooden pipes and drums is not borne out by the archival evidence, which suggests that this was done by the Cairns' shaft winder.¹³³

At Parys mine the first steam engine after the unsuccessful Boulton and Watt winder was *Ingian yr Open Cast Mawr*, which, as its name suggests, was situated in the great open cast, and which operated a pump-shaft. This machine was in existence by the 1850s, when it is shown in a water-colour by the mines inspector Warrington Smythe.¹³⁴

A pumping-engine was installed on the Morfa Du shaft in 1872-3.135

One other heat engine used on the mountain was a gas suction engine at Ty Main which drew water out of the Dyffryn Coch precipitation system through an enclosed pipe (349) across the Hillside area to sparge the head of the tips near the Cairn's shaft.¹³⁶

Some use was made of compressed air. The Sandycroft foundry quoted Parys mine for a compressor "to be attached to the back of our engine" in 1878.¹³⁷ A feature at the mouth of the Parys mine drift (2) has been identified as a possible compressor-house, and archival references make it clear that a Dunne's boring machine was in use in 1881.¹³⁸

Water power

Very little use was observed to have been made of water-powered machinery. The one water-wheel associated with the mines, (111) at Tal Dyffryn, appears to be marked on the map of 1815-1819, and a painting¹³⁹ of the house shows that it operated a pump shaft (112) by means of flatrods and angle-bobs. Absalom Francis' report states that it was used to pump water to the steam engines.¹⁴⁰

A "water engine with appurtenances" is noted at the mines in the period 1865 to 1870,¹⁴¹ probably a water-pressure engine to pump lower levels, since it is unlikely at that stage that a pump would be called anything other than a pump. No evidence was observed of this feature, but it is possible that it was situated underground

The location, topography and, unusually, even the geology, of Mynydd Parys were determinants of the power systems used. Its exposed situation encouraged the use of wind-power, and the problems of arranging a fresh water supply discouraged the use of steam. However, its hill-top location ruled out extensive use of hydraulic power, such as was a feature of most other metalliferous mines in Wales, and the mines were forced to use steam winders and pumping engines once the task became too arduous for horse-gin and windlasses.

7.4 Transport systems

7.4.1 Pre-Modern

No evidence was observed for pre-Modern transport within the study area.

7.4.2 Modern

The ore is recorded as having been moved by hand, by barrow, by cart and by internal narrow gauge railway.

Early paintings show wheelbarrows being used in the opencast, and Owen Griffith quotes Llew Llwyfo (Lewis William Lewis, the future novelist and impresario) in his old age remembering how as a a boy he would wheel a box-barrow down to the assay office.¹⁴² It is also clear from the substantial roadways that connect the different parts of the mines that many internal movements were carried out by cart,¹⁴³ and throughout its modern history the mine made use of horses and carts to transport ore to Porth Amlwch as well as for back-carriage of coal, bricks and other necessaries. Previously, in the 1760s, Roe and Company were paying miners 3d a bag of ore delivered at the port;¹⁴⁴ but after they left, the Mona mine built a road to the port in 1788.¹⁴⁵ This is the *Lôn gopar*, (118), a remarkable example of an eighteenth-century industrial road, described after it had been in use for thirty years as "a very dusty, dirty road for when bad it is mended with slag and as there are always 12 or 14 carts moving backwards and forwards on it these materials are soon ground into black and disagreeable powder."¹⁴⁶ From perhaps 1811 onwards William Hughes of Madyn Dysw

near Amlwch held a monopoly of carting for them, whilst Parys Mine, which built its own road at an uncertain date, relied on a number of local farmers.¹⁴⁷

A proposal to construct a railway from both mines went as far as commissioning C.B. Vignoles, the distinguished civil engineer, to survey a route to the port, and a short length of railway, including an incline powered by a steam engine, was, as noted above, in existence between the port and the smelters by 1834.¹⁴⁸ This was 2' 6" gauge, and the rails survived on the quay until recently.¹⁴⁹ Though work began on the link to the mines themselves, and the plan was still being discussed as late as 1863,¹⁵⁰ the ore continued to be carried by cart for as long as mining lasted.

Internal railways were on a small-scale; Faraday, writing in 1819, remarks "There are no trams used on these roads or in the mines in consequence of the corrosive effects which the waters from the workings would have on them and which would destroy them in a short time."¹⁵¹ By September 1827, however, a number of the Parys mine tributers were making use of short lengths of railway, almost certainly unconnected to each other.¹⁵² This may reflect the fact that the previous month the mine had purchased nearly two miles' worth of cast-iron plate rails at the bargain price of £4 a ton second-hand from the Nantlle Railway,¹⁵³ but it is equally possible that the plates were purchased as scrap for the precipitation pits or to build a railway to the port, though Vignoles had strongly recommended wrought-iron edge rails A photograph published in *Trem yn Ôl* shows lengths of bridge rail at the head of the Parys mine Carreg y Doll shaft,¹⁵⁴ and a chair discovered on site for bar-rail is in possession of the AIHT.¹⁵⁵ An incline plane from the Great Opencast was in existence by the 1850s, and one from the Hillside by 1852.¹⁵⁶ A map of 1889 marks a "new engine" at the summit of a plane from the Hillside. In a number of places, such as south of the Charlotte shaft and at the summit of the Great Opencast incline, tips appear to have grown in a way that suggests the use of railed wagons, possibly side-tipping.

Mynydd Parys was therefore unusual by the standards of most industrial undertakings of the Modern period in making very little use of railed transport, and in depending to a great extent on road vehicles.

7.5 Ancillary structures

7.5.1 Pre-Modern

No evidence was observed for pre-Modern ancillary structures.

7.5.2. Modern

Ancillary structures connected with both the Parys and the Mona mine survive at various locations. Very little remains of the Parys mine yard (217), which is shown on the 1815 map,¹⁵⁷ and rather more of the Mona Mine yard (322) in 1786, when it is described as "New Yard".¹⁵⁸ Both are quadrangular arrangements with a cart-entrance in one wall. The Mona yard was described by Owen Griffith in 1897 as containing a smithy, lime-store, wagon shed, furnace, carpenter's shops, assay office, stables, a turnery shed for producing the wooden piping and a place for the bier. He records that at the turn of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries the then mine manager took it into his head to demolish the chapel at Rhos y Bol, and that the pulpit found its way to the Mona mine yard loft.¹⁵⁹ Whilst the variety of buildings is typical of a large metalliferous mine, the enclosed yard is unusual.

In common with any sizeable mine, Mynydd Parys had a number of smithies. The main Mona smithy (202) lay near the eastern limit of the Great Opencast, and it was this which Owen Griffith describes as the scene of the mine's regular preaching meetings.¹⁶⁰ A smithy is marked on or near this site as early as 1786, as well as "Sir Nick's smithy" near the Parys boundary, and a smithy which lay perilously close to a fresh collapse.¹⁶¹ A valuation of Mona mine in 1788 refers only to the "upper smithy", possibly because the lower smithy had collapsed or prudently been demolished in the interim, and its functions already transferred to the New Yard. The assay office was also threatened by a collapse in this period. The Brimstone yard (*Iard brwmstan*) (69) is marked on the Parys mine map of 1815;¹⁶² its site is heavily overgrown and little can be made out of the arrangments which prevailed here.

7.6. Domestic buildings

7.6.1 Pre-Modern

No evidence was observed for pre-Modern settlement associated with the study area.

7.6.2 Modern

"Cabins" valued at £23 17/- are noted on the 1788 Mona mine valuation, which may be represented by the perspective drawings of two room dwellings on the 1786-8 map. One of the falls is described as "back of Mr Roose's house", either the dwelling of Jonathan Roose who "first yon mountain's wondrous riches found"¹⁶³ or of one of the prosperous dynasty he established, implying that workers of several different grades built dwellings in an *ad-hoc* fashion on the mountain.¹⁶⁴ However, none is marked on the Parys map of 1815.

Some domestic structures are noted in the nineteenth century at various locations within the Mona mine. In Dyffryn Coch there stood the remains of ty Cadi Rondol, "Catherine Randles's house", a famous local character converted from a life of sin by John Elias

himself, and next to it the house of the steward who looked after the precipitation pits.¹⁶⁵ The dwelling Fron Heulog (colloquially Ty Main) was the home of the man responsible for the gas engine.¹⁶⁶

7.7. Commemorative features

7.7.1 Pre-Modern

No commemorative, ceremonial or ritual features appear to be associated with the site before the Modern period.

7.7.2 Modern

A number of rock-cannon are believed to have been drilled on Mynydd Parys, to celebrate the coronation of King George IV in 1821, when the newspaper report notes "We are happy to have to add, that the whole passed off without any serious accident; two men were scorched in their faces with Gunpowder, rather badly, but not so as to endanger the sight of either of them", and the occasion was also marked by cutting the first sod of the Coronation shaft;¹⁶⁷ these cannon or others were fired in December of that year to celebrate the birth of a son and heir to Colonel Hughes.¹⁶⁸ However, no example of these distinctive regional features has so far been located. The coronation of King William was celebrated by a feast in the Oxen quarry, attended by 1,400, at which "a moderate but sufficient allowance of ale to prevent all excesses" was offered.¹⁶⁹

7.8 Conclusions

The Mynydd Parys copper mines constitute an archaeological resource of the utmost importance not only within a British archaeological context but internationally. Their scale and the impact they made on the world copper industry establish their significance.

Recent evidence makes it clear that this site was worked on both the surface and underground in the early Bronze age; whilst it is probable that most workings from this period will have been quarried away, it is possible that some of the presently-flooded shallower levels from the Modern period may have broken in on Prehistoric workings.

The evidence for early mining within the Historic period is strong. Whilst the distribution of ingots does not suggest that the mines were being worked on an extensive scale in the Roman period, there is ample circumstantial evidence for their exploitation in this period. No archaeological evidence has so far confirmed the persistent traditions and documentary evidence of mining in the Late Medieval-Early Modern period, but it is clear that the mines were active at several periods from Prehistory to the 1760s cannot be sustained.

In terms of its Modern archaeology, it is clear that Mynydd Parys was one of the focal points of an industry dominated by a particular mining area at any one time, and that its remains therefore need to be understood within the context of archaeology of copper-mining world-wide. However, despite its size, it has left comparatively few substantial masonry structures other than the Pearl engine house and the windmill, unlike, for instance, a number of considerable smaller metalliferous mines, where crushing plant, kilns and smelters or engine houses are often on a much larger scale. Clearly its nineteenth century managers were wise enough to adapt to local conditions, rather than heedlessly import the techniques and technology they had learnt in Cornwall and elsewhere. In this respect the mountain is *sui generis;* whilst many features on Mynydd Parys have been destroyed, the comparative paucity of large-scale buildings reflects a number of factors -- the ease with which the ore could be won, its susceptibility to processing by simple means, and the fact that smelting was for the most part not carried out on site but at Amlwch and elsewhere.

Whilst clearly many individual features are of considerable importance in their own right, it is their interrelationship as components of an historic landscape that makes Mynydd Parys a site of the utmost archaeological significance. Furthermore, this landscape extends beyond the mountain itself, to include the town and port of Amlwch.

8. MANAGEMENT

Mynydd Parys constitutes an outstanding archaeological landscape, and contains a multiplicity of features, some of outstanding importance in their own rights as well as components of the whole. Its future is a matter of concern to a number of organisations, including the Amlwch Industrial Heritage Trust, as well as other conservation bodies.

However, any attempt to conserve the mountain's archaeological heritage needs also to take account of the statutory protection afforded to mineralogical and lichenological features and areas, as well as of the possible future needs of modern mining in an area of high unemployment. The fact that the mountain is easy of access means that it is a frequent place of resort for parties of students, for amateur groups of various sorts, interested individuals and families out for a walk. While this has maintained public awareness of the site, it also means that vandalism, motor-bike scrambling and unauthorised dumping each constitute a problem. In addition, even though the known shafts have been capped, there is every possibility that others may open up.

The topography of the mountain, however, makes it ideally suited to the creation of footpath trails, such as have been proposed by the AIHT, which would have the added benefit of encouraging visitors in particular directions and away from areas of possible collapse or danger. Certain features have therefore been highlighted in Appendix 2 for their suitablility for inclusion in particular trails.

8.1 Detailed survey

A number of features on the mountain are undiagnostic, and detailed survey would enhance understanding of how the mines functioned. The following list enumeratures those considered a priority for detailed survey; the management recommendations in the site gazetteer also indicate other features where a detailed survey is appropriate.

1. Further excavation should take place at the Mona mine smelter site (352 -see **Appendix 1**). Analysis of the various slags and other debris would add to an understanding of this feature.

2. The Dyffryn Adda furnace (387) is the only building directly connected with the mine to stand largely intact and roofed. It should be recorded by measured survey, together with its associated buildings. It is, however, at risk from vandalism, and would need to be cleared and made secure before work could begin.

3. The building known as the calciner (263) is a substantial upstanding structure, yet its function remains obscure. Whilst the existence of a long zig-zag flue from it to the summit of Carreg y Doll suggests that it was indeed a calciner, it is radically different in plan to the open calcining kilns with their sublimation chambers. Furthermore, there is trace of a water-feed system to and from the building and traces of copper-dust spatter on the walls, suggesting that it housed crushing plant of some description. It is therefore recommended as a priority that this feature be recorded by measured survey.

4. Whilst the function and basic structure of the calcining kiln sites and their associated sublimation chambers is known, the details of the process remain little understood. It is therefore proposed that a contour-survey of a selected group of sites (4, 6-13, 15-16) be carried out, together with chemical analysis of the waste.

8.2 Outstanding archaeological importance

The following features are considered to be of outstanding archaeological importance.

1. The Mona Mine kilns and their associated sulphur sublimation chambers (4, 6-13, 15-16), as the better-preserved examples of a type of processing-technology which lasted at Mynydd Parys well into the second half of the nineteenth century.

2. The Dyffryn Adda kiln (387) and its associated features (weighbridge, cottage [388]) as a unique surviving example of a furnace associated with the precipitation process.

3. The capstan pit associated with the Pearl engine house (123), as an integral part of the mechanisms connected with the earliest surviving beam-engine house in Wales. This has recently been consolidated with aid from Cadw.

4. The *Lôn Gopar* (118), the Mona Mine road from the near the Pearl engine house area towards the port up to the point where it joins the A5025 into Amlwch. It remains partly in use for access to Henwaith and other dwellings. It is a rare survivor of an eighteenth century industrial road, constructed at a time when most large-scale extractive industries were moving over to rail transport. It still retains part of its metalling,

8.3 Conservation

1. The Dyffryn Adda furnace building (387) needs to be secured as well as assessed for less obvious structural flaws. It and its associated structures therefore represent an urgent conservation priority.

2. Conservation work has already been carried out at the Pearl engine house (122), and on the capstan pit (123). This feature is an integral part of the whole, and it is suggested that the boundaries of the Scheduled Area be extended to include it. The boiler house (121) has recently been cleared of vegetation by the Welsh Mines Preservation Trust. A future conservation priority is the re-erection of the chimney.

8.4 Reconstruction

Consideration might be given to the reconstruction of a small number of replica features, such as a horse-gin and a precipitation pit.

8.5 Further study

A number of thematic studies are suggested:

1. Whilst it is now clear that there is evidence for Early mining at Mynydd Parys, both on the surface and underground, and 14C dating has confirmed early Bronze Age activity, little is known about its extent. Archaeological evidence for mining between the Roman period and 1760 is particularly lacking, though the present study has confirmed that documentary evidence exists. Identification of hammer-stone find-spots and dating of charcoal and slags will yield evidence for the extent and period of early mining. In particular, the area to the east of the mine, between Henwaith and Pen y Sarn, might repay investigation. Spoil mapping is an essential part of any future work programme on the mountain, in that spoil-tips constitute the most tangible remains of mining of any period, and can sometimes be typologically dated. Their stratigraphy can reveal sequential operations that may relate to activity other than the physical removal of the ore-body. This could not be undertaken within the scope of the present study.

2. The modern archaeology of Mynydd Parys is still in many respects little understood. Further assessment, in particular taking into account the relationship between surface and underground features, is necessary in order to develop a fuller understanding of the mines' evolution.

3. The bibliography which forms part of the present document (see **9**. below) attempts to set down all known sources for the study of the mines and their locations, rather than to record sources consulted in the course of the present study. The Amlwch Industrial Heritage Trust is in process of starting an archival collection of its own, and the acquisition or purchase of photocopies or originals of these sources would add immeasurably to an understanding of the mines, as well as of the port and town on Amlwch. Editions of some documents might be published either as an occasional series or in one or other of the relevant academic journals.

4. The Modern archaeology of Mynydd Parys has an important regional dimension, yet it must also be placed within a broader context. Firstly, it has to be placed within the history of copper-mining and -processing throughout Wales, especially in its relation to the Swansea smelters. In addition, it needs to be considered in the context of sites in England and Ireland. As well as the important Cornish industry, the mines of County Wicklow form an instructive contrast, not only because of the historical links between them (as well as between the port of Arklow and the port of Amlwch) but also in view of recent proposals to conserve some of the Wicklow mine sites. Thirdly, it needs to be considered in relation to the other substantial copper-mine sites world-wide, particularly those which came into being, or which were expanded, in the Early Modern period. Any opportunity, therefore, for creating institutional contacts with academic, statutory or voluntary organisations should be welcomed.



1 The Dyffryn Adda furnace (feature no. 387) was constructed in the early years of the nineteenth century for drying the copper precipitate from the Joint Level which drained both the Parys and the Mona mines. It remained in use until 1958, when the precipitation system was finally abandoned. Its situation near the Amlwch to Llanerchymedd road makes it an easy target for vandals.



2 The interior of the Dyffryn Adda furnace (feature no. 387) showing the reverberatory furnace and the upstanding cast iron beams which hold it in place. The degree of recent damage to the furnace is apparent in this photograph.



3 The Mona Mine windmill (feature no. 74) was constructed in 1878, and operated a pump by means of 200 feet of flat-rods. It was supplemented from 1880 by a steam engine. Uniquely for Anglesey, it was a five sail mill, and is believed to be the only surviving mine pump windmill in Britain. It is a Scheduled Ancient Monument.



4 The Mona Mine, looking west. In the foreground stand the remains of the magazine (feature no. 293) and beyond a number of the sulphur calcination kilns and their associated stone-built flues (feature nos. 300-303). The distinctive pinkish spoil is a sign of calcination having been carried out.



5 The Pearl engine house of 1818/19 (feature no. 122) is a Scheduled Ancient Monument -



6 - but the associated capstan pit (feature no. 123) does not fall within the scheduled area.
9. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Trust wishes to acknowledge Cadw: Welsh Historic Monuments and the Amlwch Industrial Heritage Trust for their role in jointly funding this project. Thanks are particularly due to Dr Peter Wakelin of Cadw for his advice, and Dr David Jenkins, David Wagstaffe and Bryan Hope of the Amlwch Industrial Heritage Trust, without whom this report would have been much less full and comprehensive. Anne Hope also made available her own notes and conclusions about a number of features on the mountain, which helped to amplify the present document.

Thanks are due to the librarians and archivists of the various research collections consulted in the course of the project, in particular to Tomos Roberts of UWB who went out of his way to look for documents that could not initially be located. The help of the Llangefni Record Office staff is also gratefully acknowledged, as is the contribution made towards the project by staff at Caernarfon, the Manchester Central Library and the Hawarden Record Office. Michael Lewis, David Bick, John Bennett, Robert Vernon and Chris Williams have all given valuable help and advice,

The assistance of Chris Jones, a student at UWB on placement to the Gwynedd Archaeological Trust for the autumn semester, is gratefully acknowledged. Elements of Mr Jones's own study, of power sources and transmission systems on the mountain, have been incorporated in the present report, in accordance with the workplace module, and very many of the conclusions reached are the result of discussion with him, either on site or in libraries.

Griff Jones passed on to GAT his references to the firing of rock cannon on the mountain in advance of the publication of his forthcoming book on the subject, and Jeremy Wilkinson made available a copy of his bibliography of the mine sites, which forms the basis of the bibliography of the present document.

Thanks are owed to Anglesey Mining plc, and in particular to Ian Cuthbertson for his help in arranging access, in locating documents and for his advice and support throughout.

10 GLOSSARY OF TERMS USED AT MYNYDD PARYS

Argïa: from argaeau; the walls between the precipitation pits.

Assay: the product in metal of one ounce of ore, or the process of knowing the product of metal or mineral

Captain: an overseer or mine manager. Captain Treweek had several assistant Captains at Mynydd Parys.

Coparledi (pl. coparledis): a woman who hand-crushed the ore at Mynydd Parys

Chwimsi (pl: *chwimsis*): horse-whim; from the English "whimsey", q.v.

Engine: defined by *Mineralogia Cornubiensis* as "A machine to unwater mines. Those which are worked by water are termed water engines. Others which perform their office by fire are fire-engines. There are other sorts called horse-engines." Also the pump itself.

Fflodiard (pl. fflodiardau): floodgate or sluice in a precipitation pit.

Gillwng: to drop (a kibble).

Halvaner: one who works in a halvans, q.v.

Halvans: the poorer ore; by extension an ore-dressing area, where dressers were permitted to retain part of the processed ore.

Lôn gopar: "copper road"; the road from Mynydd Parys to Amlwch; also known as Lôn melyn ("yellow road") and Lôn menyn ("butter road")

Mwn: ore, mine

Pwll haearn (pl. pyllau heyrn): precipitation pit, literally 'iron pit'.

Stem: a miner's shift, traditionally six hours.

Tutwork: work undertaken for a fixed price; generally development work such as sinking shafts.

Tyntri (pl. tyntris): hand-windlass; from the English "turntree".

Whimsey: a horse-engine for uphaulage. Also known as as a gin or whim.

11 BIBLIOGRAPHY

11.1 Manuscript and archival sources

11.1.1 NLW:

MS2258C (Sykes visit) MS9071E Additional MSS 462, 465E Minor Deposit 1034A Rumsey Williams papers 1933 Wynn papers 460, 461, 470, 471 Church in Wales - Bangor v.III 578, 643 Owen Parry papers Vivian papers E5 & E9, E56-58, p. 547

11.1.2 UWB:

Bangor

405 (settlement sheets, smelting reports, 1863-1869, 1871)
406 (*HM Inspector of Mines Reports*)
578-582 (Amlwch corn factors' papers)
872-877 (Amlwch vestry books)
878-879 (Amlwch District Highways Board)
880 (Mona Mine leases)
902 (Llaneilian vestry book)
1516 (payments to workmen and widows)
15365 (Parys mine copper accounts, 1782-1793)
15366 (Mona mine copper accounts, 1786-1793)
23807 (agreement for lease of Mona mine, 1865)
23866 (copy map and reference schedule, 1815)
23990 (copy of water-colour by John "Warwick" Smith)
3010-3032 (Mona mine papers, 1787-1865)

Baron Hill

6418-6448 (Parys mine balance sheets, 1853, 1859)

Fanning Evans

(as yet uncatalogued)

Kinmel

1807-9 (action in chancery, 1769-1776)

Llysdulas

77 (lease of moiety of Parys mine, 1838)

Plas Coch II

3904 (prospectus, minutes and reports of Anglesey Mining Company, 1836-1841)

Plas Newydd Mona Mine Papers

passim

Plas Newydd Series 1-VII

2602-2652 (occasional references to Mona Mine)

Plas Newydd Series VIII

4955-58 (leases, *etc.*)
4959-4972 (correspondence concerning the mine)
4973-4974 (cheques and receipts)
4975-4976 (bundles of accounts)
4977 (duplicate book of receipts)
5571 (plan of proposed ochre works)

Porth yr Aur

30632-30636 (occasional references)

Sale Catalogue

1 (Mona Mine Company, 1812)

11.1.3 Llangefni Record Office

WD

AP1: account book, eighteenth century AP2: letter AP3: cost analysis of Parys mine, 1827 C24-27: mine captains' diaries

Mona Lodge Papers

1-30 (accounts and bargain sheets)
31-41 (court case and depositions, Roe & Co. v. Earl of Uxbridge)
42-318 (letters re mines and shipping)
536-551 (misc. business papers)
580-663 (recepts, mines and shipping)
815-845 (misc. references)

WM

483

11.1.4 Caernarfon Record Office

XM

55/25 8667/2 9054

XS

1608/3/2, 5-18

Poole Mss

921	
3305	
3309	
3654	
3663	
3893	
4173	
4639	

D/DM/279/1 (correspondence with Sandycroft foundry)

11.1.6 Stafford Record Office

D/603/N/1/2 D/603/N/2/128 D/603/K/28/8/4

11.1.7 Public Record Office, Kew

BT31

461/1778 1559/5047 2506/12923 2378/11788 2600/13702 16117/60279 23358/144527

BT41

537/2948

11.1.8 Cardiff Public Library

An Answer to the case of the Proprietors of the Anglesea copper and lead mines

Cymdeithas Mwnglawdd Môn: Rheolau (Enoch Jones, Llanerchymedd, 1823)

11.1.9 University of Wales, Swansey library

Grenfell papers

11.1.10 Private collections

Douglas McLean

Letter, 1792 concerning Boulton and Watt engine at Mynydd Parys

11.2 Maps and plans

11.2.1 UWB:

Bangor MSS

31584: plan of Parys Mine by Henry Dennis of Rhiwabon, 1859
31590: plan of opencast and underground workings, 1892
31592: plan of Dyffryn Adda precipitation pits and furnace, nd.
31598-601: four copies of plan of opencast and underground workings, n.d.
31602: plan of Parys mine 1815
31603: plan of Mona mine, 1784-86
31604: 6"/1 mile ordnance survey map of Mynydd Parys, n.d.

Llwydiarth Esgob MSS

Fs 639/640/641

M/C

3/158

11.2.2. Llangefni Record Office

WCD/118/1 WCD/118/3 WCD/118/4 WCD/118/7 WCD/118/7 WCD/118/9 WCD/118/14 WCD/118/15 WCD/118/16 WCD/118/19 WCD/119/1 25" Ordnance Survey map (III 15 Anglesey, 1887, 1900).

11.2.3 Hawarden Record Office

Deposit D/KK/534 (Keen and Kelly MSS) - map dated 1764.

11.2.4 National Monuments Record, Aberystwyth

Map of Parys Mine, H. Hughes, 1815 Survey of Cerrig y Bleiddiau Mountain - map dated 1786

11.2.5 British Geological Survey, Llanfarian, Aberystwyth

D.O. December 1959, PP299/Do, III (Ms plan under varnish, J. Taylor and Sons).

11.2.6 Birmingham Reference Library

Boulton and Watt collection 6/6/85

11.2.7 West Glamorgan Record Office

D/D NAI M 10/1-6, D/D NAI/M 246/1-3 (plans of parts of 18" steam engine)

11.2.8 Public Record Office, Chancery Lane

SP 46/36 MPF 11 - map of Traeth Dulas and Amlwch, late sixteenth century

11.3 Unpublished texts

AMplc.: Proposed development of the Parys mountain ore reserves: planing application brief, 15 October 1985. -- Planning application pro-forma: development of a mining and milling complex for the extraction and processing of metalliferous ores and disposal of rock slurry by Anglesey Mining Company, 21 May 1986.

Bick D: The Industrial Archaeology of Parys Mountain (Hydrotechnica 1988).

Countryside Council for Wales: Mynydd Parys SSSI.

Gwynedd Archaeological Trust: Archaeological Survey at Morfa Du, Parys Mountain (Report 36) (Bangor 1992).

Gwynedd Archaeological Trust: Mynydd Parys Dyffryn Coch Precipitation Pits Survey and Recording (G36) (Report 193) (Bangor 1995).

Gwynedd Archaeological Trust: Pearl Engine House, Parys Mountain, Anglesey: Archaeological recording (G1215) (Report 196) (Bangor 1996).

Gwynedd County Council: *Parys Mountain Mining Project, 11/6/77* (County Planning Officer's report to planning sub-committee, 23 october 1987.

Harris JR: The Copper Industry in North Wales and Lancashire (University of Manchester PhD thesis, 1952).

Rogers VA: Parys Mountain: The Conservation of a mining landscape (University of Wales, Bangor, School of Agriculture and Forest Science, MSc thesis 1996).

Tyler AW: *Prehistoric and Roman Mining for metals in England and Wales* (University of Wales, Cardiff PhD thesis 1982). Vernon RW: *An Outline Report on the Engine House at Parys Mountain Copper Mine, Isle of Anglesey* (t.s.) 1993.

11.4 Newspapers and magazines

11.4.1 Chester Chronicle

3 March 1799

27 Mehefin 1860

11.4.3 North Wales Chronicle

26 May1846 22 December 1846

11.4.4 North Wales Gazette

13 March 1817 26 July 1821 6 December 1821

11.4.5 Carnarvon and Denbigh Herald

14 March 1863 11 May 1878 28 September 1878 7 June 1879

11.4.6 Y Traethdodydd

1911 1921

11.4.7 Y Geninen

1901 1902

11.4.8 Cymru

vol. 9, p. 84, p. 113-6, pp. 184-9, pp. 229-33, pp. 276-8 vol. 10, pp. 19-20, p. 164, p. 208-11, pp. 283-4 vol. 11, pp. 21-4, pp. 74-8, pp. 117-20, pp. 157-60, pp. 235-7 vol. 12, pp. 8-11, pp. 123-4, pp. 179-181, pp. 204-6 vol. 20, p. 313 vol. 29, p. 116 vol. 34, p. 87 vol. 35, p. 82, p. 83 vol. 38, p. 213

11.4.9 Figaro in Wales

1835-6 (career of Joseph Jones after leaving Amlwch)

11.4.10 Y Drysorfa

1942, t. 232-5 1964, t. 162-4

11.4.11 Y Gwarandawr

1964 Gorfennaf

11.5 Mining Journal

1835 p. 114, p. 123 1836 (vol. II) p. 27 1836 (vol. III) p. 166 1839 (vol. IX) p. 87, p. 95, p. 103, p. 119, p. 127, p. 135 1845 p. 348 1846 p. 234, p. 236, p. 545 1847 p. 45, p. 518, p. 587 1848 p. 41 1858 p. 391, p. 419, p. 451, p. 455, p. 487, p. 583, p. 735, p. 787 1859 p. 5, p. 109, p. 146, p. 166, p. 193, p. 233, p. 361, p. 397, p. 433, p. 469, p. 505, p. 569, p. 605, p. 637, p. 669 1860 p. 471, p. 662, p. 690, p. 696 1861 p. 25, p. 76, p. 105, p. 169, p. 233, p. 261, p. 353, p. 389, p. 453, p. 649, p. 793, p. 856 p. 857 1862 p. 193, p. 421, p. 547, p. 581, p. 587, p. 619, p. 634, p. 654, p. 782 1863 p. 79, p. 115, p. 129, p. 185, p. 632 1865 p. 92, p. 407 1867 p. 16, p. 183, p. 238, p. 255 1868 p. 15, p. 16, p. 25, p. 29, p. 305, p. 393, p. 669, p. 897 1870 p. 656, p. 657, p. 671, p. 672, p. 695, p. 696, p. 711, p. 771, p. 954, p. 989, p. 997 1871 p. 330, p. 355, p. 356, p. 375, p. 399, p. 422, p. 446, p. 470, p. 494, p. 514, p. 529, p. 538, p. 552, p. 561, p. 582, p. 606, p. 628, p. 649, p. 655, p. 675, p. 718, p. 739, p. 762, p. 786, p. 810, p. 850, p. 864, p. 875, p. 899, p. 920, p. 943, p. 990, p. 1015, p. 1062, p. 1087 p. 1110, p. 1134, p. 1159 1872 p. 4, p. 6, p. 30, p. 55, p. 72, p. 74, p. 98, p. 123, p. 142, p. 170, p. 194, p. 215, p. 238, p. 262, p. 310, p. 334, p. 359, p. 382, p. 406, p. 454, p. 478, p. 502, p. 550, p. 578, p. 602, p. 626, p. 650, p. 675, p. 722, p. 746, p. 771, p. 795, p. 817, p. 842, p. 866, p. 890, p. 914, p. 938, p. 962, p. 986, p. 1014, p. 1039, p. 1090, p. 1114, p. 1142, p. 1170, 1194, p. 1250, p. 1251 1873 p. 112, p. 463, p. 940 1874 p. 129, p. 160, p. 256, p. 284, p. 360, p. 413, p. 414, p. 548, p. 985 1875 p. 687, p. 1340 1876 p. 179, p. 208, p. 219, p. 234, p. 244, p. 263, p. 784, p. 873, p. 1179, p. 1319, p. 1363, 1427 1877 p. 87, p. 139, p. 285, p. 297, p. 320, p. 321, p. 347, p. 375, p. 434, p. 520, p. 545, p. 572, p. 599, p. 629, p. 656, p. 685, p. 714, p. 750, p. 781, p. 811, p. 828, p. 865, p. 881, p. 894, p. 937, p. 950, p. 1006, p. 1021, p. 1034, p. 1035, p. 1049, p. 1062, p. 1077, p. 1089. p. 1105, p. 1219, p. 1228, p. 1330, p. 1359 1878 p. 12, p. 21, p. 40, p. 187, p. 223, p. 539, p. 768, p. 898, p. 903, p. 932, p. 943, p. 953, p. 959, p. 980, p. 996, p. 1038, p. 1054, p. 1099, p. 1178, p. 1193, p. 1240, p. 1319, p. 1323, p. 1345, p. 1362, p. 1379, p. 1400, 1879 p. 73, p. 98, p. 130, p. 135, p. 145, p. 152, p. 155, p. 176, p. 184, p. 193, p. 208, p. 217, p. 252, p. 304, p. 325, p. 333, p. 374, p. 402, p. 467, p. 548, p. 604, p. 620, p. 625, p. 700, p. 721, p. 729, p. 746, p. 763, p. 770, p. 778, p. 786, p. 823, p. 848, p. 948, p. 1043, p. 1073, p. 1090, p. 1205, p. 1233, p. 1319 1880 p. 1, p. 5, p. 7, p. 12, p. 31, p. 34, p. 35, p. 68, p. 78, p. 90, p. 91, p. 119, p. 123, p. 124, p. 134, p. 147, p. 163, p. 175, p. 207, 458, pp. 486-7, p. 515, p. 543, p. 557, p. 559, p. 571, p. 574, p. 586, p. 599, p. 605, p. 612, p. 624, p. 627, p. 655, p. 687, p. 717, p. 747, p. 775, p. 801, p. 806, p. 813, pp. 834-5, p. 862, p. 863, p. 890, p. 918, p. 919, p. 932, p. 945, p. 947, p. 974, p. 975, p. 1002, p. 1003, p. 1030, p. 1031, p. 1058, p. 1059, p. 1086, p. 1087, p. 1118, p. 1134, p. 1146, p. 1147, p. 1152, p. 1154, p. 1163, p. 1174, p. 1180, p. 1206, p. 1234, p. 1239, p. 1252, p. 1262, p. 1263, p. 1268, p. 1290, p. 1310, p. 1322, p. 1323, p. 1354, p. 1355, p. 1387, p. 1418, p. 1419, p. 1447, p. 1478. 1881 p. 60, p. 172, p. 227, p. 319, p. 345, p. 349, p. 380, p. 383, p. 410, p. 457, p. 502, p. 504, p. 530, p. 531, p. 565, p. 567, p. 594, p. 629, p. 630, p. 691, p. 727, p. 770, p. 862, p. 912, p. 988, p. 996, p. 1013, p. 1039, p. 1040, p. 1046, p. 1048, p. 1078, p. 1276, p. 1351, p. 1379, p. 1498, p. 1574, 1882 p. 279, p. 300, p. 331, p. 343, p. 349, p. 362, p. 380, p. 410, p. 428, p. 430, p. 460, p. 502, p. 510, p. 531, p. 564, p. 565, p. 574, p. 594, p. 604, p. 614, p. 617, p. 629, p. 681, p. 785, p. 809, pp. 864-5, p. 912, p. 988, p. 996, p. 997, p. 1083, p. 1116, p. 1223, p. 1255, p. 1289, p. 1396, pp. 1574-5 1883 p. 68, p. 69, p. 159, p. 178, p. 229, p. 249, p. 349, p. 656, p. 749, p. 1204, p. 1404, p. 1452, p. 1463 1884 p. 83, p. 186, p. 220, p. 221, p. 266, p. 343, p. 367, p. 416, p. 675, p. 756, p. 923, p. 988, p. 1185 1885 p. 5, p. 36, p. 37, p. 92, p. 387, p. 644, p. 663, p. 1043 1886 p. 210, p. 1420 1887 p. 452 1888 p. 967, p. 1105 1889 p. 195, p. 284, p. 285, p. 967 1891 p. 161, p. 527 1897 p. 215

p. 221, p. 233, p. 235, p. 249, p. 263, p. 276, p. 291, p. 304, p. 308, p. 318, p. 319, p. 346, p. 374, p. 403, p. 429, p. 430, p.

11.6 Official documents

An Act for Allowing a Drawback of the Duties upon Coals used in Smelting Copper and Lead Ores and in Fire Engines for raising water therefrom ... within the Isle of Anglesey (26 Geo. III, cap. CIV) (Copy in UWB Welsh Library Rare Books X/KF 379 PAR). An Act to Amend an Act made in the twenty sixth year of the Reigne of His Present Majesty intituled An Act for Allowing a Drawback of the Duties upon Coals used in Smelting Copper and Lead Ores and in Fire Engines for raising water therefrom ... within the Isle of Anglesey (33 Geo. III, cap. LXXXI). Reports of H.M. Inspectors of Mines (London: H.M.S.O.) 1873, p. 327 1874, p. 353 1875, p. 394 1876, p. 374 1877 p. 424, p. 431 1878, p. 464, p. 475 1879, p. 382, p. 392 1880, p. 358, p. 366 1881, p. 436, p. 445 1882, p. 367 1886, p. 145 1905, p. 26 1906, p. 23, p. 36 House of Commons Sessional Papers (London: H.M.S.O.) 1862 (58) 1864 (452) 1871 (486) 1880 (366s2) The London Gazette

```
1885 p. 441, p. 2546, p. 2829, p. 4300
```

Aikin A: A Journal of a Tour through North Wales (1797).

Agricola G, *De Re Metallica Libri XII* (Basle: Cum Privilegio Imperatoris, 1556), trans. Herbert Clark Hoover and Lou Henry Hoover (New York, 1950).

Ambers J: "Radiocarbon, Calibration and Early Mining" in Crew P and S 1990.

Anglesey Mining plc.: Company Prospectus, 1988.

-- Annual Report, 1993.

Barton DB: The Cornish Beam Engine (Exeter 1989).

Bick D: "The Beam-Engine House in Wales" IAR XII 1 Autumn 1988 84-93.

-- "Observations on Ancient Mining in Wales" in Crew P and S 1990.

Bingley, Rev. E.: A Tour Round North Wales performed during the summer of 1798 (London, 1801).

Biringuccio V: *De la Pirotechnia* (Venice: Con Privilegio Apostolico, 1540) trans. Cyril Stanley Smith and Martha Teach Gnudi (Dover: New York, 1990).

Briggs S: "Note on Prehistoric Mining on Anglesey" Historical Metallurgy 10 1 (1976) p. 3.

-- "The location and recognition of metal ores in pre-Roman and Roman Britain and their contemporary exploitation" in J. Ellis-Jones (ed.), *Acta of the British School at Athens Centenary Conference on ancient mining and metallurgy (1986)* (University College of North Wales, Bangor, Department of Classics, 1988) pp. 106-114.

-- "Site preservation and mineral development at Parys Mountain, Anglesey" in *Welsh Industrial Heritage: a review* (CBA research report 79, 1990) pp. 75-81.

Catherall W: History of North Wales (1828).

Chaloner WH: "Charles Roe of Macclesfield" *Transactions of the Lancashire and Cheshire Antiquarian Society* 62-63 (1950/1951-1952/1953).

Chaput D: "Alexander Fraser (of Lovat)" TAAS (1985) pp. 65-81.

Cockshutt E: "The Parys and Mona Copper Mines" TAAS (1960), pp. 1-25.

-- "The Parys Mountain Copper Mines in the Island of Anglesey" Archaeologia Cambrensis 114 pp. 87-111.

Countryside Council for Wales/Cadw/ICOMOS UK Register of Landscapes of Outstanding Historic Interest in Wales (Cardiff, 1989) pp. 70-72.

Cowman D: "The Mining Community at Avoca 1780-1880" in K. Hannigan and W. Nolan: *Wicklow: History and Society* (Dublin: Geography Publications 1994) pp. 761-788.

Crew P and S (eds): Early Mining in the British Isles (Plas Tan y Bwlch Occasional Paper 1: Maentwrog 1990).

Davies O: "Mining Sites in Wales" British Association Journal Annual Reports 1937, pp. 229-241.

-- "The Old Mines at Parys Mountain and Rhosmynachfawr" in *An Inventory of the Ancient Monuments of Anglesey* (H.M.S.O., 1937) pp. lxxxvi-xc.

-- "Excavations on Parys Mountain" TAAS (1939).

H. Dewey and T. Eastwood, "Copper Ores of Wales". Spec. Rept. of Min. Resources Vol. XXX (1925).

Department of the Environment: The Reclamation and Management of Metalliferous Mining Sites (HMSO 1994).

Dodd AH: "Parys Mountain" TAAS (1926) pp. 90-105.

-- The Industrial Revolution in North Wales (Wrexham, 1993).

Dictionary of Welsh Biography (entries for Joseph Jones, Lewis William Lewis [Llew Llwyfo] and Thomas Williams).

Ellis H.R. (golygydd): Rhwng môr a mynydd: lloffion o hanes Amlwch (Cyngor Gwlad Môn, 1961)

Evans J: The Beauties of England and Wales (London, 1812) pp. 228-234.

Evans TF: "The Mines of Parys Mountain", Transactions of the Manchester Geological Society 14 17 (1877-8).

Flynn-Hughes C: "Aspects of the Old Poor Law Administration in Amlwch Parish, 1770-1837", *TAAS* (1945) pp. 45-60. Griffith O: *Mvnvdd Parvs* (Caernarfon 1897).

Greenly H: Memoir on the Geology of Anglesey (H.M.S.O., 1919).

Guise B, Lees G: Windmills of Anglesey (Painscastle, 1992).

Gwyn DRh: "Early Mineral Assaying in Dyffryn Conwy" GD/IG vol. 1 (1996) pp. 22-25.

Hope BD: A Curious Place: The Industrial History of Amlwch (1550-1950) (Wrexham, 1994).

Harris JR: "Michael Hughes of Sutton: the influence of Welsh copper on Lancashire business, 1780-1815" *Transactions of the Historical Society of Lancashire and Cheshire* 101 (1949), pp. 139-61.

-- "Thomas Williams" History Today (1955).

-- The Copper King (Liverpool, 1964).

-- and Roberts RO: "Eighteenth Century Monopoly: the Cornish Metal Company Agreements of 1785" *Business History* 10 2 (1963).

Hunt R: A Historic Sketch of British Mining. (1887, reprinted by E.P. Publishing 1978).

Hughes RR: John Williams Brynsiencyn (Caernarfon, 1929).

Hughes EW: Trem yn Ôl (Llangefni, 1987).

Hughes H (Ieuan Glan Eilian): Hanes Amlwch a'r cymydogaethau, ynghyda'r enwog Fynydd Parys (Amlwch: Hughes, d.d. [1866]).

Hughes R: *Enwogion Môn 1850-1913* (Dolgellau, 1913), entries for Evan Evans, Richard Evans (*Twrch*), Thomas Fanning Evans, William Evans (*Monwyson*), Simon Alexander Fraser, Owen Griffith (*Eos Eilian*), Joseph Jones (*Chwaneg Môn*), Richard Jones, Lewis William Lewis (*Llew Llwyfo*), William Lewis, William Roose, James Treweek, John Henry Treweek.

Jenkins D: "Mynydd Parys Copper Mines, Anglesey" CBA Archaeology in Wales 35 (1995) pp. 35-7.

Jones DO: Anglesey: A Bibliography (Gwynedd Co. Council, 1979).

Jones FP: "Crasu copr Parys" *Lleufer* 1963 t. 166-70.

Jones H: Accounting, Costing and Cost Estimation: Welsh Industry 1700-1830 (Cardiff, 1985).

Jones HG: "Pwy ydoedd Shôn Gwialen?" TCHS 2 (1940) pp. 77-86.

Jones J: Cerdd newydd yn dangos allan ... medrusrwydd mwyngloddwyr Mynydd Parys (Trefriw: Jones, 1823).

Jones J: Dysgrifiad o Ynys Mon (Llanrwst: John Jones, 1856).

Jones O: Amlwch and the Celebrated Mona and Parys Copper Mines (Beaumaris, 1848).

Kelly RS: "Metal working in North Wales during the Roman Period" *Bulletin of the Board of Celtic Studies* XXVII (1976) pp. 127-147.

Landon DB: "Cornish buddles unearthed at a Michigan copper mine" *Industrial Archaeology News* 96 (Spring 1996) pp. 1-2. Lewis S: *Topographical Dictionary* (London, 1842), entry for Amlwch.

Lewis WL(Llew Llwyfo): Bywgraffiad Llew Llwyfo, yn llenyddol, cerddorol, ac eisteddfodol, wedi ei ysgrifennu ganddo ef ei hun (Caernarfon, d.d.).

Lentin GL: Briefe über die Insel Anglesea, vorzüglich über das dasige Kupfer-Bergwerk und die dazu Gehörigen Schmelzwerke und Fabriken (Leipzig, 1800).

Llwyd A: A History of the Island of Mona (Ruthin, 1833).

North FJ: Mining for Metals in Wales (National Museum of Wales, Cardiff, 1962).

Pascoe WH: The Cornish Copper Company (Redruth, n.d.).

Pennant T: A Tour in Wales vol. 2 (London: Henry Hughes, 1783).

-- A Tour in Wales, ed. Sir John Rhys (Caernarvon, 1883) vol. 3, pp. 55-64, pp. 395-400+plate.

Pickin J: "Stone Tools and Early Metal Mining in England and Wales" in Crew P and S 1990.

Pointer CR and Ixer RA: Parys Mountain Mineral Deposits (Anglesey Trans. Inst. Min.& Met., 1980).

Pritchard RT: "Travellers in Anglesey in the Seventeenth and Eighteenth Centuries" TAAS (1961), pp. 21-38, esp. pp. 32-34.

Pryce W: Mineralogia Cornubiensis (London, 1778).

Pugh E: Cambria Depicta (London, 1816).

Railway Suppliers' Journal 23 Nov. 1889 pp. 11-14.

Ramsey AC: The Geology of North Wales (Memoirs of the Geological Survey of Great Britain, 1881).

Rees W: Industry Before the Industrial Revolution (Cardiff, 1968).

Richards T: "Mona Mine Letters", TAAS (1946) pp. 80-91.

Roberts EL: Siwgr a Sbeis (Llandyssyl, 1975).

Roberts R ("Y Sgolor Mawr"), The Life and Opinions of Robert Roberts a Wandering Scholar (Cardiff: 1992).

Roberts RO: "Copper and Economic Growth in Britain, 1729-84" National Library of Wales Journal 10 1 (1957) pp. 65-74.

Rowlands J: "Cornishmen at the Amlwch copper mines" TAAS (1963), pp. 1-15.

-- "Twm Chwarae Teg" Lleufer (1964) t. 169-73.

-- Copper Mountain, (Llangefni, 1981).

Royal Commission on Ancient and Historic Mounments in Wales and Monmouthshire: *An Inventory of the Ancient Monuments in Anglesey* (H.M.S.O., 1937).

Rutty J: "Of the Vitriolic waters of Amlwch" Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society 51 2 (1760) p. 470.

"Shôn Gwialen": Letter to the Right Rev. Dr Warren (privately printed, c. 1796).

Skinner J: *Ten Days' Tour Through the Isle of Anglesea December 1802* (Supplement to the Cambrian Archaeological Association July 1908) pp. 61-64.

Smith R: "An Overview of the Principles of Copper Metallurgy and the Practice at Keswick 1567-1602" in *Mining before Powder* (Matlock Bath, 1994).

Stanley W.O.: "Note on Great Orme and Parys Mountain Copper Mines" Archaeological Journal 7 (1850) pp. 68-9.

-- "Notes on Vestiges of Roman Workings for Copper in Anglesey" Archaeological Journal 30 (1873) pp. 59-62.

Thomas TM: The Mineral Wealth of Wales and its Exploitation (Oliver and Boyd Ltd, 1961).

Timberlake S: "Excavations at Parys Mountain and Nantyreira" Archaeology in Wales 28 (1988) pp. 11-17.

-- "Excavations at Parys Mountain and Nantyreira" in Crew P and S 1990 pp. 15-21.

Tomos D (ed.): Michael Faraday in Wales (Gwasg Gee, 1971).

Toomey RR: Vivian and Sons, 1809-1924 (New York and London, 1985).

Tylecote RF: The Prehistory of Metallurgy in the British Isles (The Institute of Metals, 1990).

Vernon R: "Parys Mountain Copper Mine: Past, Present and Future" GD/IG 1 (1996) pp. 35-47.

Victor-Frère-Jean: "Esquisse Géologique de l'île d'Anglesey" Annales des Mines 13 (Paris 1826) pp. 229-238.

Williams EA: Hanes Môn yn y Bedwaredd Ganrif ar Bymtheg (1927).

Williams RM: Enwogion Môn, 1850-1912 (Bangor, 1913).

Williams J: Digest of Welsh Historical Statistics/Crynhoad o Ystadegau Hanesyddol Cymru vol. 2 (Aberystwyth, 1986).

11.8 Photographs

11.8.1 Llangefni Record Office

WSY/30: *coparledi* WSB/30: precipitation pits in use WSB/31: Mona mine windmill WSB/32: yard buildings WSB/41: recent photograph of opencast WSB/42: recent photograph of opencast WSB/83: engine house and windmill WSB/246: recent photograph WDA/241: photograph of a watercolour based on that of John "Warwick" Smith in NLW.

11.8.2 Other collections

Photographic collections are believed to be held by Countryside Council for Wales, AMplc, UWB, Ynys Môn County Council, Gwynedd County Council and the Welsh Office (Central Registry of Air Photography, Wales).

11.9 Paintings

11.9.1 NLW

Julius Caesar Ibbetson: *Paris Mine*: aquatint after watercolour, shows the opencast with windlasses and whimseys, 1795; (PZ 3209 A1/1-A115).

Edward Pugh: *Paris mines in 1800*, aquatint (PA 4393, A1/1-A116). -- *Paris mines in 1804*, aquatint (PA 4396 A1/1-A114). John "Warwick" Smith: the opencast and the early windmill, *c*. 1790, oil. Warrington Smyth: the great opencast, *c*. 1850, water-colour.

11.9.2 Plas Newydd: collection of the Most Hon. the Marquis of Anglesey

William Havell: the opencast, late eighteenth-early nineteenth century, oil.

(Footnotes)

¹ Countryside Council for Wales leaflet, Mynydd Parys SSSI.

² Cadw, Countryside Council for Wales, ICOMOS UK, *Register of Landscapes of Outstanding Historic Interest in Wales* (Cardiff, 1998) p. 70.

³ T. Pennant, *Tours in Wales* vol. 2 (London: Henry Hughes, 1783) p. 275.

⁴ Rev. E. Bingley, A Tour Round North Wales performed during the summer of 1798 (London, 1801).

⁵ D Tomos (ed.), Michael Faraday in Wales (Denbigh, n.d.).

⁶ NLW: MS2258C, C.S. Briggs, "Note on Prehistoric Mining on Anglesey" Historical Metallurgy 10 1 (1976) p. 43.

⁷ O. Davies, "Mining Sites in Wales" British Association Journal Annual Reports 1937, pp. 229-41.

⁸ Simon Timberlake, "Excavations at Parys Mountain and Nantyreira" *Early Mining in the British Isles* (Maentwrog, 1990) pp. 15-21.

⁹ W.O. Stanley, "Note on Great Orme and Parys Mountain Copper Mines" *Archaeological Journal* 7 (1850) pp. 68-9, "Notes on Vestiges of Roman Workings for Copper in Anglesey" *Archaeological Journal* 30 (1873) pp. 59-62.

¹⁰ Pers. comm., Dr David Jenkins.

- 11 HRO D/KK/534
- ¹² T. Pennant, op. cit., p. 275.

¹³ A.W. Tyler, *Prehistoric & Roman Mining for Metals in England and Wales* (University of Wales, Cardiff PhD thesis, 1982) pp. 352-359.

¹⁴ J. Rowlands, Copper Mountain (Llangefni, 1981) pp. 15-16.

¹⁵ Public Record Office SP 46/36 MPF 11, B. Hope, A Curious Place (Wrexham, 1994) pp. 16-17.

- ¹⁶ NLW Wynn Papers, 470.
- ¹⁷ *Mining Journal* 1880, p. 134.
- ¹⁸ HRO D/KK/534.
- ¹⁹ UWB Mona Mine 2242.
- ²⁰ A.H. Dodd, "Parys Mountain", *TAAS* (1926) p. 92.
- ²¹ HRO D/KK/534.
- ²² UWB Mona Mine 3025, 3026.
- ²³ UWB Mona Mine 2242.
- ²⁴ J. Rowlands, *op. cit.*, pp. 22-38.
- ²⁵ W.H. Pascoe, *The Cornish Copper Company* (Redruth, n.d.) p. 36.
- ²⁶ R.R. Toomey, Vivian and Sons, 1809-1924 (New York and London, 1985) p. 7.
- ²⁷ R.R. Toomey, *op. cit.*, pp. 81-89.
- ²⁸ See John Rowlands, "Cornishmen at the Amlwch Copper Mines: James Henry Treweek" *TAAS* (1963) pp. 1-15.

²⁹ *Ibid.*, p. 1. The archaeological implications of Cornish mining skills and technology transfer in a period when the industry was moving on to an international footing were underlined recently by the discovery of Cornish buddles at Ohio Trap Rock Mine on Michigan's Keweenaw Peninsula; see David B. Landon, "Cornish buddles unearthed at a Michigan copper mine", *Industrial Archaeology News* 96 (Spring 1996) pp.1-2.

- ³⁰ R.R. Toomey, op. cit., pp. 52-81.
- ³¹ UWB Mona Mine 3613.
- ³² B. Hope, *op. cit.*, pp. 90-91.
- ³³ LIRO WSB/30.

³⁴ Personal communication from Tomos Roberts, UWB archivist, from information contained in the uncatalogued Fanning Evans papers.

³⁵ W.O. Stanley, "Note on Great Orme and Parys Mountain Copper Mines" *Archaeological Journal* 7 (1850) pp. 68-9, "Notes on Vestiges of Roman Workings for Copper in Anglesey" *Archaeological Journal* 1873 vol. 30, pp. 59-62.

- ³⁶ David Jenkins, "Mynydd Parys Copper Mines, Anglesey" CBA Archaeology in Wales 35 (1995), pp. 35-7.
- ³⁷ Mining Journal 1878, p. 943, B. Hope, op. cit., p. 86.
- ³⁸ Victor-Frere-Jean, "Esquisse Géologique de l'Isle d'Anglesey", Annales des Mines 13 (1826), pp. 229-238.
- ³⁹ NLW Calendar of Wynn Papers 455, 456, 460, 462.
- $^{\rm 40}\,$ UWB Mona Mine 3544 p. 9.
- ⁴¹ B. Hope, *op. cit.*, p. 33.
- ⁴² *Mining Journal* 12 June 1880p. 670.
- ⁴³ UWB Bangor 31603.
- ⁴⁴ UWB Mona Mine 31603.

⁴⁵ The word "gin" is used in the present document to mean any horse-powered machine at a shaft-head, since the word "whim" has a narrower context of winding ore. The purpose of most of the gin-sites at Mynydd Parys is unclear. The word "whim" is used when quoting from original documents; in Welsh these features were referred to as a *chwimsi* or *chwimsi* ceffyl.

- ⁴⁶ UWB Bangor 31603
- ⁴⁷ *Mining Journal* 1878 p. 943.

⁴⁸ D. Cowman, "The Mining Community at Avoca 1780-1880" in K. Hannigan and W. Nolan *Wicklow: History and Society* (Dublin: Geography Publications, 1994) pp. 761-788.

- ⁴⁹ P. Crew, "The Copper Mines of Llanberis and Clogwyn Goch", TCHS 37 (1976) p. 68.
- ⁵⁰ UWB Plas Newydd 2242 notes the delivery of "old iron" from 29 August 1772 p. 46.
- ⁵¹ UWB Bangor MS 31603.
- ⁵² UWB Bangor MS 31602.
- ⁵³ Map in possession of Bryan Hope, copy of original in the British Library.

⁵⁴ Simon Timberlake, "Excavations at Parys Mountain and Nantyreira" in *Early Mining in the British Isles* (Penrhyndeudraeth, 1989) p. 15, pp. 20-21.

⁵⁵ Royal Commission on Ancient and Historic Monuments in Wales and Monmouthshire, *An Inventory of the Ancient Monuments in Anglesey* (London, 1937) p. lxxxvii.

- ⁵⁶ D Tomos (ed.), *Michael Faraday in Wales* (Denbigh, n.d.) pp.79-80.
- ⁵⁷ *Mining Journal* 24 June 1871, p. 552.
- ⁵⁸ O. Griffith, *Mynydd Parys* (Caernarfon, 1897) p. 41.
- ⁵⁹ Mining Journal 17 February 1872, pp. 142-3.
- ⁶⁰ UWB Mona Mine 3750
- ⁶¹ Mining Journal 17 February 1872, pp. 142-3.
- ⁶² J. Rowlands, Copper Mountain (Llangefni 1981) p. 42.

⁶³ Georgius Agricola, *De Re Metallica* (Basileae: Cum Privilegio Imperatoris, 1556), Vannoccio Biringuccio, *De La Pirotechnia* (Venice, 1540). See Richard Smith, "An Overview of the Principles of Copper Metallurgy and the Practice at Keswick 1567-1602" in *Mining before Powder* (Matlock Bath, 1994) pp. 116-123 for an account of how German copper-processing was applied in a British context in the sixteenth century.

⁶⁴ UWB Plas Newydd 2242, p. 15, p. 16.

⁶⁵ An Act for allowing a Drawback of the Duties upon Coals used in smelting Copper and Lead Ores, and in Fire Engines for draining water out of the Copper and Lead Mines, within the Isle of Anglesey, (26 George III cap. CIV)

- ⁶⁶ UWB Mona Mine 3750.
- ⁶⁷ B. Hope, *op. cit.*, p. 38.
- ⁶⁸ UWB Mona Mine 3544, ff. 12r-14r.
- ⁶⁹ B. Hope, *loc. cit.*.
- ⁷⁰ UWB Mona Mine 3040.
- ⁷¹ U.W.B General Collection 31603.
- ⁷² B. Hope, *op. cit.*, p. 39.
- ⁷³ T. Pennant, *op. cit.*, p. 278.
- ⁷⁴ Birmingham Reference Library Boulton and Watt coll., 6/6/85.
- ⁷⁵ UWB Mona Mines 3040.
- ⁷⁶ UWB General MS 31602.
- ⁷⁷ Map in collection Bryan Hope, from original in British Library.
- ⁷⁸ UWB Plas Newydd 167.
- ⁷⁹ UWB Mona Mine 105.
- ⁸⁰ Mining Journal 1878 p. 943.
- ⁸¹ B. Hope: *op. cit.*, pp. 44-8.
- ⁸² UWB Mona Mine 2636.

- ⁸³ UWB Mona Mine 2025-2029.
- ⁸⁴ Map in possession of B. Hope, copy of original in British Library.
- ⁸⁵ LlRO W/DC/27, entry for 22 April.
- ⁸⁶ Map in possession of B. Hope, copy of original in British Library.
- ⁸⁷ UWB Mona Mine 3040.
- ⁸⁸ UWB Bangor MS 31602.
- ⁸⁹ Mining Journal 1880, p. 374.
- ⁹⁰ UWB Mona Mine 3544 fol. 14r.
- ⁹¹ UWB General Collection 31602.
- ⁹² UWB Mona Mine 109.
- ⁹³ UWB Mona Mine 109, entry for 4 July 1846.
- ⁹⁴ UWB Mona Mine 3040.
- 95 T. Pennant, op. cit., p. 279.
- ⁹⁶ B. Guise, G. Lees, Windmills of Anglesey (Painscastle, 1992) pp. 138-9.
- 97 LIRO W/DC/26, entry for 15 August 1836.
- 98 E. Cockshutt, "The Parys and Mona Copper Mines", TAAS (1960) p. 18
- 99 B. Guise, G Lees, op. cit., p. 137.
- ¹⁰⁰ Pers. comm., Messrs John Bennett and Chris Williams, Birmingham Public Library, Boulton and Watt collection 6/6/85.
- ¹⁰¹ H.W. Dickenson, Rh. Jenkins, James Watt and the Steam Engine (Southampton 1989), pp. 162-3.

¹⁰² J. Rowlands, op. cit., pp. 35-6, UWB Welsh Library Rare Books X/KF 379 PAR, *An Act for Allowing a Drawback upon Coals used in smelting Copper and Lead Ores, and in Fire Engines for draining Water out of the Copper and Lead Mines, within the Isle of Anglesey* (26 George III cap. CIV).

¹⁰³ D. Bick, "The Beam-Engine House in Wales" IAR 12 1(Autumn 1989) p. 88.

¹⁰⁴ UWB Mona Mine 280. The Neath Abbey Ironworks papers in the West Glamorgan Record Office contain plans for an 18" engine for an unspecified Anglesey firn, dated 1818 to 1820 (D/D NAI/M 10/1-6, 246/1-3). Advice concerning an engine dated 17 July 1818 from Joseph Tregelles Price (of Neath Abbey works) is recorded in UWB Mona Mine 232, and payment of the balance owing for an engine (£387 12/2d) to the same individual is recorded in UWB Mona Mine 304, dated 5 May 1819.

- ¹⁰⁵ UWB Mona Mines 288-230.
- ¹⁰⁶ D. Tomos (ed.), *Michael Faraday in Wales* (Denbigh, n.d.) p. 79.
- ¹⁰⁷ UWB Mona Mines 292, 295.
- ¹⁰⁸ D. Tomos (ed.), op. cit., pp. 85-6.
- ¹⁰⁹ UWB Mona Mines 292, 294.
- ¹¹⁰ Victor-Frère-Jean, op. cit., pp. 229-238.
- ¹¹¹ UWB Mona Mine 105-106, 1096.
- ¹¹² UWB Mona Mines 232.
- ¹¹³ UWB Mona Mine 167.
- ¹¹⁴ UWB Mona Mine 2786.
- ¹¹⁵ UWB Mona Mine 2787.
- ¹¹⁶ *Mining Journal* 1880, p. 134.
- ¹¹⁷ O. Griffith, *Mynydd Parys* (Caernarfon, 1897) plate 4.
- ¹¹⁸ UWB Mona Mine 2025-2039

¹¹⁹ Other engines worked at Porth Amlwch, and it is sometimes difficult to disentangle them from those which worked in the mine in the documentary record. A four-h.p. engine to draw coal up the incline from Porth Amlwch to the smelting house yard first appears in the accounts for 1828-9, (UWB Mona Mine 1097) and was valued at £800 in 1834 (Mona Mine 167). Despite having arrived at least five years previously, it does not seem to have been put to work until June 1834, when Treweek wrote that it was working well and that when the turnout roads (presumably pointwork) were laid, the port would be able to handle three vessels or 200 tons a day (Mona Mine 3285). A second-hand Cornish boiler was installed for this engine in about 1862, which exploded after eight years' work, killing a workman (*Mining Journal* 12 November 1870, p. 954) - the inquest was resumed on 29 October 1870. A steam crane was at work here by 1880 (*Mining Journal* 1880, p. 134).

- ¹²⁰ UWB Mona Mine 167.
- ¹²¹ LIRO W/DC/26, entry for 12 September 1836.
- ¹²² LIRO W/DC/27, entries for 11 and 12 January, 6 February, 30 July, 3-5 August, 27 September, 1 October 1841.
- ¹²³ UWB Mona Mine 109, entry for 4 July 1846.
- ¹²⁴ O. Griffith, *Mynydd Parys* (Caernarfon 1897) p. 60.
- ¹²⁵ E. Cockshutt, op. cit., p. 17.

¹²⁶ E.W. Hughes, *Trem yn Ol*; it is likely that Tiddy's discomfiture took place at the Mona mine site, not, as Mr Hughes suggests, at the Parys Carreg y Doll shaft, since it is clear from Owen Griffith that the engine in question was being used for pumping, and the Parys Carreg y Doll shaft, on the evidence of *Trem yn Ol*, is clearly an uphaulage shaft.

¹²⁷ UWB Mona Mine 2025-2029.

- ¹²⁸ Mining Journal 6 November 1880, p. 262, 11 December 1880, p. 1418.
- ¹²⁹ R. Vernon, "Parys Mountain Copper Mine: past, present and future" *GD/IG* 1 (1996), p. 44, UWB Mona Mine 3358.
- ¹³⁰ UWB General Collection fs 31590.
- ¹³¹ Mining Journal 1880, p. 134.
- ¹³² E. Cockshutt, op. cit., p. 23, E. Greenly, The Geology of Anglesey (HMSO, 1919) p. 842.

- ¹³³ Mining Journal 1880, p. 134, Cockshutt, loc. cit.
- ¹³⁴ R. Vernon, *op. cit.*, p. 43.
- ¹³⁵ Mining Journal 23 November 1872, p. 628, 17 February 1872, pp. 142-3, 6 January 1872, p. 6.
- ¹³⁶ E. Cockshutt, *loc. cit.*
- 137 HRO D/DM/279/1.
- ¹³⁸ Mining Journal 23 April 1881, p. 504.
- ¹³⁹ Copy in possession of Bryan Hope.
- ¹⁴⁰ Mining Journal 1880, p. 134.
- ¹⁴¹ UWB Mona Mine 2025-2029.
- ¹⁴² W. Havell, The Great Opencast (in possession of the Most Hon. the Marquess of Anglesey), O. Griffith, op. cit., p. 39.
- ¹⁴³ See, for instance, LlRO: WDAP3.
- ¹⁴⁴ UWB Mona Mine 3536.
- ¹⁴⁵ UWB Mona Mine 3040.
- ¹⁴⁶ D. Tomos (ed.), op. cit., p. 78.
- ¹⁴⁷ J. Rowlands, Copper Mountain (Llangefni 1981) pp. 73-5.
- ¹⁴⁸ UWB Mona Mine 3285.
- ¹⁴⁹ Pers. comm., Bryan Hope.
- ¹⁵⁰ UWB Mona Mine 1051, 1550, 2792.
- ¹⁵¹ D Tomos (ed.), *loc cit.*.
- ¹⁵² LIRO: WDAP3, cost-analysis of Parys mine, 3 September 1827.
- ¹⁵³ UWB Mona Mine 2636, Boyd 1986.
- ¹⁵⁴ E.W. Hughes, Trem yn Ol (Llangefni, 1987) p. 55.

¹⁵⁵ The chair was discovered by Mr Peter Swift, who cannot recall the exact location at which it was discovered. The jaws are 1" deep and can accommodate a bar 1" wide. Such permanent way was being introduced into local slate quarries and into Cornish mines in the 1820s - pers. comm., Dr M.J.T. Lewis.

- ¹⁵⁶ R. Vernon, *op. cit.*, p. 44, plate 1., UWB Mona Mine 3358.
- ¹⁵⁷ UWB Bangor MS 31602.
- ¹⁵⁸ UWB Bangor MS 31603.
- ¹⁵⁹ O. Griffith, op. cit., pp. 15-16.
- ¹⁶⁰ O. Griffith, *op. cit.*, pp. 53-57.
- ¹⁶¹ UWB Bangor MS 31603.
- ¹⁶² UWB Bangor MS 31602.
- ¹⁶³ Lines on Roose's tombstone, Amlwch church yard.
- ¹⁶⁴ UWB General Collection 31603, Mona Mine 3040.
- ¹⁶⁵ O. Griffith, *op. cit.*, pp. 71-7.
- ¹⁶⁶ E. Cockshutt, *op. cit.*, p. 23.
- ¹⁶⁷ North Wales Gazette 26 July 1821; I am grateful to Griff Jones of Blaenau Ffestiniog for this and the following reference.
- ¹⁶⁸ *Ibid.*, 6 December 1821.
- ¹⁶⁹ Bryan Hope, *op. cit.*, p. 64.

Mynydd Parys Copper Mine

Archaeological Assessment (G1469)

Appendix 1

SITE GAZETTEER

Ymddiriedolaeth Archaeolegol Gwynedd Gwynedd Archaeological Trust



















1 Extrac <i>Site grade</i>	tion area D	Category	Extraction	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44059045
A working face Threat	, approxin	nately 2m high, v	vith a small fan of	waste to the sout	h.	
Resumption of Management Level 2 recordi	mining (p ng.	lanning consent l	May 1986)			
2 Structu <i>Site grade</i>	ıre E	Category	Unassigned	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44049044
Constructed our south gable. The and the fact that and a prime mo accessed by (10 Threat Resumption of Management Level 2 recordi	t of oxidis e structure t the under over were)). mining (p ng.	ed stone; only th e measures 2m ac rground workings installed here. It lanning consent N	e longitudinal wa ross inside the wa s to which (10) giv may also have ho May 1986); bulldo	Ils survive, up to a Ils and 7m Long in yes access contain pused a winch for pzing	a maximum of 2m high, apa nside the walls. It may have piping for compressed-air s hauling the ore up the incl	art from a fragment of the been connected with (10), uggests that a compressor ined section of the tunnel
3 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44039045
Description Site only; capp disturbance nea Threat Resumption of Management Level 1 recordi	ed but the rby. mining (p ng	e number on the lanning consent l	concrete post ere May 1986); bulldo	octed to mark its p	position is illegible. There	is evidence of bulldozing
4 Flue Site grade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44079043
Description A stone-built su is much overgro Threat Proximity to ro	lphur flue own with l	. consisting of tw heather.	o parallel stone wa	alls 20m long, eac	h 0.7m wide and high, separ	ated by 0.8m. This feature
Management This feature sho contour survey	ould be profine the area	reserved in situ. I a adjacent to it.	It should be a prio	ority for a full ph	otographic record and meas	sured survey, to include a
5 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Site only; cappo	C ed, no. 42.	Category	Extraction	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44099042
Threat Resumption of Management Level 1 recordin	mining (p ng,	lanning consent l	May 1986)			
6 Kiln <i>Site grade</i> Description	А	Category.	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH43999042

Site only; visible as a sub-oval depression in an area of built-up waste, approximately 2m deep, 6m wide at its widest point and 17m long. There is much pinkish discolouration in the stone. This feature appears to be related to (7). **Threat**

Proximity to roadway; collapse; resumption of mining, (planning consent May 1986)

Management

This feature should be preserved in situ. It should be a priority for a full photographic record and measured survey, to include a contour survey of the area adjacent to it.

7 F	lue						SH43999044
Site grad	le	А	Category	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	

Description

A stone-built sulphur flue, orientated north-east to south-west, related to (6) and parallel to its longer axis. The two parallel walls are 16m long, :> I m high, 0.8m wide and 0.6m apart. A slot for a duct is visible in the south-west facing wall. To the north-east of the flue near its northern end is an enclosed area, visible only as the lowest courses of a stone wall, measuring 12 by 3m within the walls. Threat

Proximity to roadway; vegetation; collapse. resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986)

Management

This feature should be preserved in situ. It should be a priority for a full photographic record and measured survey, to include a contour survey of the area adjacent to it.

SH44019044

SH44019043

SH44049045

8 Flue

Site grade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	
Description						

A substantial stone-built sulphur flue, consisting of parallel walls T-shaped in plan, 28m long on their longer axis, 20 on the shorter (cross-stroke) axis. The walls are 1m high, 0.8m wide and 1.5m apart; there are traces of side ducts. This feature appears to be related to (9).

Threat

Proximity to roadway; vegetation; collapse; resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986)

Management

This feature should be preserved in situ. It should be a priority for a full photographic record and measured survey, to include a contour survey of the area adjacent to it.

Kiln

Site grade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI
D					

Description

An ore kiln, visible as a sub-oval depression, 4m deep on its up slope side, 15m wide north-east to south-west, 15m wide north-west to south-east.

Threat

9

Proximity to roadway; collapse; resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986)

Management

This feature should be preserved in situ. It should be a priority for a full photographic record and measured survey, to include a contour survey of the area adjacent to it.

10 Adit					
Site grade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	Lichenological SSSI
Description					

Description

An inclined shaft, offering access to the underground workings, deliberately obscured and covered with an lockable metal grating in order to discourage unauthorised access. This leads to a three largely horizontal levels, respectively 10rn, 20m and 30m below the surface, evidently for the most part of late nineteenth century date, as compressed-air piping, possibly generated in (2), survives in situ. However, at its furthest reach, it extends to an area of pre-Modern mining, in which a working area has been backfilled by a slightly later tip, in which horizons of clay were also observed, as well as a considerable number of hammer-stones. The foot of a shaft (405) is visible here.

Threat

Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986)

Management

The entry is kept locked, and access to the underground workings is only possible to properly authorised persons. As the only access to underground workings, this feature is of great importance.

11	Kiln						SH44119042
Site gr	ade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	
Descrip	otion						
Visible	as a depi	ression	built into a gently	-sloping hillside, 3	m deep on the up	slope side, measuring 24m b	y 8m in plan.

Threat

Proximity to roadway; collapse; resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986)

Management

This feature should be preserved in situ. It should be a priority for a full photographic record and measured survey, to include a contour survey of the area adjacent to it.

12 Site gr	Flue ade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44129043
Descrip A possil Threat Proximi	tion ole sulpl	hur conde	ensing chamber, up	slope of and asso \cdot resumption of m	periated with (11),	measuring 20m by 5m, ext onsent May 1986)	remely dilapidated.
Manage This fea contour	ement ature sho survey	ould be p of the are	reserved in situ. It a adjacent to it.	t should be a prior	rity for a full pho	otographic record and mea	sured survey, to include a
13 <i>Site gr</i> Descrin	Kiln <i>ade</i> tion	А	Category	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44119044
A substa Threat	antial de	epression,	20m by 5m in pla	n, apparently a kil	In-site.		
Proximi Manag	ty to roa	adway; co	ollapse; resumption	n of mining (plann	ing consent May	1986)	
This fea	ture sho survey	ould be p of the are	reserved in situ. If a adjacent to it.	t should be a prior	rity for a full pho	otographic record and mea	sured survey, to include a
14 <i>Site gra</i> Descrip Site onl	Shaft <i>de</i> tion y; cappe	C ed, no. 43	Category	Extraction	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44069046
Threat Resump Manage Level 1	tion of a ement recordin	mining (p ng	lanning consent M	1ay 1986)			
15 Site gr	Kiln ade	А	Category	Processing.	<i>Site status</i> Lich	nenological SSSI	SH44099046
Visible a north-w with (16 Threat	as a dep est. It is b).	ression bi approxir	uilt into a sloping l nately 4m deep or	nillside, sub-oval i a the up slope (nor	n plan and measu th-western) side	aring 19m south-west to not and 1 m deep on the down	rth-east, 10m south-east to slope face. It is associated
Proximi Manage This fea include	ty to roa ement ture sho a contou	adway. co ould be pr ur survey	eserved in situ. It of the area adjace	n of mining (plann should be a priorit nt to it.	ing consent May	1986) graphic record and measur	ed survey, to
16 <i>Site gr</i>	Flue ade	А	Category	Processing	<i>Site status</i> Lich	nenological SSSI	SH44069049
A sulph Threat	ur conde	ensing flu	e, associated with	(15), now extreme	ely dilapidated.		
Proximi Manage This fea contour	ty to roa e ment ature sho survey	adway; ve ould be p of the are	egetation; collapse reserved in situ. In a adjacent to it.	; resumption of m t should be a prior	ining (planning c rity for a full pho	onsent May 1986) otographic record and mea	sured survey, to include a

Site grade		С	Category	Extraction	Site status Lichenological SSSI	
Collapsed an visible on the Threat Resumption Managemen Level 2 reco	d no e sou of m it rding	w only w th. There ining (pl	risible as a depress e is much light-col anning consent M	sion on which ther oured waste arour ay 1986)	e is a profuse growth of heather. Part of the s ad this feature.	tone shaft-collar wall is
18 Sha<i>Site grade</i>Description	ft	С	Category	Extraction	Site status Lichenological SSSI	SH44129049
The Parys m a corrugated	ine C iron	arreg y building	Doll shaft - site on which presumabl	ly; capped. A phot y housed the steam	ograph in Trern yn Ol shows a timber uphaul n winding engine.	age headframe here and
Threat Resumption Managemen Level 2 reco	of m I t rding	ining (pl	anning consent M	ay 1986)		
19 Stru <i>Site grade</i> Description	icture	e E	Category	Unknown	Site status Lichenological SSSI	SH44129050
Dilapidated s	stone	walls, p	ossibly forming p	art of the winding-	engine house for Carreg y Doll shaft (18).	
Resumption Management Level 2 reco	of m I t rding	ining (pl 5.	anning, consent M	lay 1986)		
20 Stru Site grade	cture	e D	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44129056
The site of a Threat Resumption Management Level 2 reco	build of m it rding	ling and ining (pl	an associated wal anning consent M	led enclosure, hea ay 1986)	vily dilapidated and overgrown with heather.	
21 Stru Site grade Description	icture	e D	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44129058
An enclosed Threat Resumption Managemen Level 2 reco	area of m t rding	, heavily ining (pl ;.	dilapidated and o anning consent M	vergrown with hea ay 1986); vegetati	on.	
22 Sha <i>Site grade</i> Description	ft	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44129054
Visible as a c Threat Resumption Management Level 2 reco	lepre of m i t rding	ssion 8- ining (pl	9m deep, sub-squa anning consent M	re in plan and mea ay 1986)	asuring approximately 15m across.	
23 Sha <i>Site grade</i> Description	ft	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44109055

Site only, capped.
Threat
NA.
Management
Level 1 recording,

24 Site gr	Water-c	ourse C	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44019066
A conto and eart Threat Erosion Manag Level 2	ur leat at th. ement recordin	288m ab g.	oove ordnance d	atum, approximate	ly I m wide, excavated from t	he topsoil, and making some use of stones
25 Site gr Descrip A collap Threat Collaps Manag Level 2	Shaft cade otion osed shaf e. ement recordin	D t, visible g.	<i>Category</i> only as a pile o	Extraction f spoil.	Site status	SH44269077
26 Site gr Descrip A conce Threat Proximi Manag Analysi	Hamme cade otion entration ity to foo ement s of the s	orstone fi A of hamm tpath. lag.	nd-spot <i>Category</i> er-stones was o	Processing bserved in this area	<i>Site status</i> a and a stray find of slag.	SH44079073
27 Site gr	Extracti <i>ade</i>	on area B	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44629073
A small have be Threat Collaps Manag If the an	and shal en cracke e. ement rea is to b	low oper ed by hea e disturb	n working, L-sha at. ped. any hamme	aped in plan, showi r-stones should be r	ng no evidence of jumper-ho recovered.	les or blasting, and in which the rock may
28 Site gr Descrip A possi Threat Erosion Manag Level 2	Precipit rade otion ble precip ement recordin	ation sys B bitation p g.	stem <i>Category</i> bit, fed by water	Extraction carried on (24).	Site status	SH44019066
29 Site gr	Shaft <i>ade</i>	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44019076

Description

A shaft, blocked by a concrete plug through which a length of cast-iron piping emerges, 1.5m below its lip, surrounded by spoil. Traces of ginging are evident. T

30 A	dit					SH44479092
Site grade	е	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	
An adit mo	n outh. m	uch ove	ergrown, from w	hich water emerges	s. It is believed that this extends	s south for 250m then comes to an abrupt
end.	,			8		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Threat						
Managem	ent					
Level 2 rec	cording	g. The co	ourse of the adit	should also be sur	veyed.	
31 Pr	recipit	ation sys	stem			SH44649084
Site grade	e	C	Category	Extraction	Site status	
Descriptio	n three	nrecinit	ation nits built a	long the contour r	now heavily overgrown	
Threat	unee	precipita	ation pits built a	iong, the contour, i	low neavily overgrown.	
Vegetation						
Managem	ent	r				
	Jorum	<u>,</u>				
••						
32 Pi	ecipit	ation sys	stem Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43759062C
Descriptio	n	C	Curegory	Extraction	Suc Suuns	
A series of	now il	l-define	d copper and ocl	hre precipitation pit	s built onto the north-west facing	ng slopes of the mountain below the level
of the Llan	erchyi	nedd to	Amlwch road.	The system has bee functing from one pi	n partly buried by the construc t to another survive in the path	tion of the lay-by and is elsewhere much at one point. Immediately downslope are
a number c	of subs	tantial ti	ips containing m	nuch ochreous mate	erial.	at one point. Ininequatery downsiope are
Threat						
Proximity 1	to road ent	1.				
Level 3 rec	cording	<u>z</u> .				
33 St	ructur	e				SH43749063
Site grade	е	Е	Category	Unknown	Site status	
Descriptio	n	iroular	nlan faaturaa ar	noted here on the	25" and names any of which	and trade was noted
Two subsite Threat	muar	incular-j	plan leatures are	e noted here on the	25 of unance survey, of which	no nace was noted.
NA.						
Managem	ent	~				
Level 1 rec	oraing	3.				
34 St	tructur	e F	Category	Unknown	Sita status	SH43809063
Descriptio	n	L	Culegory	UIKIIOWII	Sue siuius	
A structure	is not	ed here	on the 25" ordn	ance survey, appare	ently roofless by 1900, of whic	h no trace was observed.
Threat						
Managem	ent					
Level 1 rec	cording	g.				
35 C	obbing	g floor				SH43739063
<i>Site grade</i> Descriptio	e n	С	Category	Processing,	Site status	

Part of a possible cobbing floor is exposed at this point; elsewhere the area is much overgrown by heather,

Threat Vegetation. Management Level 1 recording.					
36 Structure <i>Site grade</i> E	3	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH43769066
Description					
A roofless structure Threat Vegetation. Management Level 3 recording.	e is marl	xed here on the 25	" ordnance survey	y, of 1900. The site is now heavily over-grow	n.
37 Road					SH43859071
<i>Site grade</i> (Description	C	Category	Transport	Site status	
An engineered cart Threat Vegetation. Management Level 1 recording.	road to	the precipitation	system (32) from t	the Llanerchymedd to Amlwch road.	
38ShaftSite gradeCDescriptionSite only, capped, 1Threat	C no. 46.	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43779053
Resumption of mir Management Level 1 recording.	ning (pla	nning consent Ma	ay 1986)		
39 Precipitat	ion syste	em			SH43759052
<i>Site grade</i> E Description	3	Category	Extraction	Site status	
A single pit, partly feature (40). Threat Resumption of mir Management Level 2 recording.	disturbe	ed by road wideni	ng and partly by th ay 1986); proximit	he construction of a roadside gully. It is defin ty to road.	ed alone, three sides by
40 Retaining <i>Site grade</i> E	wall 3	Category	Structural	Site status	SH43759051
A stone retaining wall, 2m high, which has suffered some collapse in places.					
Threat Resumption of mir Management Level 2 recording.	ning (pla	nning consent Ma	ay 1986); collapse		
41 Water-cou <i>Site grade</i> C Description	irse C	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43749051
Collapse in feature Threat	(40) ha	s exposed some ti	mbering, which m	ay have formed part of a ducting system into	o (39).

-	
Threa	t

Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording.,

42	Structur	e				SH43749050
Site g	rade	Е	Category	Unknown	Site status	
Descri	ption					
Two ex	posed tim	ber baull	ks, one vertical, o	one horizontal, wh	nich may possibly have formed par	t of a wooden staging either to carry
water o	or a tramw	ay.				
Resum	, ntion of m	nining (nl	anning consent N	Jay 1986): collan	Se	
Manag	ement	nning (pi		ing 1960), conup		
Level 1	recording	g,				
	·					
10	D'11					
43 Site of	Pillars	C	Cataoran	Downer Cite of	4 m 4 m m	SH43779042
Sue gi Descrit	<i>ruue</i> ntion	C	Calegory	Power Sile Si	alus	
A row	of four st	one-built	pillars. 1m high	possibly for carr	rving a launder or flatrods. They a	ppear to line up with (38) and to be
associa	ted with (44), and	may have been in	ntended to carry p	ump-water from (38) to (45).	
Threat		//	5	5 1		
Resum	ption of m	nining (pl	anning consent N	May 1986)		
Manag	gement					
Level 1	recording	g.				
44	Structur	e				SH43779041
Site g	rade	Е	Category	Unknown	Site status	
Descri	ption					
A proje	cting time	per expos	sed on the norther	rn periphery of (4	5), and in alignment with (43).	
Desum	; ntion of m	ining (n	anning consent N	Jay 1086)		
Manao	ement	nning (pi		viay 1980)		
Level 1	recording	g.				
		5.				
	- · ·					
45	Precipit	ation sys	tem			SH43709040
Sile gi	raae	В	Category	Extraction	Site status	
An exte	ensive cor	oper and	ochre precipitatio	on system in which	ch brick floors were noted and argi	a constructed out of stone enclosing
heaped	precipita	te. The s	outhern limit of	the system has be	een disturbed by the construction	of a recent road and spoil has been
dumped	d on the n	orth-wes	t side.	5	5	1
Threat						
Resum	ption of m	nining (pl	anning consent N	May 1986)		
Manag	gement					
Level 3	recording	B				
46	Structur	e				SH43809036
Site g	rade	Е	Category	Processing	Site status	
Descri	ption					
A struc	ture mark	ed on the	25" ordnance su	rvey of 1900 as ro	oofed, and which now only survive	es to the first few courses.
I hreat	; ntion of m	ining (n	anning concent N	In 1086) provin	nity to road	
Manao	puon or m ement	inning (pi	anning consent r	viay 1980), proxin	hity to Toad.	
Level 3	recording	g				
		-				
47	C1 ·					01142020072
41 Site ~	Chimne	у	Catagom	Drocessing	Site status	SH43939052
Descri	<i>nue</i>	D	Cutegory	riocessing	sue suius	
The bas	se only su	rvives, a	stone structure. r	nuch collapsed. I	m high, 1.5 by 2m in plan, associa	ted with (48), g.v.
Threat	, j - 0	- , ,		T , _		× // 1

48 Flue <i>Site grade</i> B Description	Category	Processing	Site status	SH43929055		
A flue, 0.6m wide and 0.5 deep, stone-lined, which ascends the tip to the base of (47), and which is surrounded by a fine yellow material on either side. For the most part it is visible as a shallow depression, but capping stones survive on the lower part. There is no evident trace of a kiln or smelter at its foot apart from the collapsed stone which constitutes (54), q.v.						
Resumption of minin Management Level 3 recording.	ng (planning consent	May 1986)				
49 Structure <i>Site grade</i> E	Category	Unassigned	Site status	SH43959051		
Description Low (>1m) stone walls may be evident at this point, though it is hard to be certain that these are built features. There is much fine yellow waste at this point, and a flue (50), q.v. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording.						
50 Flue Site grade C	Category	Processing	Site status	SH43959051		
A possible flue was noted on the level part of the tip, apparently associated with (49) and possibly connecting on to (48). It is apparent only as a shallow depression marked by a growth of heather. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 3 recording.						
51 Structure Site grade E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH43889050		
Description A mound of stones 1.5m high, which includes a built wall on its east side, situated on the lip of the tip; immediately to its south-east is a depression I m deep by 20m, by 5m in plan, and down slope to the north is a further depression 20m by 6m in plan built into slope of the tip. Threat						
Resumption of minin Management Level 2 recording.	ng (planning consent	May 1986)				
52StructureSite gradeEDescriptionAn inclined stone enThreatResumption of mininManagementLevel 1 recording.	<i>Category</i> nbankment of uncertang (planning consent	Unknown ain purpose. May 1986)	Site status	SH43879050		
53 Structure <i>Site grade</i> E Description	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH43909051		

A stone-lined sub-rectangular depression 3m by 4m in plan, I m deep. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 54 SH43929056 Structure Site grade Е Category Unknown Site status Description Area of collapsed stone, suggesting a that there was a substantial structure here, possibly a smelter or kiln associated with (47) and (48). Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 3 recording. 55 Road SH43829051 Site grade В Category Transport Site status Description An engineered cart-road, running in places on a built-up embankment. Threat Resumption of mining (planning, consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 56 Engine house SH43839055 Site grade С Category Power Site status Description The base for the steam engine which powered Gwen's shaft (38), q.v. The base includes both stonework and brickwork, and four holding-down bolts are evident, with square-section nuts. The assemblage suggests a single-cylinder horizontal engine. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 3 recording. 57 Bridge SH43839053 С Site grade Category Transport Site status Description Exposed timbers here (two near vertical and one horizontal) suggest a bridge carrying either a launder or a tramway across the road into the mine site as well as over (58). Threat Resumption of mining, (planning consent May 1986), collapse. Management Level 1 recording, 58 Precipitation system SH43829053 Site grade С Category Extraction Site status Description A possible precipitation pit was identified at this point. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. SH43809054 59 Structure Site grade Е Category Unknown Site status Description Two upright timbers, lining up with (56).
Threat Resumption of mining, (planning consent May 1986) **Management** Level 1 recording.

60 Site gr Descrip Site onl Threat Resump Manag Level 2	Shaft cade otion y, capped otion of n ement recordin	C l, no. 45. nining (pl. g.	<i>Category</i> anning consent M	Extraction ay 1986)	Site status	SH43919058
61 Site gr Descrip Part of a Threat Resump Manag Level 2	Cobbing ade otion a cobbing otion of n ement recordin	g floor C g floor is e nining (pla g.	<i>Category</i> exposed at this poi anning consent M	Processing nt. ay 1986)	Site status	SH43919059
62 Site gr Descrip A shallo Threat Resump Manag Level 1	Precipit cade otion ow rectan otion of n ement recordin	ation syst C gular dep nining (pl: g.	tem <i>Category</i> ression at this point anning consent Ma	Extraction nt may have been a ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> a copper precipitation pit.	SH43989066
63 Site gr Descrip An irreg Threat Erosion Manag Level 1	Precipit rade otion gularly-sh ement recordin	ation syst C naped dep g.	tem <i>Category</i> pression in which w	Extraction vater has gathered	<i>Site status</i> , and which may have been constructed as a c	SH43999065
64 Site gr Descrip An irreg as a cop Threat Resump Manag Level 1	Precipit rade otion gular area oper preci- otion of n ement recordin	ation syst C bounded pitation p nining (pla g.	tem <i>Category</i> by a road and by bit. anning consent Ma	Extraction the foot of the tips ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> in which water has gathered and which may l	SH43939062 nave been purpose-built
65 Site gr Descrip A stone Threat Collaps Manag	Structur <i>rade</i> otion -built fea e. ement	re E ture enclo	<i>Category</i> osing a rectangular	Unknown r area on the east o	<i>Site status</i> of (45). possibly a retaining	SH43879041 ng wall.

Level 1 recording.

66 Site g Descrip Possibl Threat NA. Manag Level 2	Shaft rade ption e site; vis cement 2 recording	C ible as de g.,	<i>Category</i> pression only.	Extraction	Site status	SH44009051
67 <i>Site g</i> Descrip A low s	Flue <i>rade</i> ption stone wall	C partly on	<i>Category</i> the flat, partly bu	Processing ilt up the slope of	<i>Site status</i> a tip; 1.5m wide, 2m <u>high.</u>	SH44009052
Threat Collaps Manag Level 2	se. g ement 2 recording	g				
68 <i>Site g</i> Descri	Retainir <i>rade</i> ption	ng wall C	Category	Structural	Site status	SH44059050
Trace of Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	of retaining se. gement recording	g wall, bu g.	ilt of country rock	t, 2m high.		
69 Site g	Structur <i>rade</i>	re E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44059052
The for stone fl Threat Vegetar Manag Level 2	rmer Iard 1 looring is tion; colla gement ? recordin;	Brwmstar apparent, pse. g.	n ("Brimstone Yard though much dist	d"); the walling ma urbed.	arked on the 1900 25" ordnance survey is no	longer visible, but some
70 <i>Site g</i> Descri	Structur <i>rade</i>	re E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44079053
An area is now Threat Vegetat Manag Level 2	a shown o very heav tion; colla gement 2 recording	n the 190 ily overg pse. g,.	0 25" ordnance su rown with gorse an	rvey map as an er nd heather, though	nclosed area with a building on its western pe the remains of collapsed structures are visib	erimeter; the whole area le.
71 Site g	Structur <i>rade</i>	re E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH43949035
Descrip A smal Threat NA. Manag	ption l rectangu gement	lar-plan f	eature is marked h	tere on the 1900 2.	5" ordnance survey, of which no trace remain	15.
Level 1	recordin	g.				

72 Site gr	Shaft ade	Е	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH43909032
A shaft indicate	is marked its positi	d here on ion.	the 1900 25" ordr	nance survey, of w	hich no trace is vis	sible. Six finger-run tips rac	liating to the south may
Resump Manage Level 2	otion of m ement recording	nining (pla g.	anning consent Ma	ay 1986)			
73 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip	Shaft <i>ade</i> otion	С	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH43859046
A shaft, feature	now visi extending	ble as a c g to the so	ircular depression, outh-east marked o	, surrounded by a l on the 1900 25" or	ow (>1m) stone w dnance survey maj	all, 10m in diameter. There p.	is no trace of the linear
Resump Manage Level 2	otion of m ement recording	nining (pla g.,	anning consent Ma	ay 1986)			
74 Site gr	Windmi ade	ill A	Category	Power	Site status	SAM/Lichenological SSSI	SH44329051
A windr connect only sur Threat Collapse Manage Level 5	nill const ed to the viving w e. ement survey. T	ructed in engine by indmill of	1878 as an auxilia 7 200' of flatrods 1 n an extractive site re is a Scheduled A	ry to the existing s noving on dolly p e in the United Kir Ancient Monumen	steam engine (109) osts (108). It was n ngdom. t, and is also an el	which pumped Cairns' sha unusual in having five sails ement in a lichenological S	ft (107), and which was . It is believed to be the SSI.
75 Site gr	Structur ade	re E	Category	Unknown	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SF144329053
A severative build the build Threat Collapse Manag Level 1	ely dilapi ding. e. ement recording	dated stru g,	ucture, whose wal	ls stand to a maxir	num of 1m high. T	There are shattered Cambri	an roofing slates within
76 Site gr Descrip A mode Threat NA. Manage None.	Bench r <i>ade</i> otion m bench ement	nark D mark.	Category	Other	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44319054
77 Site gr Descrip Site only Threat NA. Manage Level 1	Shaft <i>ade</i> otion y, capped ement recording	C I. no. 30. g.	Category	Extraction	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44379056

78 Horse-w Site grade Description Associated with the Threat Vegetation. Management Level 1 recording	vhim circ C feature (7 g,	le <i>Category</i> 7); 14m in diamet	Power er, overgrown wit	<i>Site status</i> h heather, and surr	Lichenological SSSI rounded by a low stone wa	SH44349056 II.
79 Road Site grade Description A mine road to the Threat Motorbike scram Management Level 1 recording	C ne area ar bling. g,	<i>Category</i> ound the windmill	Transport (74).	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44359052
80 Site grade Description An extensive cob and a roadway ha map. Threat Collapse; rework Management Level 2 recording	Cobbing B bing floo s been bu ing. g.	g floor <i>Category</i> r on two levels, on uilt through the fea	Processing e 2m higher than t ture. There are not	<i>Site status</i> the other., this who w no remains of the	le area has been extensively e buildings shown on the 19	SH44379057C y reworked for hardcore, 900 25" ordnance survey
81 Shaft Site grade Description Possible site only lintel - possibly a Threat Collapse. Management Level 1 recording	C y; visible natural f g.	<i>Category</i> as a depression 12 feature. On the nor	Extraction 2m in diameter, 4- th side of the dep	<i>Site status</i> -5m deep. On the ression is a trace o	east side 2m down a large f stone walling.	SH44719056 slab of rock is set like a
82 Road Site grade Description A cart road. in fa Threat Scrambling. Management Level 1 recording	B ir conditi g,	<i>Category</i> on, embanked in p	Transport laces.	Site status		SH44429061
83 Structur Site grade Description A stone retaining Threat Collapse. Management Level 1 recordin	e E g wall in s g.	<i>Category</i> an area exposed b <u>y</u>	Unknown y recent tip workin	<i>Site status</i> ng, 6m+ in height.		SH44429062

84 <i>Site gi</i> Descrip	Structur rade	e E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44279064
A low r Threat Vegetat Manag Level 1	idge or wa ion. ement recording	all, overg g.	rown with heather	and covered with	moss, but apparently stone-built. Probably a	water-course.
85 Site gi	Precipita rade	ation syst C	em <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH44379063
Descrip An eart Threat Vegetat Manag Level 1	h or stone ion. ement recording	e dam, wh	ose walls stand to	I m high, overgro	wn with heather; it appears to have formerly	fed into (86).
86 Site gr Descrip A shalle Threat	Water-co rade otion ow contou	ourse C Ir gulley a	<i>Category</i> apparently inclined	Extraction d downwards to th	<i>Site status</i> e east.	SH44349062
Manag Level 1	ement recording	5				
87 Site gr Descrip	Shaft rade ation	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44259068
A shaft, Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	blocked be. ement recording	to within g.,	I m of the lip; the	re is no spoil prese	ent, suggesting a shallow trial.	
88 Site g Descrip A tiny t Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	Extraction grade otion rial, 0.5m e. ement recording	on area D deep. g,	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44269068
89 <i>Site</i> Descrip	Extraction grade ption	on area A where o	<i>Category</i> n 8 September 183	Extraction	<i>Site status</i>	SH44309060

The Oxen Quarry, where on 8 September 1831 1,400 were entertained by the mine management on the occasion of the coronation of King William IV. The quarry is a shallow cutting approximately 15m in diameter and has been partly obscured by later nineteenth century tipping and by stone quarrying, but may have been worked in Prehistory as an opencast for copper, and is associated with a tip immediately to the north (90) in which Oliver Davies carried out excavations and which were subsequently located and re-excavated by Simon Timberlake and the Early Mines Research Group. There are no visible shot-holes in the quarry face.

Threat

Vegetation.

Management

Further work to establish the scope and extent of Prehistoric working.

90 <i>Site grade</i>	Hamme A	r-stone find <i>Category</i>	Processing	Site status	SH443109059
A Prehistoric tip of and lenses of cha Early Mines Reso considers to be the Threat Vegetation. Management This area has alread	excavated arcoal ov earch Gro ne coastlin eady been	l by Oliver Davies erlaying a red-yel oup, which identif ne west of Amlwc n excavated by Oli	in the summer of llow clay. This wa ied over thirty peb h.	1937, consisting of layers of shale and quartz a subsequently re-excavated in 1988 by Sim oble hammer-stones, the most likely source for mon Timberlake, and the results published.	nd with hammer-stones on Timberlake and the or which Dr Timberlake
91 Structur	e				SH44189069
<i>Site grade</i> Description	Е	Category	Unknown	Site status	
Two iron tubes se Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording	et into the g.	e 2round on a nort	h to south axis - po	ossibly boundary markers.	
92	Precipita	ation system		~	SH44159069C
Site grade Description	В	Category	Extraction	Site status	
A series of five co growth of heather Threat Proximity to path Management Level 3 recording	opper pre r; thereaf 1. g.	copitation pits, applet the flow is from	parently fed by a c n east to west fron	hannel down the slope of the tip to the south, n the first to the second pit, then south to north	now marked as a linear 1 down-slope.
93 Structur Site grade	e E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44149068
Description A small structur stonework. Threat Collapse; proxim Management Level 1 recording	e, marke ity to pat g.	d on the 25" orc	lnance survey of	1900 as roofless, and which survives only	as the first course of
94 Road Site grade	С	Category	Transport	Site status	SH44139070
Description Cart-road access	to the m	ine.			
Scrambling; vehi Management Level 1 recording	cular acc g.	ess to modern wo	rkings.		
95 Shaft	-	_			SH44159052
<i>Site grade</i> Description	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	
A depression, 13 lip on the south s underground wor	m in dian side, and kings.	meter, and betwee the feature probab	en 5 and 6m, deep bly represents a co	, which exposes bedrock. There is a possible ollapsed shaft-head. Tradition speaks of it as a	e trace of a constructed a footway access to the

Threat

Collapse.

Management Level 1 recording..

96 Site gr Descrip An iron Threat NA. Manag Level 1	Structur rade otion tube, pos ement recording	e E ssibly a bo g.	<i>Category</i> oundary marker.	Unknown	Site status	SH44169052
97 Site g Descrip Three s Threat Resump Manag Level 1	Precipita grade otion hallow pit btion of m ement recording	ation syst C ts on eithe ining (pla g,	em <i>Category</i> er side of the road anning consent Ma	Extraction up to the windmil ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> 1.	SH44209042
98 Site g Descrip The roa Threat Resump Manag Level 1	Road grade otion dway acc otion of m ement recording	C ess to the ining (pla	<i>Category</i> Cairn's shaft and anning, consent M	Transport windmill area, div ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> verted to the north at its junction with (94).	SH44199042
99 Site gr Descrig A shallo Threat Resump Manag Level 1	Water-co rade ption pow gulley ption of m ement recording	ourse C , possibly , ining (pla g	<i>Category</i> feeding (97). anning consent Ma	Extraction ay 1986)	Site status	SH44219043
100 Site gr Descrip A possi Threat Resump Manag Level 2	Precipita rade ption ble coppe ption of m ement recording	ation syst D r precipit iining (pla g.	em <i>Category</i> ation pit, bounded anning consent Ma	Extraction by a tip and much ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> n disturbed.	SH44209044
101 Site gr Descrip A possi Threat Resump Manag Level 2	Precipita rade ption ble coppe ption of m ement recording	ation syst D r precipit iining, (pl g.	em <i>Category</i> ation pit, bounded anning consent M	Extraction by the road and ti ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> pping, much disturbed.	SH44219044

102ShaftSite gradeCDescriptionSite only, capped, no.ThreatNA.	Category 37.	Extraction	Site status	SH44219051
ManagementLevel 1 recording.103 Horse-gin cirSite gradeCDescriptionVery overgrown; assoThreatVegetation.ManagementLevel 1 recording.	rcle <i>Category</i> ciated with (102).	Power <i>Site stat</i>	tus	SH44219052
104ShaftSite gradeCDescriptionSite only, capped, no.ThreatNA.ManagementLevel 2 recording.	<i>Category</i> 3 1; an aperture in the	Extraction	<i>Site status</i> Lichenological SSSI es up with this feature, suggesting that the wi	SH44309050 ndmill wound the shaft.
105ShaftSite gradeEDescriptionA shaft, visible as a spossibly a flue or a retThe site correspondsThreatCollapse.ManagementLevel 2 recording.	<i>Category</i> ub-rectangular depress aining wall, is exposed with Sanderson's shaft	Extraction sion, 5m by 9m in d on the north side.	<i>Site status</i> plan and 2.5m deep. A cross-section through Pieces of timber, possibly for a staging are e	SH44309046 n a stone-built structure, xposed on the west side.
106Horse-gin cirSite gradeCDescriptionThe site is much distuThreatErosion; ground distuManagementLevel 1 recording.	rcle <i>Category</i> rbed and the identifica rbance.	Power <i>Site stat</i>	<i>tus</i> ive; it is associated with 105).	SH44309047
107ShaftSite gradeADescriptionA bracing timber for asupplied to this shaftThreatCollapse.	<i>Category</i> headframe survives of from the windmill (74)	Extraction on the south of the) as well as by the	<i>Site status</i> pit, suggesting that the shaft uphauled as wel engine (109) by means of a flatrod-system (1	SH44249055 l as pumped. Power was 08).

Management

Though this feature has been infilled nearly to the surface, it is of great importance for its relationship with the windmill (74) and the Cairn's engine house (109). The feature should be consolidated.

108	Flatrod	system					SH44269054
Site gr	ade	A	Category	Power	Site stat	us Lichenological SSSI	
Descrip The site shows t immedi Threat Ground Manag Level 2 (74).	otion e of a flatre hat this w ately to th disturbar ement recording	od system as operate ne south-e nce. g,: though	which connected ed on dolly posts, o east of the shaft. h this feature is bar	the Cairn of which rely evide	n's shaft (no trace v ent, it is o	107) with the windmill (74) was observed, but a substant f great importance for its re	and the steam engine (109). Photographs ial balance-box pit, stone-lined, survives lationship with the windmill
109	Engine-	house					SH44279054
Site gi	rade	А	Category	Power	Site stat	us Lichenological SSSI	
The rent though twisted. Threat This feat Manag	nains of a the stone A photog nture is sta ement	a once-sul bed of a s graph in C able.	bstantial engine-ho substantial horizon Owen Griffith's boo	ouse and ntal stean ok shows	boiler-ro n engine that the	om. The buildings themsel is apparent, and a number of buildings were constructed	ves have left practically no visible trace, f holding-down bolts are apparent, much of stone and roofed with slate.
windmi	ll (74).	g; though	this building only	survives	s in very	poor condition, it is of grea	t importance for its relationship with the
110 Site gr	Water-co	ourse C	Category	Power	Site stat	us	SH44899115
Descrip Visible	only as a	contour f	eature in the field.	this char	nnel anne	ars to have fed the waterwh	eel formerly located in (111)
Threat Erosion Manag Level 1	ement recording	g.					
111 Site gi	Water-w <i>ade</i>	vheel pit B	Category	Power		Site status	SH44789113
Descrip A stone connect pumped This is Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	otion -built wa red to the l the shaft the only v e; vegetat ement recording	tter-wheel sewage s immedia vater-whe tion. g.	l pit, extremely d system serving the tely to the south-e el site noted on M	ilapidatea dwell ir ast (112) ynydd Pa	d and ov n.CV Tal , and may arys.	ergrown. A recent brick st y Dyffryn (115), was note / have operated a feature at	ructure and associated piping, probably d at this point. It appears that the wheel (113) by means of a flatrod system (114).
112 Site gr	Shaft <i>ade</i>	В	Category	Extraction	on	Site status	SH44789111
Descrip A pump There is century itself (1 Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	otion o-shaft, no s a trace of watercol 11). The p e. ement recording	ow collap of a small our of Ta painting s g.	sed and heavily o l stone structure o l y Dyffryn (115), hows kibbles hang	vergrown n the nor and whi ging off t	n. A small rth side o ch sugge he angle-	I hand-pump was noted in a f this feature which appear sts that it formed the base f bobs, suggesting that they v	a tree which grows out of the shaft-head. s to be the one recorded in a nineteenth for two angle-bobs from the water-wheel were being used as counterbalances.
113	Structur	e					SH44769121
Site g	rade	Е	Category	Unknow	/n	Site status	

Description Low stone walls at this po- head, or a balance-box ba Threat Collapse; vegetation. Management Level 1 recording.,	pint are much over se for the putative	rgrown, and water flatrod system ide	flows between them. It is possibentified as (114).	ole that this feature was itself a shaft-
 114 Flatrod system <i>Site grade</i> B Description An open area by the side of Threat This area is stable. Management Level 1 recording. 	<i>Category</i> of the Lon Gopar (Power Site sta (118) which may l	<i>tus</i> have formed the site of a flat-rod	SH44779116 system connecting (111) to (113).
115DwellingSite gradeCDescriptionA two-storey dwelling, TaThreatNA.ManagementLevel 2 recording.	<i>Category</i> Il y Dyffryn, in oc	Domestic cupation.	Site status	SH44799108
 116 Dwelling Site grade C Description A two-storey dwelling, Co Threat NA. Management Level 2 recording. 	<i>Category</i> erri y Bleiddiau, ir	Domestic	Site status	SH44839090
117StableSite gradeADescriptionA stone-built monopitch rlocation suggests that it wand the mines.	<i>Category</i> oof structure on the ras a day-stable for	Transport ne south-west side r horses engaged i	<i>Site status</i> of the Lon Gopar, with a large do n pulling carts to and from Porth	SH44809088 oorway on the road side. Its form and a Amlwch

Thr	eat	

Collapse.

Management

Level 4; though this is an unremarkable structure, it is important for its group value with (118).

118 Road

Site grade	Α	Category	Transport	Site status	
Description					

A straight road, built in 1788, connecting the Mona Mine with Porth Amlwch, running slightly west of north; also known as the Lon Melyn and the Lon Menyn. The formation is in places 5m wide, and between Cerrig y Bleiddiau house (116) and the mine itself. It was observed that the western lane of the formation was built out of copper waste, the eastern half out of consolidated hard-core. **Threat**

SH44839082

Continued use as road.

Management

A cross-section diagram should be undertaken of this feature. It is of outstanding importance as a rare example of an eighteenth century industrial road, and should be disturbed as little as possible.

119 Water-course					SH44809081
<i>Site grade</i> E	Category	Unknown	Site sta	itus	
Description Three ponds. which unite unclear whether these are house (122). Threat Vegetation	e at their northern a precipitation sys	end and feed in stem or whether	nto a water they are co	-course that runs down onnected with a boiler fe	the west side of the Lon Gopar. It is eed-water system for the Pearl engine-
Management Level 2 recording.					
120 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> E Description	Category	Unknown	Site sta	atus	SH44789079
A shaft, I m in diameter, (111). It is blocked to the Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording	whose collar cons surface. It may be	ists of slabs lai connected with	id on edge h the Pearl	situated on the edge of engine house. and possi	the made-up around and overlooking bly also with (111).
121 Boiler-house Site grade A	Category	Power <i>Site</i>	<i>status</i> SAN	1	SH44759078
Description The site of a stone-built b integrally with it. From p situated in the south-west Threat	boiler house whose bhotographs it app tern corner has coll	axis runs paral ears to have ha lapsed into the	llel to the bo d a monop boiler-hous	bb wall of the Pearl eng itch roof. It is very hear e-site. It falls within the	ine house (122) but has not been built vily dilapidated. An integral chimney e Scheduled area.
This feature has recently Management	been cleared of ve	getation by the	Welsh Min	es Preservation Trust.	
Consolidation, and recons	struction of the chi	imney. This fea	ture is a Sc	heduled Ancient Monur	nent.
122 Engine-house <i>Site grade</i> A	Category	Power Site	status	SAM	SH44769077
Description The Pearl engine-house; 1819, and later to have ho and Loam. An unusual fe the oldest beam-engine h Monument. Threat This feature is stable. Management	believed to have l bused a beam engin eature is the hoode house in Wales. It	housed a beam the of 1853 built d cowl over the has recently b	engine pur by the Perr e beam, of een consoli	nping engine construct an Foundry through the which traces remain in idated with grant-aid fr	ed by the Neath Abbey Ironworks in consulting engineers Messrs Hocking the stonework. This is believed to be rom Cadw. It is a Scheduled Ancient
This feature is stable. It fo	orms a Scheduled	Ancient Monun	nent.		
123 Capstan-pit <i>Site grade</i> A Description	Category	Power Site	status		SH44769076
A pit for a manually-oper 1997) consolidated with g Threat This feature is stable.	rated capstan to ha grant-aid from Cad	ul pump-rods u lw.	ip and dow	n the shaft for repair an	d renewal (124); recently (November
Management This feature has recently which should be extended	been conserved. I d to include it.	t does not fall	within the	area of the Scheduled A	Ancient Monument, the boundaries of

124	Shaft						SH44779075
Site g	rade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	SA M	
Descri	ption						

The site of a pump-shaft, now capped. This is believed to be the Pearl shaft. Threat NA. Management This feature is stable. It forms part of a Scheduled Ancient Monument. 125 SH44779074 Water-course Site grade В Category Power Site status Description A possible water-course, apparent as a stone-lined depression immediately south of shaft (124). Threat Erosion; vegetation. Management Level 1 recording. SH44799077 126 Shaft Site grade С Category Extraction Site status Description Site only, capped. no. 14. Threat Bulldozing. Management Level 1 recording. 127 SH44809075 Shaft Site grade Е Category Extraction Site status Description Site only, capped; this feature lines up with a row of pillars (13 1), and may also be connected with (128). Threat Bulldozing. Management Level 1 recording. 128 SH44799074 Adit Site grade Е Category Extraction Site status Description An excavation which exposes bedrock, approximately 4m deep, overgrown at its southern end where an entry is visible. It may be the entrance to an inclined shaft, but timbers exposed on the western side suggest that it may have carried a flatrod system supported on (131) to (127). Threat Bulldozing Management Level 1 recording. 129 Wall SH44779074 Site grade В Category Structural Site status Description A low (I m high) stone wall. built partly on tipped material. There is the trace of circular-plan chimney near the northern limit of the wall. Threat Collapse. Management Level 2 recording. 130 SH44789075 Water-course Site grade В Category Power Site status

A square-plan pond measuring 7m by 10m, shallow with a stone floor, containing some water, apparently fresh. It is probably

Description

associated with the Pearl engine's (122) supply system, and may have been fed by (159). An early photograph appears to show a cast-iron pipe feeding it from the east. Threat Erosion. Management An EDM survey of this feature has already been carried out. 131 Pillars SH44789072 Е Site grade Category Power Site status Description A row of five stone-built tapering, pillars, measuring (maximum) 3m by 3m at the base and reaching to a maximum height of 2m. They appear to be too substantial to be launder pillars, and may possibly have carried a flatrod system, possibly from (140), or from (122) by means of a fend-off bob to turn it through an acute angle, to (127). Threat Bulldozimg. Management Although an E13M survey of this feature has already been carried out, a contour survey of this feature would establish its relationship with other undiagnostic features nearby. 132 Structure SH44809073 Site grade Е Category Unknown Site status Description A roofless structure is marked here on the 1900 25" ordnance survey. Its site is now considerably overgrown with heather. Traces of the first course only of a stone wall are evident on tile south side. Threat Vegetation; collapse. Management A ground plan and contour survey of this feature would establish its relationship with other undiagnostic features nearby. SH44749079 133 Feature Site grade Е Category. Unknown Site status Description A depression, heavily overgrown, in built-up ground, possibly connected with (121) and (122). Threat Vegetation. Management Ground plan and contour survey of this feature to establish its relationship with other undiagnostic features nearby. 134 SH44589070 Shaft Site grade С Category Extraction Site status Description Site only, capped. Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording.

135 Shaft					SH44609067
Site grade	Е	Category	Extraction	Site status	
Description					
Possible site o	nly.				
Threat					
NA.					
Management					
Level 1 record	ling.				

<i>Site grade</i> Description Site only, capped Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording	C g.	Category	Extraction	Site status	
137 Road Site grade Description	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44739068
Threat Scrambling. Management Level 1 recording	g.	or the Mona Mine	e workings with sr	laft 17 (136).	
138 Shaft Site grade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44739068
Description Sunk through bec the roadway. It is form the best exa Threat This feature is sta Management As the relationshi a replica construct	d-rock, th filled wit mple of f able. ip of this ction to fo	ere are traces of a h stone rubble to eatures once com shaft to the horse- orm part of a guid	a stone-built collar, within 4m of the li mon on Mynydd F gin circle which fo ed walk.	, and a substantial stone retaining wall to the p. It is associated with the horse-whim circle Parys.	south-cast overlooking, (139), and they together uld be incorporated into
139 Horse-g	in circle A	Category	Power	Site status	SH44739069
Description Associated with t so. nothing remai Threat This feature is sta Management As the clearest su	the shaft (ins of the able. arviving e	(13 8); together t whimsy, itself, ar	hey form the best of ad there is no trace	examples of a type of feature once common of even of pivot stone.	on Mynydd Parys. Even oorse-gin.
140 Structure Site grade	e E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44769071
The ruins of a Su phases of use, in ordnance survey associated with th system, in which Threat Vegetation Management	bstantial cluding a map sho ne pillars case it is	stone-built struct in off-ice, which ws a cluster of s (131) that line up possible that this	ure, very seriously survives as a roof mall buildings arc with one of the per structure may hav	dilapidated and overgrown. It appears to have dess structure in the western part of the buil bund an enclosed area. This structure, or set rimeter walls, q.v.: these are suggested as being the been an engine house of some description.	ve gone through_several ding, and the 1900 25" t of structures, may, be g, supports for a flat-rod
undiagnostic feat	etation: e ures near	extended (ground by.	plan and counter	survey to include this feature to establish its	relationship with other
141 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44629060

Site only, capped. It was in this vicinity, that the discovery of 2 March 1768 took place. **Threat**

N.A.

Management Level 1 recording.

142 Site gra	Shaft <i>de</i>	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44629058
Descripti A possibl Threat Collapse. Manager Level 1 re	ion le shaft, ment ecording	visible or g.	nly as a slight dep	ression - apparent	ly capped, but not numbered.	
143 Site grad Descripti A shallow Threat Erosion. Manager Level 1 re	Precipita <i>de</i> ion v depres ment ecording	ation syst C sion in be g.	em <i>Category</i> etween tips may h	Extraction ave been a copper	<i>Site status</i> precipitation pit; it shows no evidence of hav	SH44609057 ving been constructed.
144 J Site grad Descripti Traces of Threat	Precipita <i>de</i> ion `three co	ation syst C opper pon	em <i>Category</i> ids are visible; sor	Extraction ne water remains	<i>Site status</i> in the most southerly. It appears to have been	SH44599062 fed from (239).
Erosion. Manager Level 1 rd 145 Site grad Descripti Site only, Threat NA. Manager Level 1 rd	ment ecording Shaft <i>de</i> ion , capped ment ecording	д. С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44679066
146 Site grat Descripti Blocked Z Threat NA. Manager Level 1 re	Shaft <i>de</i> 2m belo ment ecording	C w the col g.	<i>Category</i> lar by fallen stone	Extraction	Site status	SH44699066
147 (Site grad Descripti A possibl Threat Collapse. Manager Level 1 re	Cobbing <i>de</i> ion le cobbin ment ecording	g floor C ng floor is g.	<i>Category</i> s exposed in colla	Processing, ose at this point.	Site status	SH44699064

148 Kiln <i>Site grade</i> E	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44869076
Description A possible site only; a de Threat Collapse. Management Level 2 recording.	pression was obse	erved at this point	between two piles of waste, I m deep, 13m lo	ng, 2m across.
149Extraction areaSite gradeBDescriptionAn open pit, approximateThreatThis feature is stable.ManagementLevel 2 recording.	<i>Category</i> ely 10m deep, part	Extraction flooded, which ex	<i>Site status</i> xposes bedrock on the north and cast sides.	SH44869073
150RoadSite gradeBDescriptionAn engineered cart road.ThreatContinued use by motorManagementLevel 1 recording.	<i>Category</i> vehicles.	Transport	Site status	SH44949070
151Retaining wallSite gradeBDescriptionA stone retaining wall, 2xThreatCollapse.ManagementLevel 1 recording.	<i>Category</i> m high supporting	Structural (150).	Site status	SH44929064
152StructureSite gradeEDescriptionA structure is marked herThreatN A.ManagementLevel 1 recording.	<i>Category</i> re on the 1900 25"	Unknown ² ordnance survey,	<i>Site status</i> of which no trace now remains.	SH44879075
 153 Dwelling Site grade D Description The house "Henwaith". on mineral extraction and m Threat NA. Management Level 2 recording. 	<i>Category</i> extensively moder ay suggest pre-Ma	Domestic nised and in occu odern work in the	<i>Site status</i> apation. The name (Anglice: "Old Workings") vicinity. Old workings are shown here in 176	SH45109075) is associated with early 4.
154 Road <i>Site grade</i> C Description	Category	Transport	Site status	SH44869078

A cart track to Henwaith (153). **Threat** Continued use as road. **Management** Level 1 recording

155 <i>Site g</i>	Dwellin rade	g D	Category	Domestic	Site status	SH449-590S2
Tai Fry Threat NA. Manag Level 2	extensive gement crecording	ely moder g.	rnised dwellings.			
156 Site g Descrip A cart o Threat Continu Manag Level 1	Road rade ption rack to Ta ued use as cement recording	C i Fry (15 a road. g	<i>Category</i> 5).	Transport	Site status	SH44869079
157 Site g Descrip Site on Threat NA. Manag Level 1	Shaft rade ption ly, capped c gement recording	C	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44799071
158	Shaft	C	Catalogue	Francisco	Site states	SH44799069
Descrip Site on flatrod is possi (159) a Threat Bulldo: Manag Ground	ption ly, capped system is ible therefind (161) zing gement I plan and	I. It is po shown in ore that the contour s	ossible that this is a photograph, pui his was a pump-sh survey to establish	the Cerrig y Ble blished in 1897 in haft rather than an	iddiau shaft; it lines up with the Pearl engir Owen Griffith's history of the mines, extend uphaulage shaft. It is possible that water pur	ne house and a possible ling towards the shaft. It nped from here fed both
159 Site g	Water-co rade	ourse C	Category	Power	Site status	SH44799069
Descrip This fe rock cu rather t Threat Erosion Manage	ption ature is via atting to th han for fla	sible only e south (trods or y	as a shallow dep 16 1). and may be with the supply to	ression, but it may e connected with t the engine pool (1	y be connected with the water-course that flow he row of pillars to its north (131), assuming 130).	ws through a substantial these to be for a launder
Ground	l plan and	contour s	survey to establish	its relationship to	o other features in the immediate area.	
160 Site g	Shaft <i>rade</i>	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44789068

Description Site only, capped. not oth Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording.	erwise identified,			
161 Water-course <i>Site grade</i> C	Category	Power	Site status	SH44799065
A water-course which m bedrock, 4m deep. It apper Threat Bulldozing Management Level 2 recording.	ay be connected wears to feed a prece	with (159) but is pipitation pit (162).	probably independent of it, which passes th	rough a cutting through
162 Precipitation sys <i>Site grade</i> C	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH44799064
Description A copper precipitation pit Threat NA. Management Level 2 recording.	t, visible only as a	flat area of ground	d but marked as a rectangular pit on the 1900	25" ordnance survey.
163Water-courseSite gradeCDescriptionThe site of a water-courseThreatErosion, fly-tipping.ManagementLevel 1 recording	<i>Category</i> e, apparently leadi	Extraction ng from (143) and	<i>Site status</i> d (144) to 162). and passing under roads at tw	SH44609058 70 points.
164 Precipitation sys <i>Site grade</i> C	stem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SHI43848994
Description Four small copper precip between stone walls. Threat Erosion. Management Level 2 recording.	itation pits which	still hold water, a	and two ochre pits; the argia are made up of	heaped precipitate held
165 Road Site grade C	Category	Transport	Site status	SH43818977
A roadway from Ty'n N overgrown. Threat	lant to the Parys	and Mona mine	yards. The lower part, on the slopes of Ce	errig y Gigfran, is very,
Resumption of mining_(p Management Level 1 recording.	lanning consent M	lay 1986)		
166 Water-course <i>Site grade</i> C Description	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43858997

A shallow depression across the tips which may be a water-course; it appears to lead from (167) and to feed (164). Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 167 SH43878999 Shaft Site grade С Category Extraction Site status Description A shallow depression in the tips, marked by a growth of heather, may indicate a shaft. The possible water-channel leading from it (166) would suggest that this had been a pump shaft or that water was raised in a kibble. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 168 Precipitation system SH43829002C Site grade В Extraction Site status Category Description Two large ochre pits. It is noteworthy that these features apparently feed the water-course (169) which eventually leads, by a prominent route, to 'ingian yr opencast mawr' suggesting that the water had become sufficiently fresh to function as feed water for the boiler. Threat This feature appears to be stable. Management Level 3 recording. 169 SH43839006 Water-course Site grade А Category Power Site status SAM Description A prominent water-course. leading from west to east from (168). marked by a strong growth of heather, in places a stone-lined channel, elsewhere carried on an stone embankment. 1.5m high, 2m wide, which leads along the south edge of the Great Opencast to reach 'ingian yr opencast mawr' (213). It descends the south side of the Great Opencast in a stone channel: Warrington Smythe's painting, shows a launder leading from it across the ridge of felsite against which 'ingian yr open cast mawr' is built, to reach the boiler-house. There is now no trace of this, but there does appear to be a channel along the floor of the Opencast to the engine house. Threat Resumption of mining, (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 3 recording. 170 SH43889012 Bridge Site grade В Category Transport Site status Description A small stone bridge which carries roadway (165) over water-course (169): the surface is laid with finely cobbled waste, and the stone blocks which form the sides have partly collapsed. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986): collapse. Management Level 2 recording. 171 Shaft SH43859012 С Site grade Category Extraction Site status Description A possible shaft-site, visible as a depression 4m in diameter, 3m deep, blocked with stone. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May, 1986) Management Level 1 recording.

172 <i>Site g</i> Descri	Water- grade	course C	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH4376900 1
A chan	inel much	overgrow	wn which appears	to have fed (168).		
Threa Resum	t ption of 1	nining (pl	anning consent M	av 1986)		
Manag	gement	0 (F	8			
Level	1 recordir	ng.				
173 Site g	Dwell grade	ing C	Category	Domestic	Site status	SH43608998
Bryn P	Parys, a fa	rmhouse i	in occupation.			
Threa NA.	t					
Manag Lovel	gement					
Level	2 10001011	ıg.				
174	Dwelli	ng				SH43598990
Site g	grade	C	Category	Domestic	Site status	511.00,0,,,0
Descri	ption Mynydd	a two_stor	ev dwelling Inte	ct and roofed but i	not apparently in occupation	
Threa	t	a two-stor	ey uwennig. Inta	et and foored but i	not apparently in occupation.	
NA.						
Level	gement 2 recordir	ıg.				
		8				
175	Dwelli	ng				SH43578989
Site g	rade	D	Domestic	Site status		
A dwe	ption Iling adia	cent to Pe	n v Mvnvdd farm	house, largely dem	nolished: one wall remains standing.	
Threa	t					
NA. Mana	amont					
Level	1 recordir	ıg.				
		-				
176	Dwelli	ng				SH437189S8
Site g	rade	D	Category	Domestic	Site status	
Descri Penrhy	ption n. a two-	storev dw	elling in occupation	on, much modernis	sed.	
Threa	t		<i>b</i>	,		
NA. Mana	gement					
Level	2 recordir	ıg.				
177	Smithy	τ				SH43668973
Site g	rade	D	Category	Ancillary	Site status	
Descri Marke	i ption d on the 1	900 25" (ordnance survey n	nan as Efail Bach	(Anglice: the little smithy): no trace now remain	ains
Threa	t	.,				*****
NA. Mana	gement					
Level	1 recordir	ıg.				
178	Dwelli	ng	-		-	SH43808981
Site g	grade	D	Category	Domestic	Site status	

Description A dwelling Pen Tovergrown. Threat Vegetation. N1anauement Level 1 recordin	Ferfyn, is g.	marked here on th	ne 1900 25" ordnar	nce survey map. No visible trace remains and	the area is very, heavily
179 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43909003
A possible shaft. Threat NA. Management Level 1 recordin	2m by 31 g.	n across sunk thro	ough bedrock. bloc	eked I m below the collar.	
180 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43779023
A possible shaft- Threat Resumption of n Management Level 1 recordin	site visib nining (pl g.	le as a depression anning consent M	3m+ deep. 7m in ay 1986)	diameter, filled with stone.	
181MillSite gradeDescriptionA modem corrug(182).ThreatNA.ManagementNA.	B ated iron	<i>Category</i> bow-roof shed for	Processing	<i>Site status</i>	SH43699024
182 Precipit <i>Site grade</i> Description	ation syst B	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH43709012
A precipitation synorthern pits of t Threat Resumption of n Management Level 3 recordin	ystem. po he systen nining (pl g.	ssibly, for ochre ra n is a substantial f	uther than copper, 6 eature. ay 1986)	enclosed between stone walls. The stone argia	which separates the two
183ShaftSite gradeDescriptionThe site is recordThreatResumption of nManagementLevel 1 recordin	E ded on the nining (pl g.	<i>Category</i> e 1900 25" ordnan anning consent M	Extraction ce survey map bu ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> t is not now visible.	SH43669015
184 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43559015

Site only, capped. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 185 SH43559022 Shaft Site grade Е Category Extraction Site status Description The site is marked on the 25" ordnance survey, of 1900 but is not visible. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. SH43259003 186 Precipitation system Site grade D Category Extraction Site status Description A series of copper and ochre precipitation pits. partly surviving, partly, destroyed by modern operations. Some of the pits still hold water but the argia are grass-grown and decayed. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 3 recording. 187 Dwelling SH43439013 С Domestic Site grade Category Site status Description Pen v Mynydd farmhouse and outbuildings, in occupation and use. Threat NA. Management Level 2 recording 188 SH43318984C Precipitation system Site grade D Category Extraction Site status Description Formerly a small series of copper and ochre precipitation pits, these are now visible only as a marshy depression: a modern service drain has been constructed through the site. Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording. 189 Shaft SH43338987 Site grade D Category Extraction Site status Description Site only; the shaft is marked on the 1900 25" ordnance survey but is not now visible. Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording. 190 Shaft SH43408980 Site grade D Category Extraction Site status Description A shaft-site, visible only as an overgrown depression. Threat

191 Ext	raction area	a			SH44069026
Site grade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	SAM/Lichenological SSSI/Geological SSSI
Description					

The Great Opencast, an extensive open working which effectively reached its present extent between the discovery of 1768 and the very early years of the nineteenth century. It dominates the site as a whole, and its variety of colours from the rock it exposes and the tips around its edge make it a visually spectacular feature, which has been used as the set for an early episode of "Dr Who and the Daleks", and more recently "Mortal Kornbat (sic) 2". There is some flooding at its western extremity, and there has been some collapse of the walls along the northern side, which are not as sheer as they are shown to be in old paintings.

The use of opencast mining techniques is said to have come about as the consequence of the collapse of underground working (though it is possible that this was a deliberate feature of the extraction process) and is common to many other substantial copper workings, including Stora Koparber. in Sweden, Rio Tinto in Spain, Bingham Canyon in Utah and some of the workings in Australia and Papua New Guinea, but the Great Open Cast and the Hillside Opencast (252) have no parallels elsewhere in copper extraction in Wales nor in Britain as whole. Tin was obtained from substantial opencasts at Carclaze and Beam in Cornwall. It is clear from archival evidence that the horse-gins and windlasses were nearly all located on the north side of the open cast, where the dip of the veins made it possible to create a sheer drop.

This feature in its entirety constitutes a Scheduled Ancient Monument An 111 D. It contains four Geological SSIs, one of them the felsite outcrop, and one Lichenological SSSI.

Threat

Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986), collapse of the exposures; tipping., use by film crews.

Management

Site grade

А

Category

Extraction

Monitoring for collapse, dumping and vandalism.

192	Shaft						SH44129031
Site g	rade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	SAM	
Descri	ption						
The sh	aft has co	ollapsed;	an abandoned c	ar lies within it. Th	is feature forms p	art of the Scheduled	l Area An 111 D.
Threa	t						
Tippin	g						
Manag	gement						
Remov	al of aba	ndoned c	ar.				
193	Shaft						SH44169028
Site g	rade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	SAM	
Descri	ption						
A colla	apsed sha	ift; traces	s of projecting t	timber were noted	on the west side	, possibly for a sta	ging. This feature falls within the
Schedu	iled Area	An 111 I	Э.				
Threa	t						
Furthe	r collapse						
Manag	gement	11					
Monito	oring for c	collapse a	and dumping.				
194	Retaini	ng wall					SH44169025
Site g	rade	A	Category	Structural	Site status	SAM	
Descri	ption		0 •				
Built o	ut of ston	les placed	d vertically, in th	ne Cornish-fashion	; carries (196). Th	is feature falls with	in the Scheduled Area
An 111	D.						
Threa	t						
Resum	ption of r	nining (p	lanning consen	t May 1986)			
Manag	gement						
Monito	oring for c	collapse.					
195	Shaft						SH44179030

Site status SAM

Description A depression 2m deep Threat Resumption of minin Management Level 1 recordin2.	p is visible at this poin g (planning consent M	t. This feature falls ay 1986)	within the Schec	luled area An 111 D.	
196 Road <i>Site grade</i> A	Category	Transport	<i>Site status</i> SAM	ſ	SH44099034
A roadway from the s part intact and part de Threat Resumption of minin Management Level 1 recording.	southern rim of the Greegraded. This feature f	eat Open cast to a salls within the Schorary 1986)	working face on t eduled area An 11	the north side, crossing the 11 D.	ridge near the boundary;
197 Adit <i>Site grade</i> A	Categoi3,	Transport	<i>Site status</i> SAM	ſ	SH44169033
Description The trace of a blocket	d adit is visible at this	point. This feature	falls within the S	Scheduled area An 111 D.	
Threat Resumption of minin Management Level 1 recording.	g (planning consent M	ay 1986)			
198BridgeSite gradeADescriptionThe stone abutments	Category	Transport	<i>Site status</i> S	AM	SH44169032
Scheduled area An 11 Threat Resumption of minin Management Level 1 recording,	g (planning consent M	ay 1986)		inow-way noin (1977). This	i cature fails within the
199 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> A	Category	Extraction	Site status	SAM	SH44209034
A blocked shaft; old of wall on the south side	car-parts and other det e. This feature fails wit	ritus has been dum hin the Scheduled	ped on the blocka area An 111 D.	age. Ginging is visible to the	e north. There is a breast
Resumption of minin Management Removal of scrap; lev	g (planning consent M vel 1 recording.	ay 1986); tipping.			
200 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> A	Category	Extraction	Site status	SAM	SH44229035
Blocked and collapse area An 111 D. Threat	d; the depression whic	ch marks its site is	6m in diameter a	nd 2m deep. This feature fa	lls within the Scheduled
Resumption of minin Management Level 1 recording.	g (planning consent M	ay 1986)			
201 Extraction a <i>Site grade</i> A	rea <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SAM	SH44249032

Description A stope emerge D. Threat Collapse. Management Level 1 recordi	es to the op ng.	pen here; shot-ho	les are evident in t	the rock exposed. This feature falls within the	he Scheduled area An 111
202 Smith Site grade	y C	Category	Ancillary	Site status	SH44259029
A ruined and d Griffith's book above the secon the south-east. the building. T. Threat Collapse; prox: Management Level 2 recordi	ilapidated The site r nd course. There is a his was the mity to pa ng.	building, though neasures 17m by The building is or trace of a hearth e scene of the min th.	enough survives t 7m in plan, and th rientated north-wes in each gable, and es' prayer-meeting	to identify it with the smithy of which a pho- be stone walls survive up to 2m high, though st to south-east, with one large unit on the no l cinders and fragments of Arfon roofing slat gs.	otograph appears in Owen they are mostly collapsed orth-west side, a smaller to tes lie to the south west of
203 Shaft					SH44279027
Site grade Description A circular area Threat Further erosior Management Level 1 recordi	E of collaps of tip. ng.	<i>Category</i> e, 5m in diameter,	Extraction	Site status mark the site of a shaft.	
204 Inclin Site grade	e A	Category	Transport	Site status	SH44239028
Description The course of t in the 1850s. It with railed tran Scheduled area Threat Collapse of for Management This feature fal	he incline s may be n nsport) ext An 111 D mation. ls partly w	is much degraded marked by a depre ending south-east /ithin an area desi	but is confirmed ession on the level twards from it. Se gnated as a Sched	by maps and by Warrington Smythe's painti l ground on the lip of the pit, and by the fing ee also (205). Where its course is apparent uled Ancient Monument.	ng of the Great Open Cast ger-tip (usually associated it does not fall within the
205 Inclin Site grade	e winding C	house <i>Category</i>	Transport	Site status	SH44239027
Description Heavily dilapic house to raise v Threat Collapse. Management Level 2 recordi	lated retain vagons on ng.	ning walls standin (204).	ng up to 3m high, I	built of burnt oxidised stone, may mark the	site of an winding-engine
206 Struct Site grade Description Possible structu Threat Further collaps Management	ure E ıre. very d e.	<i>Category</i> ilapidated.	Unknown	Site status	SH44229027

Level 1 recording.

207 <i>Site gro</i>	Structur <i>ide</i>	re E	Category.	Unknown	Site status		SH44049016
A brick f Threat Collapse Manage Level 1	floor is e c. ment recordin	xposed i g.	n the south-facin	ig tip walls, with t	ailings above.		
208 <i>Site gra</i> Descript	Structur <i>ude</i> tion	re A	Category	Unknown	<i>Site status</i> SAI	Ν	SH43969026
A brick f Threat Resumpt Manage NA.	floor is e tion of m ment	xposed a	t this point, on t lanning consent	he lip of the Great May 1986)	Opencast, at a loc	ation too dangerous for de	etailed examination.
209 <i>Site gro</i> Descript	Structur <i>ude</i> tion	те Е	Category	Unknown	Site status		SH43999014
The four Threat Resumpt Manage Level 1	tion of m ment recordin	of a ston nining (p g	e building are ev	May 1986)			
210 Site gro Descript The trace Threat Resumpt Manage Level 1 m	Water-c <i>ude</i> tion e of a slu tion of m ment recordin	ourse C uice when nining (pi g.	<i>Category</i> reby water could lanning consent	Extraction be turned from (1 May 1986)	<i>Site status</i> 169) to (211) surviv	ves here.	SH43929013
211 Site gre Descript An exter southern at (224).	Water-c <i>ude</i> tion nsive wa periphe It is po	ourse B ter-cours ry before ssible the	<i>Category</i> be and precipitati be being channelle at this system ha	Extraction on system, extended through a rock ad its origins in the	<i>Site status</i> ling from the south cut to reach a furt he precipitation syst though its present	SAM/Geological SSSI n-western extremity of the her precipitation system of stems on the north side o	SH44089021 e Great Opencast around its on the floor of the Opencast f the Great Opencast (215)
whimsey Threat Resumpt Manage Levelled	tion of n ment	r "twll dr nining (p to establi	wg" (212). lanning consent	May 1986) ip with (215), (21	9) and (224).	starting, point is liear the	presumen site of the water-
212 <i>Site grad</i> Descript	Shaft <i>le</i> tion	Е	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH44029018

The South Engine or Water-whimsey shaft is marked near this point on nineteenth-century maps of the Parys mine. No visible trace of it was observed nor of the "twll drwg" (Anglice: the bad pit) which (if it is not synonymous with the South Engine shaft) was a level connecting with it. It may have fed precipitation system (211) or (222). It may have hauled water in buckets, hence its name, though the name South Engine shaft, suggesting that there might have been a pump in it at one stage,

Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording.	
213 Engine house <i>Site grade</i> A <i>Category</i> Power <i>Site</i> Description The engine-house which contained ingian yr open cast substantial boiler-house built against, and to the north-ease base of a chimney is clearly visible. The engine base appea have supported a horizontal engine which worked a pump in Warrington Smyth's painting. There are traces of machin 111 D.	SAM/Lichenological SSSI/Geological SSS mawr. It is roofless and extremely dilapidated but clearly included a st of. a spur of felsite at the foot of the Opencast, in which the recessed ars to have been situated on the south-cast side of the boiler house and to in (2127) and also a pair of sheerlegs over the shaft, since these appear and drilling in the felsite. This feature falls within the Scheduled area An
The felsite spur contains traces of machine drilling. Threat Resumption of mining, (planning consent May 1986); coll Management Level 5 recording.	apse.
214StructureSite gradeDCategory MagazineSiteDescriptionA circular feature, 6m in diameter, which survives only as1889 25". It is alarmingly near the kilns.ThreatResumption of mining (planning consent May 1986)ManagementLevel 2 recording.	SH44079038 status the first course of stones. This feature is identified as a magazine on the
215 Precipitation system <i>Site grade</i> B <i>Category</i> Extraction Description An copper precipitation system of six pools on the north sthe east, though this is unlikely to have fed the two top lakeargia are formed out of waste material apart from some storwaters appear to be channelled through an under-round level	SH44019035C <i>Site status</i> side of the Great Opencast, fed by a channel leading. from near (214) on es. which may have had a different source of supply, not now evident. The one retaining walls at the south western end of the largest pool, where the yel to the lowest pool.
Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording and levelling.	

216	Structur	e					SH44009031
Site gro	ade	Е	Category	Unknown	Site status	SAM/Geolo2ical SSSI	
Descrip	tion						

A stone retaining wall on the northern lip of the Great Opencast, built out of oxidised stone, surviving up to 4m high, which has suffered considerable collapse at its eastern end, where a projecting buttress has become very unstable. At its west end, traces of cinders are visible in the grass.

Whilst there is archival evidence for this area having been used as a base for horse-whimseys from the late eighteenth to the midnineteenth century, the traces of cinders and the substantial walling leave open the possibility that this was the site of the unsuccessful Boulton and Watt engine installed in the 1790s to uphaul from the Great Opencast. It is also possible that these date from the latter period of working at Parys when portable engines were used.

Threat

Resumption of mining. (planning consent May 1986); collapse; proximity to roadway.

Management

Level 3 recording.

217StructureSite gradeCDescriptionThe former Parys mine yathe yard was a rectangularsouth-cast facing longitudsurvives here.ThreatResumption of mining (plManagementLevel 3 recording.	<i>Category</i> rd, now extremely r enclosure whose linal wall survives lanning consent M	Ancillary dilapidated and vo longer axis ran so up to 2m from gr ay 1986); collapse	<i>Site status</i> ery densely overgrown with heather. Map evi outh-west to north-east; the central building o round level, but otherwise little obvious trace e; vegetation.	SH43939028 dence makes it clear that f the range alongside the of former arrangements
218StructureSite gradeEDescriptionSite of a building, markedThreatResumption of mining (plManagementLevel 1 recording.	<i>Category</i> I on the 25" ordnan lanning consent M	Unknown nce survey of 1900 ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> 0 as roofless, now only visible as a depression	SH43959025 n in the ground.
219Water-courseSite gradeCDescriptionA length of isolated waterThreatResumption of mining (plManagementLevel 3 recording and lev	<i>Category</i> -course which may lanning consent M elling	Extraction y at one time have ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> e united precipitation system (215) with preci	SH43949025 pitation system (211).
220StructureSite gradeDDescriptionA building marked here orThreatResumption of mining (plManagementLevel 1 recording	<i>Category</i> n the 1900 25" ord lanning consent M	Unknown Inance survey has ay 1986); proximi	<i>Site status</i> been destroyed by the widening of the road.	SH43899025
 221 Feature Site grade A Description A jutting timber in tile no within the Scheduled area Threat Resumption of mining (pl Management NA. 	<i>Category</i> orth-western slopes An 111 D. lanning consent M	Unknown s of the Great Ope ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> encast may have been part of an uphaulage s	SH43959024 ystem. This feature falls
222Precipitation systemSite gradeBDescriptionA precipitation system on water whimsey shaft/twllThreatResumption of mining (plManagement Level 2 recording,	tem <i>Category</i> the south side of t drwg (212). anning consent M	Extraction the Great Opencas ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> st, now dry but apparent as a flat area; possib	SH44039016 ly at one time fed by the

223 Site gr	Bridge rade	В	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH44049015
Descrip The tra abutme Threat	otion ce of a b nts surviv	ridge to ve.	carry a water-cou	urse (23 5) drainin	g (222) over the	lower precipitation system	(211). Only the stone
Resump Manag Level 1	ption of m cement recording	nining (pl g.	lanning consent M	lay 1986); collapse			
224 <i>Site gi</i> Descrij	Precipit rade otion	ation sys A	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SAM/Lichenological SSS	SH44109027 I
A set of Threat Resump Manag Level 3	f seven sn ption of m ement recording	nall copp nining (pl g.	er precipitation pi lanning consent M	ts at the foot of the lay 1986)	Great Opencast,	fed from (22 1), adjacent to	o shaft (227).
225 <i>Site gi</i> Descrij	Structur rade	re A	Category	Unknown	<i>Site status</i> SAM	/Lichenological SSSI	SH44119025
An emb engine are no t Threat Resump Manag Level 3	pankment (213) and races of s ption of m ement recording	, 2m widd l the prec leeper de nining (pl g.	e and >5m high, pa cipitation pits near epressions. lanning consent M	art built of rubble, j by (224). which a lay 1986)	part enclosed with oppears to enter the	in stone walls, which runs f e adit (226); its form sugges	from the Great Opencast sts a tramway, but there
226 Site a	Adit rada	٨	Catagory	Extraction	Sita status	SAM	SH44129022
Descrip A subst least 2n	ption antial adi n wide an	t cut into d 3m+ hi	the bedrock on the	he south face of the	e Great Opencast	but now entirely blocked by	/ fallen stones. It was at
Threat Resump Manag Level 2	otion of m cement recording	nining (pl g.	lanning consent M	lay 1986)			
227 Site gi	Shaft rade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	SAM/Lichenological SSS	SH44099027 I
A collage of a sto	psed shaft ne shaft-c	t: the dep collar.	pression is 12m in o	diameter and is blo	cked by stone 3m	, below the present ground s	surface. There are traces
Resump Manag Level 2	ption of m ement recording	nining (pl g.	lanning consent M	lay 1986)			
228 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip Possible	Shaft rade otion e site only	A y - a shal	Category	Extraction ession.	Site status	SAM/Lichenological SSS	SH44109030 I
Threat Resump Manag Level 1	ption of m mement recording	nining (pl	lanning consent M	lay 1986)			

229 SH44029023 Water-course Site grade Category Extraction Site status SAM А Description A water-course, now visible as two high (3m+) stone retaining walls. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 230 Wall SH44039024 SA M Site grade А Category Structural Site status Description A small wall on an outcrop at the foot of the Great Opencast. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. SH44139018 231 Road SAM/Lichenological SSSI Category Transport Site status Site grade А Description A cart-road to the foot of the Great Opencast, which at one point is carried on a substantial stone embankment 3m+ wide and 2m high. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 232 SH43979025 Adit Site grade Category Extraction Site status SAM А Description A substantial adit mouth. now blocked, flanked by stone retaining walls 2m apart. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 233 Steps SH44009026 А SA M Site grade Category Transport Site status Description Steps from the foot of the Great Opencast to a working level on the north face. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986); collapse. Management Level 2 recording. SH44029029 234 Retaining, wall Site grade Category Structural Site status SAM А Description A stone retaining wall; there is evidence of fine tailing down slope, suggesting that this area formed an extraction and processing point. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986); collapse. Management Level 3 recording.

235 Site gr	Water-c	ourse B	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44049016
A water systems Threat Resump Manag Level 1	c-course v ;; there ha otion of n ement recordin	which for as been so nining (pl g.	merly crossed brid ome household dur anning consent Ma	lge (223) and con nping here. ay 1986)	nected precipitation system (222) to the Dyf	fryn Coch precipitation
236 <i>Site gr</i> Descrir	Shaft <i>ade</i>	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44629057
Blocked working Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	d; possibl gs at (237 e. ement recordin	y part of t 7). This be g.	the collar is expose elieved to have bee	ed on the south (do en one of the shaft:	own slope) side; it is possible that there is stop s operated by a central steam winder.	ping leading to the open
237 Site gr Descrip Either s Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	Extract cade otion toping or e. ement recordin	ion area B • open wo g.	<i>Category</i> rkings.	Extraction	Site status	SH44649056
238 Site gr Descrip A single (240), a Threat Erosion Manag Level 1	Precipit rade otion e copper ind in tur ement recordin	cation syst C precipitati n to have g.	tem <i>Category</i> ion pit, now visible fed into (239).	Extraction e only as a low cu	<i>Site status</i> rved stone wall. This appears to have been fea	SH44539062 d from
239 Site gr Descrip A coppe Threat Erosion Manag Level 1	Precipit cade otion er precipi ement recordin	tation syst C tation pit, g.	tem <i>Category</i> Extract , fed from (238) ar	ion <i>Site stat</i> ad apparently feed	<i>us</i> ing into (144).	SH44549064
240 Site gr Descrip A shallo Threat Erosion Manag Level 1	Water-c cade otion ow chann ement recordin	course C el from th g'	<i>Category</i> ne Carreg y Doll sl	Extraction haft (241) to precip	<i>Site status</i> pitation system (238).	SH44539062

<i>Site grade</i> Description	В	Category	Extraction	Site status	
One of the two s 2m, exposing sto (see [242]). Threat Collapse. Management Level 3 recording	hafts kno nework ar g.	wn as Carreg y Do nd timbering. The	oll. It has been cap presence of a wate	pped (no. 27), but there is a substantial area of er-channel from the shaft (240) suggests that in	of collapse to a depth of t was used to raise water
242 Site grade	Structure B	e Category	Power Site stat	tus	SH44429052
Traces of buildin shaft (241) and th strike in 1860 on Threat Vegetation. Management Level 3 recording	gs, found neir assoc: ly to find g.	ations only, cover iated features, in v the engine shakin	red with heather. T which case they pro- g itself to pieces o	These were presumably the engine house for obably date to 1846. It was here that Captain Tover him.	operating Carreg y Doll Fiddy sheltered from the
243 Bridge Site grade	С	Category	Transport	Site status	SH44409050
Description The stone abutme The form of the b Threat Collapse. Management Level 1 recording	ents only oridge sug g.	survive, 2m high, ggests the use of ra	of a bridge that ca ailed transport at t	rried a tip run from Lemin's, Charlotte and Ca his point.	airn's shafts over a path.
244 Structur <i>Site grade</i>	re E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44329044
A dilapidated sto stope or shaft. The cylinder 0.7m dia Threat Vegetation. Management Level 1 recording	ne structu ne ground ameter. g.	ire, rectangular in is covered in heat	plan, of which on ther at this point. S	ly three or four courses survive, which may e Set in the ground by the east-facing wall is a c	nclose a cast-iron
245 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44329043
Possible sitevis Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording	sible only g.	as a shallow depr	ession.		
246 Extracti <i>Site grade</i>	on point A	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44339045
An open cutting, but in which the	possibly re are no	a stope, orientated traces of shot ho	l south-west to nor les. Whilst this is	rth-east, approximately 9m deep, too dangerous s therefore presumably earlier than the late	us for close exploration, eighteenth century, it is

reported that no trace of hammer-stones have been found here either, nor of charcoal for fire setting **Threat**

Collapse.

Exploration b	y, suitably	equipped and qu	alified personnel v	with a view to establishing dating evi	dence exists.
247 Extr	action point	t			SH44339044
Site grade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	
An open cutt: but in which reported that Threat Collapse. Managemen Exploration b	ing, possibly there are n no trace of t by suitably e	y a stope, orienta to traces of shot hammer-stones l equipped and qua	ated south-west to a tholes. Whilst this have been found he alified personnel w	north-east, approximately 9m deep, t is is therefore presumably earlier that ere either, nor of charcoal for fire-set ith a view to establishing dating evid	oo dangerous for close exploration, an the late eighteenth century, it is ting. dence exists.
248 Extr	action point	t			SH44339043
Site grade	A	Category	Extraction	Site status	
An open cutti but in which reported that Threat Collapse. Managemen Exploration b	ing, possibly there are n no trace of t by suitably e	y a stope, orienta to traces of shot hammer-stones l equipped and qua	ated south-west to a holes. Whilst this have been found he alified personnel w	north-east. approximately 9m deep, t is therefore presumably earlier that ere either, nor of charcoal for fire-set ith a view to establishing dating evic	oo dangerous for close exploration, an the late eighteenth century, it is ting. dence exists.
249 Shat	f				SH44329043
Site grade	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	
Threat Collapse. Managemen Exploration b	t by suitably e	equipped and qua	alified personnel w	ith a view to establishing dating evid	dence exists.
250 Shat	t				SH44289042
Site grade Description Site only, cap Threat NA. Managemen Level 1 recor	C oped. no. 35 t ding.	Category	Extraction	Site status	
251 Prec Site grade	ipitation sy	stem Category	Extraction	Site status Lichenological	SH44279038
Description Possibly part system is ma Threat NA. Managemen Level 1 recor	of a coppe rked on surv t ding.	r precipitation p viving maps. Thi	it, which has othe	rwise been quarried away by the Hi in the Scheduled area An 111 D.	llside Opencast. However. no such
252 Extr <i>Site grade</i> Description	action area A	Category	Extraction	Site status SAM/Lichenological	SH44359038 SSSI

Management

The Hillside Opencast, a major open working, not as large in area as the Great Opencast but possibly deeper. This feature appears to have come into being after 1788, when this area is shown riddled with shafts. but had achieved a substantial size by 18 15-18

19. The Hillside opencast includes a spectacular feature, an open cavern or "heavy hanging" known as Gwaith Robin Ellis at SH44329037.

The Hillside Opencast falls within the Scheduled area An 111 D. Threat Collapse. Management Monitoring for collapse. SH44299033 253 Shaft Site grade А Category Extraction Site status SAM/Lichenological SSSI Description Site only, capped; this feature is believed to lead to Gwaith Robin Ellis within (252) and falls within the Scheduled area An111D Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording. 254 SH44289027 Shaft С Site grade Category Extraction Site status Description A possible site only. A substantial depression is apparent in the fork of finger tip-runs. Threat Collapse. Management Level 1 recording. 255 SH44439037? Structure Site grade Е Category Unknown Site status Description Two dilapidated half-round buildings in a UU plan, built against the slope of a tip to the north. The walls survive up to 2m high; the more westerly is laid with vertically-placed stones, the easterly with horizontal. The 25" ordnance survey of 1900 marks a single small circular-plan building here built against what appears to be a tip retaining wall, a feature which cannot easily be reconciled with what survives on site. Rogers 1996 suggests that they were powder magazines. Threat Collapse. Management Level 2 recording. 256 Shaft SH44459033 С Site grade Category Extraction Site status Description Possible site only; a depression is visible in made-up ground approximately 4m deep, 10m in diameter. Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording. 257 Retaining wall SH44439031 Site grade Category Structural Site status С Description A long retaining wall, orientated south-west to north-cast, on the south-east side of which are the foundations of a building (258). Threat Collapse. Management Level 2 recording.

Site grade	С	Category	Transport	Site status		
A building const ground level. It i which no other th Threat Collapse. Management Level 2 recordin	ructed on nay possi race was o g.	the made-up groun bly be the site of t observed to remain	nd of tipping waste he winding engine n, but which is ind	e. and which now e that uphauled wa icated by archival	survives only as a sunken fe agons on the incline from the evidence.	eature below the present ne Hillside Opencast, of
259 Structur Site grade	re E	Category	Unknown	Site status		SH44389026
Description A low embankm precipitation sys and which otherw Threat Collapse. Management Level 2 recordin	ent of sto tem indic vise appe g.	one, I m high and ated on the map of ars to be almost er	2m, wide, runs ac f 1788 as extendin ntirely buried apart	eross an area of ti g from north of th t from the lowest	oping. It is possible that the ne Mona Mine yard at SH44 pits, noted as (290). See als	is represents part of the 4259022 to the Hillside, o (453).
260 Shaft Site grade Description Site only, capped Threat NA. Management Level 1 recordin	C I. g.	Category	Extraction	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44439041
261 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> C	Categor	y Extraction	on Site stat	us Lichenc	logical SSSI	SH44479046
Description Visible as a subs few years. Threat Collapse. Management Level 1 recordin	tantial de g.	pression, 11 m in	diameter and 5m	deep, the conditio	n of which has deteriorated	l markedly over the last
262 Retainin <i>Site grade</i> Description A low dilapidate Threat Further dilapidat Management Level 1 recordin	ng wall D d stone re ion. g,	<i>Category</i> staining wall.	Structural	Site status		SH44489046
263 Structur <i>Site grade</i> Description	re E	Category	Processing	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44579052

A stone-built structure, in plan 16.5m by 9m, orientated north-east to south-west, roofless and much dilapidated, built on the bedrock of the southern slope of Carreg, y Doll. The walls stand up to 4.5m high. Doors are apparent in each longitudinal wall, and what may be a series of three chutes in the north-eastern gable. There is a raised inclined walkway across the structure, which continues as a ramp on the south-east side. At its northern corner is a small stone lined reservoir (vertically-laid stones, 5m square in plan) which feeds into the north-eastern part of the building through a pipe in the longitudinal wall (still in situ); the internal walls hereabouts appear to have spattered with a thick liquid substance which has dried and partly hardened.

This structure is of Carreg y Doll However, the pr copper pulp on t set of stamps or from several sha Threat Collapse; proxin Management Level 5 recordin	associate to the we resence of the northe a rotary c afts and fo nity to pa	d with a water-o est (276), and is f an adjacent wa ern part of the b rusher. It has als or boring woode thway.	course (264) and a traditionally know ater-holding pond uilding and the ch so been described n pipes.	feature (265) on ir n as the Calciner. ⁷ and of a flume do utes in the gable v (Bick, 1988. 4.2.3	ts south side and with a flue This interpretation appears t wn slope, together_with the vall suggest that this buildin 1) as the site of a horizonta	that runs up to the summit to be supported by the flue. e suggestion of a spattered ng might have contained a l steam engine for winding
264 Water-o Site grade	course E	Category	Unknown	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44569050
To the south of process in (263) Threat	(263), a stot to the pro-	stone-lined wate	er-channel, partly m (288).	capped, possibly t	to take spent water from a	wet-stamping or -crushing
This feature app Management Level 3 recordin	ears stabl	e.				
265 Feature <i>Site grade</i> Description	e E	Category	Unknown	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44569051
A linear feature Threat Erosion. Management Level 3 recordin	marked a ng.	s a shallow depr	ression to the sout	h of the Calciner (263).	
266 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Site only, capped Threat NA. Management Level 1 recordin	C d. ıg,	Category	Extraction	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	SH44569055
267 Water-o Site grade	course E	Category	Unknown	Site status		SH44609053
Some timber due Threat Erosion. Management Level 1 recordin	cting_surv ng.	vives at this poir	nt embedded in the	e ground and part-	buried.	
268 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Site only, capped Threat NA. Management Level 1 recordin	C d. ng.	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH44619053
Site grade Description A stone-built ram Threat Collapse. Management Level 3 recording	E p, 1.5m v g,	<i>Category</i> wide, leading uphil	Transport Il into (263).	Site status	Lichenological SSSI	
---	----------------------	--	----------------------------------	--	-----------------------------	------------------------------
270 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Visible only as a Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording	C depressio	<i>Category</i> on 2m deep, and 5r	Extraction n in diameter.	Site status		SH44609050
 271 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Visible only as a Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording 	C depressio	<i>Category</i> on 2m deep, and 5r	Extraction n in diameter.	Site status		SH44579049
 272 Feature Site grade Description A semi-circular st Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording 	E tructure i	<i>Category</i> s shown here on th	Unknown ne 19800 25" ordn	<i>Site status</i> hance survey; it app	pears since to have been co	SH43879023 vered by tips.
273 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Marked on the 19 Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording	C 900 25" o 9,	<i>Category</i> rdnance survey bu	Extraction t not longer appar	<i>Site status</i> rent on the ground.		SH44649055
274 Site grade Description Site only, capped Threat NA. Management Level 1 recording	Shaft C	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH44719055
275 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Site only, capped Threat	C	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH44479053

	~		~.	SH44579051
В	Category	Processing	Site status	
, visible in g from the ing.	places only as a Calciner (263) b	slight depression o by a zig-zag course	edged with stone, mainly quartz to the summit of Carreg y Doll	, elsewhere as a more marked growth_of . Capstones are visible in places on the
pitation sy B	rstem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH44859057C
chre precip is evidence oximity to	pitation pits at the e of domestic wa o road.	e lower end of the ste tipping off the	Hillside system, in which mine substantial embankment which	waste has been tipped over the western carries the road across the eastern end.
ing. r-course A em around	<i>Category</i> 1 (277), which en	Extraction nerges from under	<i>Site status</i> neath bedrock at (279) to feed (2	SH44809053 308).
roximity to ing. r-course A	o road. Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44809053
bedrock f ling. re E	rom which water	feeds into (278); Unknown	it may derive from (288). Site status	SH44859055
ing, pitation sy A ipitation p	rstem <i>Category</i> it, bisected by a l	n, I m deep. Extraction ow wall of cobbin	<i>Site status</i> g waste, feeding (282).	SH44829051C
	B , visible in g from the ling. pitation sy B chre precip is evidence roximity to ling. r-course A eem around roximity to ling. r-course f bedrock f ling. ure E depression ling, pitation sy A	B Category , visible in places only as a lag from the Calciner (263) b ling. pitation system B Category chre precipitation pits at the is evidence of domestic water or commity to road. ling. r-course Category A Category teem around (277), which em coximity to road. ling. r-course Category bedrock from which water ling. reserve Category bedrock from which water ling. ling. a Category bedrock from which water ling. ling. a Category bedrock from which water ling, pitation system A Category ipitation system A Category	B Category Processing , visible in places only as a slight depression of grom the Calciner (263) by a zig-zag course a ling. Extraction pitation system Extraction B Category Extraction chategory Extraction chategory Extraction chategory Extraction chategory Extraction chategory Extraction consimity to road. Extraction ing. Extraction consimity to road. Extraction ing. Extraction bedrock from which water feeds into (278); i ling. Extraction ing, Unknown depression 2m by 2m in plan, 1 m deep. ling, Extraction pitation system A Category A Category Extraction	B Category Processing Site status , visible in places only as a slight depression edged with stone, mainly quartz ag from the Calciner (263) by a zig-zag course to the summit of Carreg y Doll ling. plitation system B Category Extraction Site status chere precipitation pits at the lower end of the Hillside system, in which mine is evidence of domestic waste tipping off the substantial embankment which roximity to road. ling. r-course A Category Extraction Site status end around (277), which emerges from underneath bedrock at (279) to feed (2 roximity to road. ling. r-course A Category Extraction Site status bedrock from which water feeds into (278); it may derive from (288). ling. recurse A Category Unknown Site status depression 2m by 2m in plan, 1 m deep. ling, plitation system A Category Extraction Site status ing. ing.

Management Level 2 recording.

282 Site gi	Water-c	ourse A	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44839052
A subst	antial sto	ne argia.	which may once h	nave defined a wat	ter-course running from (281) into	
Threat Fly'-tip Manag Level 1	ping. pro ement recording	ximity to g.	road.			
283 Site gr Descrip Site onl Threat Manag Level 1	Shaft rade ption y, capped ement recording	C I. g.	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44719055
284 <i>Site gi</i> Descriv	Chimne rade	ey B	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44679051
The stu standing a precip though Hillside Threat Collaps Manag Level 3	mp of a c g to an ad pitation sy (287) mig e area from e; proxim ement recording	himney, v lditional ł ystem (28 ght also b m Dyffry nity to pat g.	which includes a s neight of 2m+. Fir 88) suggests that in the a candidate for n Coch (304). thway.	tone square-plan (ebricks and stone t might have form this function. It is	(2m by 2m) base, 1.8m high, and a stone circu were noted in the surrounding tumble. The pr led part of a reverberatory furnace for the cop also possible that it is connected with the lon	lar-plan chimney on top, oximity of this feature to oper or ochre precipitate, g, flue which crosses the
285 Site gi	Road r <i>ade</i>	В	Category	Transport	Site status	SH44529043
Descrip A roady by recer Threat Bulldoz Manag Level 1	otion way, an er nt bulldoz zing ement recording	ngineered zing g.	feature, which w	ould at one time h	nave been able to take a cart but which has be	en disturbed
286 <i>Site gi</i> Descrij	Structur rade otion	re E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44589049
A stone Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	-built bar e. ement recording	nked rece g.	ss consisting of a	retaining wall 1.5	m high. possibly the base of a chute from the	shaft up slope (271).
287 Site gr Descrip	Structur rade otion	re E	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44569046

A single-unit stone-built building constructed into the slope of the hillside, orientated north-cast to south-west. The walls survive up to caves height (4m). There are traces of chutes from the road on the up slope side (285) in the longitudinal wall. There are vents and windows in the gable walls, and firebrick was noted in the tumble in the south-western part of the building.

A branc enough Threat Collapse Manage Level 4	h cart-ro to accom e. ement recordin	ad from imodate a g.	(285) serves the a cart. It is possible	e building through ble that this buildi	a doorway in th ng housed a furna	e south-east-facing longitudinal wall, which is large ce to dry precipitate from (288).
288 Site grd Descrip The Hill a natura by tailir precipita an adit e Threat Collapse Manage This fea	Precipit ade tion Iside pre I gulley ags, but ate and o emerging e. e. ement ture has	ation sys A cipitation in the eas the coppo ther finer from uno	tem Category a pits, an extension stern half of the er precipitation p material. The sy derneath the road	Extraction ive copper and oc mountain. The lap pits themselves su ystem is fed from t d	<i>Site status</i> thre precipitation string ochre pit at th urvive largely inta three points; a tun	SH44609045C SAM/Lichenological SSSI system, a Scheduled Ancient Monument. It occupies e lower end of the system has been largely obscured act. The argiau consist of low stone walls enclosing nel in (289), q.v., a row of pillars (291) and also from
289 Site gro Descrip The trac (288). Threat Erosion. Manage Level 3	Water-c ade tion e of a w ement recordin	ourse A ater-cour g.	<i>Category</i> se apparently er	Extraction nerging from an a	<i>Site status</i> adit, passing under	SH44619047 SAM/Lichenological SSSI r the road (285) and feeding the precipitation system
290 Site gro Descrip The upp part of t began at in which by a by- height o the upstr Threat Collapse Manage Consolie	Precipit ade tion er part o he Mona SH4425 to there ha pass wat f 4m, and ream sid e. e. ement dation.	ation sys A f the Hill a mine's o 59022 (se as been so er course d is 4m w e and as a	tem <i>Category</i> side precipitation original precipita e 453). It consist ome collapse on e along the north ride at its surface a red-brick arch	Extraction n system. It falls wation pit system of the upstream side. ern side. The who b. This feature is pit 1.5m in diameter of	<i>Site status</i> within the Schedul f 1788 or earlier, f recipitation pit sep . The lower pit is a le system is held l ierced by a channe on the downstream	SAM/Lichenological SSSI ed area. This feature appears to be the only surviving fragments of which may survive as (259), and which parated by a stone-faced dam, approximately 4m high, also bisected by a low wall, and the pits are connected pack by a substantial stone dam, which stands up to a el, noted as a small square opening with a flat lintel on a side. There are traces of a wooden sluice within.
291 Site gr Descrip A row o from sha Threat Collapse Manage Level 2	Water-c ade tion f dilapid aft (260) e. e. e. ement recordin	ourse B ated stone to the pro	<i>Category</i> e pillars built on ecipitation system	Extraction the slope of a tip, m (288).	<i>Site status</i> , standing to a max	SH44439040 kimum of I m high, and which probably carried water
292 <i>Site gr</i> Descrin	Shaft <i>ade</i> tion	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44609033

Description

A shaft is appar Threat This fea Manag Level 1	surrounde rent down ature appe ement recording	ed by a lo slope, s ears stabl g.	ow stone protectiv uggesting that this e.	ve wall; the shaft it s feature is not ver	self appears to be blocked and is flooded to the y deep, and may be no more than a trial.	e collar. A small spoil tip
293 Site gi	Magazii r <i>ade</i>	ne C	Category	Ancillary	Site status	SH44569034
A stone is one d the stru Threat Proxim Manag Level 4	-built circ loorway in ctural cha ity to road ement recording	eular-plan n the bui iracterist dway. g,	n building, 7m in o lding. Despite the ics of a powder m	diameter (outside n weakness of the w agazine.	neasurement), whose walls are 0.6m thick and a valls and the proximity of this structure to the h	l stand to 2m high. There kilns (294-304), it has all
294 Site gi	Kiln rade	A	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44609038
A kiln s waste. Threat Proxim Manag Level 4	ity to road ement recording	gside the dway; ve g and co	e road along the e getation; collapse ntour survey.	dge of the Hillsid	e Opencast. Visible as a long oval depression	n surrounded by pinkish
295 <i>Site gi</i> Descrii	Kiln rade otion	А	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44619036
A kiln s Threat Proxim Manag Level 4	ite, visibl ity to road ement recording	e as a su dway; ve g and co	bstantial oval dep getation; collapse ntour survey.	ression surrounde	d by pinkish waste.	
296 Site gi	Kiln rade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44629038
A kiln s Threat Proxim Manag Level 4	ity to road ement recording	e as a ro dway; ve g and co	unded depression getation; collapse ntour survey.	, surrounded by pi	nkish waste.	
297 <i>Site gi</i> Descrij	Kiln rade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44729036
A clusto sublima Threat Proxim Manag Level 4	er of kiln ation chan ity to road ement recording	sites alo nber (29 dway; ve g and co	ng the northern si 9) which also serv getation; collapse ntour survey.	de of a rock outer res kiln (298) and	op, visible as pink spoil. There is a trace of a which exhausts near the top of the outcrop.	possible flue or sulphur
298 Site gi	Kiln rade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44769040

Description

Description

A cluster of kiln sites down slope from (297); there are traces of a possible flue (299) leading from it to draw sulphur from kiln (297), which appears to have exhausted near the summit of the outcrop. Threat Proximity to roadway; vegetation; collapse. Management Level 4 recording and contour survey. 299 Flue SH44759034 Site grade А Category Processing Site status Description There are faint traces of a flue or sulphur sublimation chamber uniting the various kiln sites at (297) and (298) and exhausting near the summit of the rock outcrop. This feature is for the most part only faintly visible as a linear feature in the heather. Threat Proximity to roadway; vegetation; collapse. Management Level 4 recording and contour survey. SH44529033 300 Kiln Site grade Α Category Processing Site status Description A kiln site. Threat Proximity to roadway; vegetation; collapse. Management Level 4 recording and contour survey. SH44529033 301 Flue Site grade А Category Processing Site status Description A stone-built sulphur sublimation chamber orientated east-west, to the south of, and associated with. kiln (300). Threat Proximity to roadway; vegetation; collapse. Management Level 4 recording. and contour survey. 302 SH44529035 Kiln Site grade А Category Processing Site status Description A kiln site, visible as a shallow depression, surrounded by pinkish waste. Threat Proximity to roadway; vegetation; collapse. Management Level 4 recording and contour survey. 303 Flue SH44529035 Site grade А Category Processing Site status Description A stone-built sulphur sublimation chamber orientated east-west, to the south of. and associated with, kiln (302). Threat Proximity to roadway; vegetation; collapse. Management Level 4 recording and contour survey. 304 SH44509036 Flue-Site grade А Category Processing Site status

A stone-built flue, apparently a sulphur sublimation chamber, with no associated kiln, but around which ironstone has been piled,

suggesting that it Threat Proximity to road Management Level 4 recording	was use lway; ve g and cor	d for sulphur extra getation; collapse. ntour survey.	action only and not	t for calcination.	
305 Kiln Site grade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44559037
Description A kiln site, visibl Threat	e as a sh	allow depression s	surrounded by pink	kish waste.	
Proximity to road Management Level 4 recording	lway; ve	getation; collapse. ntour survey.			
306 Flue <i>Site grade</i> Description	А	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44569037
A stone-built sulp Threat Proximity to roac	ohur subl lway; ve	limation chamber, getation; collapse.	orientated north-e	east to south-west, and associated with kiln (3	05).
Management Level 4 recording	g and cor	ntour survey.			
307 Kiln <i>Site grade</i> Description	А	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44569035
A kiln site, visibl Threat Proximity to roac Management Level 4 recording	e as a shi lway; ve; g and cor	allow depression, getation; collapse. ntour survey.	up slope of (306).		
308 Precipita Site grade	ation sys B	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH44959060C
An extensive cop (309). The copper system is shown Threat Collapse; vegetat Management Level 4 recording	per and o r floors a on the m tion.	ochre precipitation re mostly dried out ap of 1815-1819.	system, forming t t and covered with	the lower part of the Hillside system. It is fed heather, though traces of brick flooring are in	from a brick arch within termittently visible. This
309 Embanl <i>Site grade</i> Description	kment B	Category	Transport	Site status	SH44919057
A substantial stor and a prominent a the by-pass syste Threat Tipping. Management Clearance of dum	ne-built e arch on t m (278). nped hou	mbankment carryi he north side feeds It is an outstandin sehold waste.	ng a cart-road nort s (306). Another an g example of a lat	th to south across the Hillside precipitation sy rch on the southern side is much smaller, but te eighteenth-century/early nineteenth-centur	stems; it stands 4m high, feeds (308) by means of y industrial road.
310 Precipita Site grade Description	ation sys B	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH45039064

An exte 1819. T Threat Vegetat Manag Level 4	ensive copper pre The pits still carry ion. ement recording.	ecipitation system f water, and are div	èd from higher up vided by substantia	the Hillside system. The most wes l stone argiau.	sterly pits were in existence by 1815-
311 <i>Site gi</i> Descrij A subst in the C Threat Collaps Manag Level 2	Precipitation sy rade B otion antial ochre pool Cornish fashion. T se. gement recording.	ystem <i>Category</i> , bisected by a stor There is a substanti	Extraction ne causeway. The ial stone-built dam	<i>Site status</i> pit walls to the north are construct on the south side.	SH45329064 ed out of stones laid vertically in the
312 Site gi	Furnace rade B	Category	Processing	Site status	SH45159063)
A roofd south si enough Threat Collaps Manag Level 3 313 <i>Site gu</i> Descrip A stone Threat Vegetat Manag Level 1	ess and dilapidate ide. The building to accommodate se; vegetation. gement recording. Feature rade D ption -floored area, he ion. gement recording.	ed building orienta g measures 27m. by e a cart. <i>Category</i> avily overgrown.	ted north to south, y 8m in plan. A fla Processing	heavily overgrown, with traces of ttened brick arch doorway in the o <i>Site status</i>	f burning on the internal walls on the east-facing longitudinal wall is large SH45179061
314 Site gi	Furnace rade D	Category	Processing	Site status	SH45089058
Descrip A struc foundat suggest Threat Collaps Manag Level 2	ption ture which has n tions. A photogra- ing that it was a se; vegetation. tement recording.	now become very aph in Owen Griff reverberatory furna	heavily overgrow fith's history of th ace for drying the	n and can scarcely be made out. e mine shows a pitched roof bui precipitate.	It appears not to survive above the lding at this point, with a chimney,
315 Site gr Descrip Identifie Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	Structure rade E otion ed as caban haian se; vegetation. recording.	<i>Category</i> m on the 1900 25"	Unknown ordnance survey r	<i>Site status</i> nap.	SH44969056

Site grade	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	
An adit from wh Threat	ich water	still flows into the	e Dyffryn Coch pr	recipitation system, but which has been board	ed up with timber.
Resumption of n Management Level 2 recordin	nining (pl g.	anning consent M	lay 1986)		
317 Adit <i>Site grade</i> Description	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43868986
An adit from wh Threat Resumption of n Management Level 2 recordin	ich water nining (pl g.	issues but which anning consent M	has been blocked lay 1986)	or has collapsed.	
318 Site grade Description	Water-c B	ourse <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH43868983
A shallow water Threat Resumption of n Management Level 2 recordin	course wh nining (pl g and leve	nich fades out to th anning consent M elling.	he east; it probably (ay 1986)	y carried cupriferous water to the Dyffryn Co	ch systems.
 319 Water-or Site grade Description A water-course, precipitation system Threat Resumption of m Management Level 2 recordin 	marked for tem at (10 nining, (p g and leve	<i>Category</i> or the most part by 54) with the Dyffr lanning consent M elling.	Extraction y a growth of heatl yn Coch systems. 1ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> her in the turf, which may have connected the	SH43878984
320 Bridge <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Transport	Site status	SH44009000
The abutments of tramway. Threat Resumption of n Management Level 1 recordin	nly surviv nining (pl g.	ve of a small bridg anning consent M	ge which seems in ay 1986)	tended for a barrow-run rather than a cart-roa	d or a
 321 Feature Site grade Description An area of brick Threat Resumption of n Management Level 1 recordin 	E scatter he nining (pl g.	<i>Category</i> ere may the result anning consent M	Unknown of dumping. Iay 1986)	Site status	SH44029001
322 Structur <i>Site grade</i> Description	re B	Category	Ancillary	Site status Lichenological SSSI	SH44249015C

The Mona Mine yard (Iard Mona Mine); described as new on the map of 1788 and its basic arrangements appear to have under-one little alteration since.

It is an open yard on an east-west axis, constructed on bedrock, and would presumably originally have stood of more of an eminence than now, before tipping altered the ground levels. There is a trace of a cart-entrance on the north longitudinal wall, and buildings have been constructed all around the yard wall, both internally and externally. These are variously single-storey and two-storey buildings, roofless and dilapidated. The walls stand up to a maximum of 4m high. There are traces of possible gardens along, the west wall, suggesting that these might have been offices, and a possible smithy is indicated by the traces of a hearth among the ruins on the east side of the building. A curious feature is the stone-lined cellar, 4m by 9m in plan, 1.5m deep, alongside the south longitudinal wall.

Threat

Collapse; proximity to pathway; resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) - the boundaries of the consent touch the northwest corner of the yard and run along the southern perimeter wall.

Management

Level 4 recording. It is desirable that the tip immediately to the north be examined for traces of mercury, as this may indicate the position of the assay office.

323 Precipitation system SH44149016 Site grade В Category Extraction Site status Description The trace of a copper precipitation pond is visible here among the tips; there is no evidence of man-made features, and its relationship to the water-course (235) is uncertain. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 3 recording. 324 SH44159000C Precipitation system Site grade В Category Extraction Site status Description A copper precipitation system on the southern slopes of the mountain, fed by (235) and feeding into the Dyffryn Coch systems. Pits are marked here on the 1815 map of Parys mine, and they may also be the ones marked in 1788 on the Mona mine map as "Hughes and Co's Iron Pits". The retaining wall (326) is a prominent feature. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 3 recording. 325 SH44169005 Shaft Site grade С Extraction Site status Category Description Site only, collapsed. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. SH44108998 326 Retaining wall Site grade Structural Site status D Category Description A stone-built retaining wall across (324). Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 327 Structure SH44218997 Site grade Е Category Unknown Site status Description

A substantial structure, still roofed, is marked here on the 1900 25" ordnance survey, at a location which corresponds to a building marked in 1788. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 328 Structure SH44228998 Site grade Е Category Unknown Site status Description A building is shown here on the 25" ordnance survey of 1900, still roofed; its position corresponds with a building possibly a cottage, shown on the 1788 map. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 329 SH44238999 Structure Site grade Е Category Unknown Site status Description A tiny un-roofed building or other structure is marked here on the 25" ordnance survey of 1900 in a location which corresponds to the position of a building, possibly a cottage. on the 1788 map. There is no trace now visible, It may have been Cadi Rondol's house, of which a photograph appears in Owen Griffith's history of the mines. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 330 SH44399007 Retaining wall Site grade С Category Structural Site status Description A stone retaining wall, 3m high, alongside the Dyffryn Coch road. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording, 331 Retaining wall SH44489010 Site grade С Structural Site status Category Description A short length of retaining wall, 1.5m high. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 332 SH44519014 Adit Site grade С Category Extraction Site status Description An adit which has blocked by a concrete plug at the mouth, but from which water still issues, supplying precipitation system (330).Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 333 Extraction point SH44509016

Site grade

Е

Category

Extraction

Site status

Description

An open quarry face in which there is no evidence of the use of explosives. This feature is therefore likely to be early Modem or pre-Modem.

Threat

Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) **Management** Geo-archaeological dating of exposure of rock-face.

334 Site gr Descrip A dwell Threat NA. Manage Level 2	Dwellin ade tion ing, in re- ement recording	g C -use as do g	<i>Category</i> og kennels.	Domestic	Site status	SH43788971
335 <i>Site gr</i>	Precipita ade	ation syst B	em <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH43858978C
A coppe Threat Manage Level 3	er precipit ement recording	ation pit, g.	in existence by 1	815-1818, of unus	ual construction in that the argiau run the leng	gth of the
336 Site gr	Precipita ade	ation syst B	em <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH44088987C
An och marked Threat Resump Manage Clearan	on the matrix otion of mement ce of dum	ap of 181 ining (pla	anning consent M	ed from (323). It ay 1986)	is neid back by a stone dam pierced by a bri	ck arch. This feature is
337 <i>Site gr</i> Descrin	Adit ade	В	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44118993
An adit sluice m Threat Resump Manage Level 2	from whith the chanism to the	ch water n. ining (pla g.	supplies precipita anning consent M	tion pit system (33 ay 1986)	38). A brick built-structure over the adit mouth	h may have contained a
338 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip A set of	Precipita ade tion copper p	ation syst B recipitatio	em <i>Category</i> on pits, in existence	Extraction ee by 1815, possib	<i>Site status</i> ly as early as 1788, when "Hughes and Co's In	SH44188990C ron Pits" are marked on
or near f Threat Resump Manago This are	this site. T otion of m ement ea has bee	There has ining (pla n surveye	been some recent anning consent M ed by Electronic E	t dumping on this s ay 1986) Data Measuring.	site.	
339 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip	Adit ade otion	В	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44268997

An archway from which cupriferous water still flows, feeding water-course (341) and precipitation system (340). This feature appears to have been in existence by 1788. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 340 Precipitation system SH443108996 Site grade Category Extraction В Site status Description A copper and ochre precipitation system. The copper pits appear to have been in existence by 1788, and the ochre pit is marked in 1815-1819. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management This area has been surveyed by Electronic Data Measuring. 341 SH44268997 Water-course Site grade Extraction Site status B Category Description A lengthy water-course apparently fed by adit (339). It follows the contour of the valley around the eastern spur of Mynydd Parys past Tal y Dyffryn, eventually flowing into Llyn Llaethdy (391), to the north of Mynydd Parys. Though it passes the lower part of the Hillside ochre pits (310) it is not necessarily connected to them. Its initial stages are shown on the map of 1788, and its full length is marked on the map of 1815-1819. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 3 recording, to include levelling. 342 Precipitation system SH44459002 Site grade В Category Extraction Site status Description A copper precipitation system, marked on the map of 18 15-1819, apparently fed from both the upper pits within the Dyffryn Coch system and from an adit to the north (320). Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management This area has been surveyed using Electronic Data Measuring. 343 Structure SH44429005 Site grade С Category Unknown Site status Description A heavily dilapidated structure; it is shown as roofed on the 1900 25" ordnance survey. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 344 Vitriol works SH44588995 Site grade В Category Processing Site status Description The site of "y gwaith fudrol" (Anglice: the vitriol works). The stone-lined pits are now heavily overgrown, but a number of sterile waste-heaps are visible. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) and subsequent extension. Management This area has been surveyed by Electronic Data Measuring.

SH44659015 345 Structure Site grade Е Category, Unknown Site status Description The remains of three walls forming a structure of unknown purpose. Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording. 346 Engine house SH44939034 Site grade D Category Power Site status Description The house of a suction gas engine to draw water from Dyffryn Coch through () and along () to sparge the tips. Now only visible as slight disturbance in the -round and cinders Threat Resumption of mining (planning, consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 347 Water-course SH44969030 Site grade D Category Power Site status Description A substantial concrete base, from which four holding-down bolts project, at the foot of (349), probably the site of a sluice or a pump to draw water from Dyffryn Coch, powered by (346). Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 2 recording., 348 Feature SH44939034 Site grade D Category Power Site status Description A linear future connecting (346) to (347), possibly the site of a flatrod system to operate a pump in (347). Threat Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording. 349 SH44859043 Water-course Site grade Category Power Site status B Description A linear feature, some 350m long, which begins at (347) in Dyffryn Coch, and which follows an undulating course, partly through a rock cutting and partly in an embankment over an ochre pool. It may be connected with the chimney (284), but Cockshutt suggests that it is the course of a pipe which carried water pumped by the suction gas engine at (346) from Dyffiryn Coch to sparge the tips to the north-west. Fragments of cast-iron piping were noted nearby. Threat Erosion; collapse. Management Level 4 recording. 350 SH44939031 Dwelling Site grade D Category Domestic Site status Description The ruins of Fron Heulog, described by Cockshutt as the residence of the engine man responsible for (346). Now heavily overgrown, and extremely dilapidated. The traces of a garden in which cherry-trees grow are evident. Threat Collapse; resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording.

351 Site gr Descrip The ruin Threat Collaps Manag Level 2	Dwellin rade otion as of the c e. ement recording	g D dwelling g.	<i>Category</i> Ty'n y Mynydd, ro	Domestic pofless and extrem	<i>Site status</i> ely dilapidated. Enclosure walls survive.	SH45119046
352 Site gr Descrip A brick- trace of smelter Threat Proximi Manag This fea	Smelter <i>ade</i> built sme a small re site so fan ity to road ement ture is an	A elter, surv eservoir in r discove dway; veg priority	<i>Category</i> riving up to 2m hig n the building, pos red on Mynydd Pa getation; collapse; for further excavat	Processing gh, visible as a wa sible for smelting, rys. vandalism; remov tion and measured	<i>Site status</i> Ill exposed in a bank of earth and a contiguou and immediately to the east is a pile of slag g al of slags. survey.	SH44919053 as building. There is the lobules. This is the only
353 <i>Site gr</i> Descrin	Flue Flue Fade	А	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44929053
Visible of a kno Threat Vegetat Manag Clearan 354 <i>Site gr</i>	as two lo ^o oll to the s ion. ement ce of veg Adit rade	w paralle south. etation.	l walls, approxima	ately 50m long, ar Extraction	nd 0.6m apart, which carried gases from sme	lter (352) to the summit SH44919061
Descrip An adit Threat This fea Manag Level 2	ettion cut throu ature appe ement recording	gh bedroo ears stable g.	ck; the opening is	2m high, 1 m wide	e, and is closed by iron railings immediately	within the adit mouth.
355 Site gr Descrip The pos Threat Vegetat Manag Level 1	Adit cade otion ssible site ion. ement recording	C of an adi g.	<i>Category</i> t, now much overs	Extraction grown.	Site status	SH45089075
356 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip An area possible and in 1 Threat Proximi Manag	Hammer <i>rade</i> otion a in which e slag wer 880 as th ity to road ement	A A a number also ob e site of c and dwo	d-spot <i>Category</i> er of possible ham served. This area i early workings. ellings.	Extraction mer-stones have s near the dwellin	<i>Site status</i> been noted by Owen J. Owen (local farmer) g Henwaith, and was described in both 1764	SH45059072 and in which flints and

indigoto or brugo	Anal	lysis	of	s	lags.
-------------------	------	-------	----	---	-------

357 Site gi	Extract rade	ion point A	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH45049074
A possi Threat Proxim	ble early	open wor d and dwo	king, visible as a ellings.	shallow rock-face	, in which no shot-holes are visible.	
Geo-ard	chaeologi	ical dating	g of exposure of r	ock-face.		
358 Site gi	Shaft rade	D	Category,	Extraction	Site status	SH44909079
A shaft Threat NA. Manag Level 1	is marke ement recordin	d at this p g.	oint on the 1889	25" ordnance surv	rey, which appears to have been infilled since.	
359 Site gi	Shaft rade	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH45049074
A shaft Threat NA. Manag Level 1	is marke	d and ider g.	ntified as such on	the 1889 25" ordr	nance survey, which appears to have been infil	led since.
360 Site gi	Precipit rade	tation syst B	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH45219046
A small separate Threat Vegetat Manag Level 3	ion water-c ion. ement recordin	largely di ourses (36	ry and much over 51) and (362) flow am.	grown with gorse. N.	There is a substantial buttressed dam on the ea	ast side, from which two
361 <i>Site gi</i> Descrij	Water-c rade	course B	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH45239048
A water Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	r-course v se. gement recordin	which app	ears to have run	from (361) to (311).	
362 <i>Site gi</i> Descrii	Water-c r <i>ade</i> otion	course B	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH45239047
A water turns sc Threat	r-course v outh and v	which run west into i	s partly on a mad Dyffryn Coch, w	le-up embankment here its course pete (av 1986)	and partly in a rock cutting, from (360) eastwers out.	vards, then
Manag Level 1	recordin	g and lev	elling.	ing 1700j		

363 Site grade Description A shallow open of Threat Collapse. Management Level 1 recordin	Extract D working. g.	ion point <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH43228985
364 Shaft Site grade Description Site only, capped Threat NA. Management Level 1 recordin	C d. g.	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43208987
365 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Site only, capped Threat Resumption of n Management Level 1 recordin	C I. nining (p g.	<i>Category</i> lanning consent M	Extraction ay 1986)	Site status	SH43138999
366ShaftSite gradeDescriptionEvident only as aThreatResumption of nManagementLevel 1 recordin	D a substan nining (p g.	<i>Category</i> tial pile of spoil. N lanning consent M	Extraction Aarked as "Old Sh ay 1986)	<i>Site status</i> naft (Copper)" on the 1900 25" ordnance surv	SH43099010 ey map.
367 Engine Site grade Description Site only. Marke Threat Collapse; resump Management Level 1 recordin	house D d as such ption of r g.	<i>Category</i> on the 1900 25" on the 1900 control of the second	Power ordnance survey, b onsent May 1986	<i>Site status</i> but the only evidence is scattered stonework.	SH43109011
368 Water-or Site grade Description A rectangular-pl- with the engine- Threat Farming; resump Management Level 1 recordin	course D an pool, house (36 ption of n g.	<i>Category</i> 14.5m by 9m is ap 57). It is probably nining (planning c	Power <i>Site sta</i> oparent here. It is the engine-pool to onsent May 1986)	tus marked on the 1889 25" ordnance survey, an o catch rainwater mentioned in the Mining Jou	SH43089012 d presumably connected irnal for 1882.
369 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43169015

Description Site only, capp Threat Resumption of Management Level 1 record	ed. `mining ing.	(planning consent	t May 1986)		
370 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description Not observed:	E	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43269023
Threat Resumption of Management Level 1 record	mining ing	(planning consent	t May 1986)		
371 Shaft Site grade	В	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43239028
Description The collar of the bolted into the Threat Resumption of Management The shaft shou	ne shaft concrete mining ld be ke	has been concrete e. However, the sh (planning consent pt open to allow fi	d and an iron door aft is open and co t May 1986) uture access to the	placed over the shaft-hea uld be made accessible. Morfa Du workings.	d. This is held down by a bar
372 Road <i>Site grade</i> Description	С	Category	Transport	Site status	SH43099009

An engineered cart-road. **Threat** Resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986)

Management

Level 1 recording.

373	Dwelling	3				SH43369032
Site g	rade	D	Category	Domestic	Site status	
Descri	ption					
A dwel	ling, partly	/ intac	et, but most of the	slates have been r	removed and the roof	timbers are beginning to deteriorate.
Threat						
Collaps	se; resump	tion o	f mining (planning	g consent May 19	86)	
Manag	gement			-		
Level 2	2 recording	,				

374	Shaft					SH43569043
Site g	grade	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	
Descr	iption					
A shal	low, flood	led ope	n working, which	led to the Western	shaft.	
Threa	ıt					
Resun	nption of 1	nining	(planning consent	t May 1986)		
Mana	gement					
Level	1 recordir	ıg,				
375	Extract	tion poi	nt			SH43609053
Site ¿	grade	С	Category	Extraction	Site status	

Tipping; resumption of mining (planning consent May 1986) Management Level 1 recording.

376 <i>Site gi</i> Descrij	Dwelling, rade D otion	Category	Domestic	Site status	SH43549035
The rui Threat Collaps Manag Level 1	ns of Bryn Glas, r e; resumption of ement recording.	roofless and heav	vily dilapidated. g consent May 198	86)	
377 Site gr Descrip An ope Threat Resump Manag Level 1	Extraction poin rade C otion n quarry. otion of mining (p ement recording'	t <i>Category</i> blanning consent	Extraction May 1986)	Site status	SH43499031
378 Site gi	Magazine rade D	Category	Ancillary	Site status	SH43429042
The site Threat Resump Manag Level 1	e of the Morfa Du ption of mining (J ement recording.	ı powder magazi planning consent	ne, marked as suc May 1986)	h on the 1889 25" ordnance survey.	
379 Site gr Descrip Possibl Threat Collaps Manag Level 2	Shaft rade C otion y the site of the lo re. ement recording,	<i>Category</i> ower Morfa Du a	Extraction dit.	Site status	SH43019018
380 Site gr Descrip A venti Threat Collaps Manag Level 2	Shaft <i>rade</i> C ption lation shaft on the e. ement recording.	<i>Category</i> e joint level.	Extraction	Site status	SH431929095
381 Site gr Descrip A venti Threat Collaps Manag Level 2	Shaft rade C otion lation shaft on the e. ement recording,	<i>Category</i> e joint level.	Extraction	Site status	SH43899104

382ShaftSite gradeCDescriptionA ventilation shaft on theThreatCollapse.ManagementLevel 2 recording.	<i>Category</i> joint level.	Extraction	Site status	SH43869109
383ShaftSite gradeCDescriptionA ventilation shaft on theThreatCollapse.ManagementLevel 2 recording.	<i>Category</i> joint level.	Extraction	Site status	SH43849114
384ShaftSite gradeCDescriptionA ventilation shaft on theThreatCollapse.ManagementLevel 2 recording.	<i>Category</i> joint level.	Extraction	Site status	SH43829118
385AditSite gradeBDescriptionThe point at which the joinThreatCollapse; this feature is beManagementLevel 2 recording; the corr	<i>Category</i> nt level emerges fr elieved to contain a ndition of the dam	Extraction rom underground a a dam some distar within the level sl	<i>Site status</i> and joins with the Afon Goch; in existence by nee from the entry. hould be monitored.	SH43819123 y 1815.
 386 Precipitation systems Site grade B Description The Dyffryn Adda precipitalevel (385) emerges from The copper pits are of a d still contain precipitate. The grassed over. Threat Vandalism, vegetation. Management Level 4 recording; this feat proximity to the furnace (and state of the furnace (and state of the furnace) 	tem <i>Category</i> itation system, cor under-round and j lifferent design to hese are shown on ature also lends its 387).	Extraction asisting of a system oins both with the those elsewhere of the map of 1815-	<i>Site status</i> m of copper and ochre precipitation pits, at t e Afon Goch and the stream (392) which drai on the site, being brick-built with timber shut 1819, and remained in use until 1958. The oc	SH43909170C he point where the joint ns Llyn Llaethdy (392). ttering. Some of the pits chre pits are now largely
 387 Furnace <i>Site grade</i> A Description A stone-built furnace hou 	Category	Processing	Site status	SH43829137

A stone-built furnace house, now roofed with corrugated iron but once slated, possibly used to dry precipitate from the Dyffiryn Adda precipitation pits. The brick-built furnace survives, but has suffered considerable recent damage. Integral with the building on its south-east side is a smaller unit, possibly for a weighbridge.

The furnace house, or a building on its site, appears to be shown on the map of 1815-1819.

Threat

Vandalism; collapse.

Management

Level 5 recording; consolidation; the value of this feature is enhanced by its proximity to (386), and would lend itself to incorporation in a visitor trail.

388 Site gr Descrip A dilapi Threat Vandali Manag Consoli	Dwellin <i>cade</i> otion idated dw sm; collap ement dation.	g C elling, int ose; veget	<i>Category</i> tegral with (387). tation.	Domestic	Site status	SH43809137
389 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip An oper	Yard cade otion n area lat	C terly used	<i>Category</i> I to store core sam	Ancillary	<i>Site status</i> heds. These are now largely destroyed, and a	SH43859140 core samples have been
scattere Threat Vandali Manag Level 3	d over the sm. ement 1 recordir	e site. A fi ng.	ragment of pump-	rod, believed to be	from Cairn's shaft, survives on site.	
390 <i>Site gr</i> Descrir	Road cade	С	Category	Transport	Site status	SH43879136
A road Threat This fea Manag Level 1	from the I nture is sta ement recording	Dyffryn A able. g.	dda precipitation.	system and furnac	e to the Amlwch-Llanerchymedd road.	
391 Site gr Descrip An och Threat Vegetat Manag Level 2	Precipita cade otion re pit, kno ion. ement recording	ation syst B wwn as Ll <u>y</u> g.	em <i>Category</i> yn Llaethdy.	Extraction	Site status	SH44209150C
392 Site gr Descrip A stone Threat	Water-co cade otion -lined stree	ourse B eam which	<i>Category</i> h connects Llyn L	Extraction laethdy (391) with	<i>Site status</i> the Dyffryn Adda precipitation system (386)	SH44159154).
Vegetat Manag Level 2	ion. ement recording	5.				
393 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip An area	Hammer rade otion	rstone fin A Simon T	d-spot <i>Category</i> imberlake records	Extraction the discovery of h	<i>Site status</i> nammer-stones.	SH44099053C
Threat Proxim	ity to foot	path.				

Management

It is desirable that this area be further examined for evidence of pre-Modem mining.,

394 <i>Site gre</i>	Hamme ade	rstone fin A	id-spot <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH43879062
An area Threat Proxim Manag It is des	a in which ity to foot gement sirable tha	Simon T tpath. It this area	imberlake records	s the discovery of	hammer-stones. of pre-Modern mining.	
396 Site g Descrip The po Threat Resump Manag Level 3	Flue rade ption ssible upp ption of m gement b recording	B er end of nining (pl. g.	<i>Category</i> a flue was noted a anning consent M	Processing at this point. ay 1986)	Site status	SH43859030
397 <i>Site g</i> Descri	Flue <i>rade</i> ption	В	Category	Processing	Site status	SH43779034
connec Threat Resum Manag Level 3 398 <i>Site g</i> Descri The low Threat Resum Manag Level 3	ted with (2 ption of m gement b recording Chimne rade ption ver part of ption of m gement b recording	398). iining (pl. g. B f a dilapic iining (pl. g.	anning consent M <i>Category</i> dated stone chimn anning consent M	Processing ey. ay 1986)	Site status	SH43769033
399 Site g	Feature rade	Е	Category	Processing	Site status	SH433739032
Descrip A featu stone-b Threat Resum Manag Level 3 400	ption re which i uilt pillars ption of m cement recording Bridge	may be co s on the ti nining, (p g.	onnected with the ip surface. lanning consent M	calcining or smelt Iay 1986)	ing of ore, visible as a stone embankment up	the side of a tip and two SH44629014
Site g Descrip A bridg Threat Collaps Manag Recom	raae ption ge over wa se. gement mendation	B nter-cours ns: level 2	e (34 1). 2 recording.	ı ransport	Sue status	

401 <i>Site gr</i> Descrij	Precipi rade ption	tation syst B	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH44789013
An exte Threat Vegetat Manag Level 3	cion. cion. cement recordir	hre pit. A ng.	substantial stone d	lam, over which a	road passes, holds back the water on the east.	
402 <i>Site g</i>	Precipi rade	tation syst B	tem Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44859024
A large Threat Vegetat Manag Recom	, irregula tion. gement mendatic	rly shapec	d pit constructed to 3 recording	the north of (401) It is held back by a large wall on its down sl	ope side.
403 Site gr	Precipi rade	tation syst B	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH44799022
A large Threat Vegetat Manag Recom	rectangu ion. coment mendatio	ılar-plan p ons: level 3	it adjacent to (402 3 recording) and immediately	v up slope of (401)	
404 <i>Site gi</i>	Precipi rade	tation syst B	tem <i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH45209035C
An exte dam ha Threat This fea Manag Recomm	ensive oc s a slopin ature app gement mendatic	hre pit, then ng profile. wears to be ons: level 3	e lower end of the I The pit feeds into stable. 3 recording,	Dyffryn Coch syst (311), the lowest	em, held back at its eastern end by a massive s part of the Hillside system, at its north-eastern	tone dam, 5m high. The n corner.
405 <i>Site gr</i> Descrij	Shaft rade ption	А	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43969060
A shaft and org Threat This fea Manag 14C da	is visible anic was ature app gement ting of or	e here whe te are evic ears to be rganic was	en approached fror dent at its foot. stable. It is only v ste; further geo-arc	n under-round thro isible from underg haeological study.	ough the workings entered from (10). Hamme ground.	r-stones
406 Site gr Descrij A limes Threat	Bounda rade ption stone bou	ary marker C Indary mal	r <i>Category</i> ker, 0.3m square.	Commemorat	Site status	SH44258995
Manag Level 2	gement recordir	nning (pl	aming consent Ma	ay 1900 and subse	quent extension).	

407 I Site grad	Bounda de	ry marker C	r <i>Category</i>	Commemorat	Site status		SH44109087
A limesto Threat NA. Managen Level 2 re	one bou ne bou nent ecordin	ndary ma g.	rker, approximate	ely 0.3m square.			
408 Site grad	Shaft <i>de</i> ion	В	Category,	Extraction	Site status		SH43389030
The Morr Threat NA. Managen NA.	ris shaft nent	t, sunk be	tween 1988 and 1	1990. A modem sto	eel headframe star	ıds over the shaft, w	hich is not currently in use.
409] Site grad	Engine de	house B	Category	Power	Site status		SH43399028
A modem Threat NA. Managen NA.	ion i corrug nent	gated iron	engine house for	an electric windin	ng motor which p	owers the Morris sha	aft (408).
410 Site grad	Shaft de	D	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH44169041
The posit Threat NA. Managen NA.	ion of t nent	his featur	e has been identi	fied from documer	nts held by AMplo	2. It is not apparent a	as a surface feature.
411 Site grad	Shaft de	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SAM	SH44109033
The posit Threat NA. Managen NA.	ion of t nent	his featur	e has been identi	fied from documen	nts held by AMplo	2. It is not apparent a	as a surface feature.
412 Site grad	Shaft <i>de</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status		SH43869022
Descripti The posit Threat NA. Managen NA.	ion of t nent	his featur	e has been identi	fied from docume	nts held by AMplo	2. It is not apparent a	as a surface feature.
413 Site grad Descripti The posit	Shaft <i>de</i> ion ion of t	D his featur	<i>Category</i> re has been identi	Extraction	<i>Site status</i> nts held by AMplo	c. It is not apparent a	SH44879063 as a surface feature.

Threat
NA.
Management
NA.

414 <i>Site gr</i>	Shaft <i>ade</i> tion	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44749068
The pos Threat NA. Manage NA.	ition of t	his feature	e has been identifie	ed from document	s held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ce feature.
415 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip	Shaft <i>ade</i> tion	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44759068
The pos Threat NA. Manage NA.	ition of t e ment	his feature	e has been identifie	ed from document	s held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ce feature.
416 <i>Site gr</i>	Shaft <i>ade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44499063
The pos Threat NA. Manage NA.	ition of t	his feature	e has been identifi	ed from document	s held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ce feature.
417 Site gr Descrip The pos Threat NA. Manage NA.	Shaft <i>ade</i> tion ition of t ement	D his feature	<i>Category</i> e has been identifie	Extraction ed from document	<i>Site status</i> is held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	SH44569053 ce feature.
418 Site gr Descrip The pos Threat NA. Manage NA.	Shaft <i>ade</i> tion ition of t ement	D his feature	<i>Category</i> e has been identifie	Extraction ed from document	<i>Site status</i> as held by AMple. It is not apparent as a surfa	SH44409060 ce feature.
419 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip	Shaft <i>ade</i> tion	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44709056
The pos Threat NA. Manage	ition of t e ment	his feature	e has been identifie	ed from document	s held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ce feature.

420 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44669053
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been ider	ntified from docum	ents held by AMplc. It is not app	parent as a surface feature.
421 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44749068
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	aure has been ider	ntified from docum	ents held by AMplc. It is not app	parent as a surface feature.
422 Shaft Site grade	E	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH45139050
The position of Threat Proximity to ro Management Further study to	this feat ad and d establis	ture has been ider wellings. sh the position of	ntified from docum	ents held by AMplc. It is not app portant feature.	parent as a surface feature.
423 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44759068
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been ider	ntified from docum	ents held by AMplc. It is not app	parent as a surface feature.
424 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44819037
Description The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been ider	ntified from docum	ents held by AMplc. It is not app	parent as a surface feature.
425 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44659062
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been ider	ntified from docum	ents held by AMplc. It is not app	parent as a surface feature.
426 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44569053

Description The position of t Threat NA. Management NA.	his featur	e has been identif	ied from documen	ts held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ace feature.
427 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44669055
The position of t Threat NA. Management NA.	his featur	e has been identif	ied from documen	ts held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ace feature.
428 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status SAM	SH44009023
Description The position of t Threat NA. Management NA.	his feature	e has been identif	ied from documen	ts held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ace feature.
429 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description The position of t	D big footur	Category	Extraction	<i>Site status</i> SAM	SH44019029
Threat NA. Management NA.	ins reature			ts neid by Alwipic. It is not apparent as a surra	ice reature.
430 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	<i>Site status</i> SA M	SH44889092
Description The position of t Threat NA. Management NA.	his feature	e has been identifi	ied from documen	ts held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ace feature.
431 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH45139076
The position of t Threat NA. Management NA.	his feature	e has been identif	ied from documen	ts held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ace feature.
432 Shaft	Л	Category	Extraction	Site status S A M	SH44369036
Description The position of t Threat NA.	D his feature	e has been identifi	Extraction	ts held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surfa	ace feature.

Management NA.

433 SH44399040 Shaft Site grade D Extraction Site status SAM Category Description The position of this feature has been identified from documents held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surface feature. Threat NA. Management NA. 434 SH44269039 Shaft D Extraction Site status SAM Site grade Category Description The position of this feature has been identified from documents held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a surface feature. Threat NA. Management NA. 435 SH44059011 Kiln Site grade Е Category Processing Site status Description The position of this feature has been identified from Map 2 (Appendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface feature, though pink spoil associated with kilns is evident. Threat NA. Management NA. 436 Shaft SH43669026 Site grade D Category Extraction Site status Description The position of this feature has been identified from Map 3 (Appendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface feature. Threat NA. Management NA. Shaft SH44079054 437 Site grade Е Category Extraction Site status Description The position of this feature has been identified from Map 2 (Appendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface feature. Threat NA. Management The location of this potentially important feature should be established in relation to accessible underground workings. 438 Kiln SH43949040 Е Site grade Category Processing Site status Description The position of this feature has been identified from Map 2 (Appendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface feature. Threat NA. Management NA.

439 <i>Site gr</i> Descrij	Feature rade	Е	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44259039
The pos Threat NA. Manag NA.	ement	nis feature	e has been identifi	ed from Map 1 (A	ppendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fea	ture.
440 Site gr Descrip The pos Threat NA. Manag NA.	Kiln rade otion sition of th ement	E nis feature	<i>Category</i> e has been identifi	Processing ed from Map 1 (A	<i>Site status</i> ppendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fea	SH44249022 ture.
441 <i>Site gr</i> Descrij	Kiln rade otion	Е	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44259028
The pos Threat NA. Manag NA. 442	sition of th ement Kiln	nis feature	e has been identifi	ed from Map 1 (A	ppendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fea	ture. SH44289030
Site gr Descrip The pos Threat NA. Manag NA.	rade otion sition of th ement	E nis feature	<i>Category</i> e has been identifi	Processing ed from Map 1 (A	<i>Site status</i> ppendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fea	ture.
443 <i>Site gr</i>	Kiln rade	Е	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44269023
The pos Threat NA. Manag NA.	ement	nis feature	e has been identifi	ed from Map 1 (A	ppendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fea	SH44220027
Site gr Descrip The pos Threat NA. Manag NA.	rade ption sition of th ement	E nis feature	<i>Category</i> e has been identifi	Processing ed from Map 1 (A	<i>Site status</i> ppendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fea	ыцарования и произония и произонии
445 <i>Site gi</i> Descrij	Kiln rade otion	Е	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44369028

The position of Threat NA.	of this fe	ature has been iden	tified from Map 1	(Appendix 2). It is not app	parent as a surface feature.
Management NA.	t				
446 Kiln Site grade	E	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44399031
Description The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	of this fe	ature has been iden	tified from Map 1	(Appendix 2). It is not ap	parent as a surface feature.
447 Dwe <i>Site grade</i> Description	lling E	Category	Domestic	Site status	SH44219019
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	of this fe	ature has been iden	tified from Map 1	(Appendix 2). It is not app	parent as a surface feature.
448 Dwe <i>Site grade</i> Description	lling E	Category	Domestic	Site status	SH44269018
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	of this fe	ature has been iden	tified from Map 1	(Appendix 2). It is not app	parent as a surface feature.
449 Shaf <i>Site grade</i>	t D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44189002
Description The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	of this fe	ature has been iden	tified from Map 1	(Appendix 2). It is not ap	parent as a surface feature.
450 Shaf <i>Site grade</i> Description The position of the posi	t D	<i>Category</i>	Extraction	Site status	SH44209000
Threat NA. Management NA.			anda nom map 1	(1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
451 Shaf <i>Site grade</i> Description	t D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44228999
The position of Threat NA. Management	of this fe	ature has been iden	tified from Map 1	(Appendix 2). It is not app	parent as a surface feature.

NA.

452 Site gr	Feature ade	Е	Category	Unknown	Site status	SH44239021
The pos Threat NA. Manage NA.	sition of t ement	his featur	re has been identii	fied from Map 1 (/	Appendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fea	iture.
453 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip	Furnace <i>ade</i> otion	e E	Category	Processing	Site status	SH44259022
The pos eastern Threat NA. Manag NA.	sition of t extremity ement	his featur of the la	re has been identi argely buried prec	fied from Map 1 (ipitation system (2	Appendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fe 259 and 290) suggests that it was a furnace for	ature. Its location at the drying precipitate.
454 Site gr	Feature ade	Е	Category	Unknown	Site status	SI-144139040
The pos Threat NA. Manag NA.	ement	his featui	re has been identii	fied from Map 1 (A	Appendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface fea	iture.
455 Site gr	Shaft ade	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43269032
Descrip The pos Threat Resump Manage	etion Sition of t Dition of n Rement	his shaft nining (pl	has been identifie lanning consent M	d from documents Iay 1986).	held by AMplc. it was not observed as a surface	ace feature.
456 <i>Site gr</i> Descrip	Shaft <i>ade</i> otion	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43178982
Possibly Threat NA. Manage NA.	y a draina ement	nge adit fo	or the Morfa Du r	nine.		
457 Site gr	Shaft ade	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43719019
The pos Threat NA. Manag NA.	ement	his featur	re has been identii	fied from documer	nts held by AMplc. It was not observed as a su	rface feature.

Site grade	D	Category	Extraction	<i>Site status</i> SA M	
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been iden	tified from docume	ents held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a su	rface feature.
459 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43879023
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been iden	tified from docume	ents held by AMple. It is not apparent as a su	rface feature.
460 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43949054
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been iden	tified from docume	ents held by AMple. It is not apparent as a su	rface feature.
461 Shaft<i>Site grade</i>Description	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH43989055
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been iden	tified from docume	ents held by AMple. It is not apparent as a su	rface feature.
462 Shaft <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44269057
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been iden	tified from AMplc.	It is not apparent as a surface feature.	
463 Shaft Site gr	rade	D Categ	<i>ory</i> Extrac	ction Site status	SH44359059
The position of Threat NA. Management NA.	this feat	ure has been iden	tified from docume	ents held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a su	rface feature.
464 Shaft <i>Site grade</i> Description	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH44439037
The position of Threat	this feat	ure has been iden	tified from docume	ents held by AMplc. It is not apparent as a su	rface feature.

NA. Management NA.

465 Adit					SH42909032
Site grade	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	
Description					
The position of	f this fea	ture has been iden	ntified from Map 3	(Appendix 2). It is not a	pparent as a surface feature.
Threat					
Collapse.					
Management					
Level 1 recordi	ing.				
466 Adit <i>Site grade</i>	D	Category	Extraction	Site status	SH42799020

 Site grade
 D
 Category
 Extraction
 Site status

 Description
 The position of this feature has been identified from Map 3 (Appendix 2). It is not apparent as a surface feature.

 Threat

Collapse.

Management

Level 1 recording.

Mynydd Parys Copper Mine

Archaeological Assessment (G1469)

Appendix 2

MAPS

Ymddiriedolaeth Archaeolegol Gwynedd Gwynedd Archaeological Trust Key to Mynydd Parys maps.

Bangor 31602: Mynydd Parys 1815, original "Surveyed by Hugh Hughes Novr 1815"

a = Mona Mine Brimstone yard b = rocks and lands not yet cultivated c = Parys Mine brimstone yard dd = horse whimseys ee = ground allotted for copper kilns ff = precipitation pits g = stone quarryi = an old Roman shaft l = smithym = Parys Mine Store Yard etc nn = horse whimseys nn = hand whimseys p = pump for raising water to pits r = reservoir for Dyffryn Coch ss = waste heapstt = waste heaps uu = air shafts on joint level vv = fresh springsw = stone quarry x = pond and trough for watering cattle yy = clay got for the use of the mineshh = Dyffryn Coch precipitation pits z = house and garden

Bangor 31603 Mona Mine O Shafts open in the summer 1784 • Shafts found by information 1786

A Boundary fall B Fall next Sir Nick's smithy C Champion's falls D Fall back of Mr Roose's house E Upper fall no 5 F Fall back of assay office G Fall facing smithy door H Heap of rubbish I Opencast K Opencast L Deep level


0

500m

Key to Map 2 (Bangor MS 31602)

Features are identified on the original document thus:

- a. Mona Mine brimstone yard.
 b. Rocks and lands not yet cultivated
 c. Parys Mine brimstone yard.
 e. Ground allotted for copper kiolns.
 f. Precipitation puits.
 g. Stone quarry.
 i. An old Roman shaft.
 m. Parys Mine store yard
 p. Pump for raising water to the pits.
 r. Reservoir for Dyffryn Coch
 s. Waste heaps.
 y. Clay got for the use of the mines.
 z. House and garden









- Boundary of survey area
- Boundary of Parys Mountain
- Boundary of Great Opencast



0<u>5</u>00m

Mynydd Parys Copper Mine

Archaeological Assessment (G1469)

Appendix 3

Survey and Assessment Excavation of the Mona Mine Smelter (Feature 352)

by

David Hopewell

Ymddiriedolaeth Archaeolegol Gwynedd Gwynedd Archaeological Trust

APPENDIX 3: ASSESSMENT AND SURVEY OF THE MONA MINE SMELTER (FEATURE 352)

1. INTRODUCTION

A survey and assessment excavation was carried out on an area on the western side of Mynydd Parys, including feature 352 and associated structures. This formed a part of an overall archaeological assessment of mineral extraction and processing on Mynydd Parys and environs, and was funded by the AIHT and Cadw.

The site had originally been recognised by the presence of a heap of large glassy crucible slags suggesting the presence of a smelter. Two concrete-lined water tanks, a brick revetment wall and a flue were visible to the west of the slagheap but the smelter itself could not be identified. No other smelting debris has been identified on Mynydd Parys so further evaluation was seen to be a priority. The 1900 edition 25" Ordnance Survey map (III 15 Anglesey) (fig. 1) shows part of the flue and a rectangular structure.

2. AIMS AND METHODOLOGY

The aim of the excavation and survey was to find further evidence of smelting activity and carry out a general assessment of the extent and condition of the remains. There were however few easily identifiable structures on the site. The initial non-invasive investigation consisted of a detailed Total Station contour survey and a limited Magnetometer survey. Seven trial trenches were then excavated in order to investigate features identified in the surveys. Features and contexts within the excavated areas were recorded principally by total station survey with finer detail being added by hand. A complete photographic and written record was kept of all excavations as they progressed.

3. GENERAL TOPOGRAPHY AND RESULTS OF THE TOTAL STATION SURVEY

The topographical survey encompassed a subrectangular area with dimensions of 138m. by 93m. Unmetalled roads passed just inside the northern and eastern boundaries. The central part of the survey area was reasonably flat, rising at the south to a rounded rocky knoll and falling steeply at the north to a further flat area. The majority of the industrial activity appeared to have occurred at the north of the site. Most of the site was easily accessible, being sparsely vegetated with heather and grass. Parts of the flue and the flat area to the north were however obscured by dense gorse and hawthorn. A number of features were identified. These are described below and are indicated on fig. 2.

3.1. Dry-stone Flue (feature 353)

The flue could be traced for a total of 120m., initially running from west to east along the break of slope at the north of the site before turning through 90° and following a gently curving path to the top of the rocky knoll at the southern end of the site. The flue could only be traced as a hollow in the ground for most of its length. Upstanding masonry had however survived on the slope at the south. Here the flue had an internal width of 0.5m and gave the impression of originally being covered by flat capstones.

3.2. Slag Dump

The site was first recognised by the presence of a dump of glassy crucible slags. The dump has dimensions of approximately 27m x 12m but much slag has been removed in recent years in order to fill in holes in a track to the north of the site. The slags are roughly conical in shape although some are flat bottomed and some are pointed. It has been suggested¹ that the variations in shape are due to the fact that iron crucibles had to be lined with foundry sand in order prevent them from being damaged by the molten slag. This was verified by the recovery of several fragments of crucible slag from elsewhere on the site with sand adhering to the outer surface.

3.3. Slag Dump

A further dump of crucible slags was identified on the northern side of the road at the north of the site. This was however very overgrown, making any estimate of quantities difficult.

3.4. Concrete-lined tanks

Two stone built tanks with internal dimensions of 6.0m. x 7.8m. x 3.5m. The upper part of the stonework appears to have been lost. The tanks are lined with concrete and have slightly bevelled corners.

3.5. Stepped brick revetment wall

An 8.5m. length of red brick wall could be seen to revet part of the slope between the upper and lower levels at the north of the site. The wall was strongly battered with each course of brick set slightly back from the previous, forming small steps. The western end of the wall was built against and bonded to the bedrock. The top of the wall had at one point been constructed in the form of a

carefully built arch the inside of which was also bonded to the rock.

3.6. Level unvegetated area

This contained numerous fragments of vitrified furnace lining. The area immediately to the south-west of the tanks was covered in a yellowish and probably toxic deposit. A number of large pieces of broken brickwork could be seen here. The bricks were generally yellow in colour although some red bricks were present. The inside of the masonry pieces were fused and strongly vitrified and in some cases were covered in iron rich slag. Occasional drops of copper metal could also be seen adhering to the bricks. One large disk shaped piece of dense iron rich material could possibly be the remains of a furnace door.

3.7. Small linear hollow

A shallow liner hollow about 0.3m across could be seen to run for 3.2m in a south westerly direction from the end of the tanks.

3.8. Linear hollow

Several hollows (features 8, 9 and 10) could be seen at the top of the break of slope towards the north of the site. There was much broken stone and mortar in this area. Feature 8 ran to the edge of the slope and had dimensions of 10.3m x 1.2m.

3.9. Sub-circular hollow

This shallow depression with dimensions of 3.1m was situated close to the edge of the break of slope.

3.10. Sub-circular hollow

This 2.6m x 2.0m hollow was also close to the top of the slope.

3.11. Spread of crushed stone

This was an approximately circular spread of crushed stone with a diameter of 5.3m, surrounded by broken pieces of glassy slag.

3.12. Six small heaps of stone

These were made up of various types of stone.

3.13. Possible Flue

A short length of possible flue could be seen, running in an approximately east-west direction along the top of the slope.

3.14. Rectangular structure

An overgrown rectangular structure with internal dimensions of $3.3 \text{ m} \times 2.8 \text{ m}$ could be seen at the southern end of the upper level area. The low walls were completely covered with a mat of grass and heather. There was a possible entrance in the south-western corner. This structure gave the impression of being earlier than the remains at the north of the site.

4. THE GEOPHYSICAL SURVEY

Two areas of magnetometer survey were carried out. All areas were surveyed using an FM36 fluxgate gradiometer in 20m x 20m grids. A 1m traverse interval was used and readings were taken at 0.25m intervals along each traverse. The position of the grids is indicated on fig. 2.

The first area consisting of one complete grid and one half grid in the area at the top of the break of slope around features 8, 9, 10, 11 and 13. The responses were generally quiet with no indications of heavy burning. There was an undifferentiated area of increased noise along the top of the slope corresponding to the features already identified above (fig. 3).

The second area covered part of the area at the bottom of the slope and produced very different results to area 1. The readings were around one order of magnitude higher (SD area 1 = 17.6 nT, SD area 2 = 245 nT) with large variations typical of ferrous or heavily burnt remains. A linear anomaly could be distinguished, producing a typical ferrous response of alternate high and low readings suggesting an iron pipe. The south-western part of the survey area produced a mass of very high readings. Such responses are typical of heavily burnt industrial features such as kilns and furnaces (fig. 4).

It was noted during the survey that the glassy slag did not produce a strong magnetic response. This was in contrast to the iron rich slags and vitrified brick etc. which produced readings in excess of 500nT. The very strong magnetic responses were produced

here because the furnace linings and slags such as fayalite contained a high proportion of iron all of which cooled at the same time. During the cooling process the iron particles and molecules aligned themselves to magnetic north thus producing a large magnetic dipole

5. RESULTS OF THE EXCAVATION

A total of seven trenches (fig. 5) was hand-dug in order to further assess some of the features identified above. The excavation was carried out in mid-February 1998 by two Gwynedd Archaeological Trust staff. Weather conditions were variable and excavation was hampered at times by gales and heavy rain.

Trench A (fig. 6).

This trench with dimensions of 5m x 1m was dug in order to investigate the linear hollow (feature 7) at the end of the tanks and to assess the nature of the deposits on the level area to the south of this (feature 6). Between 10 and 20cm of topsoil containing mortar and other rubble was removed to reveal a bright yellow silty deposit (001) at the south of the trench. This petered out towards the north of the trench where a mid orange-brown clayey silt (002) containing a high percentage of stones could be seen. Feature 7 was cut through this and was a 40cm deep gully. A further linear feature, cutting the yellow deposit, was identified. This was found to contain an iron pipe with a diameter of approximately 4cm and a piece of wood. The linear anomaly in the geophysical survey was a result of this pipe.

Trench B (fig. 7).

This irregular shaped trench with maximum dimensions of 6.5m x 2.4m was dug in order to investigate the flat area where the remains of furnace lining were found. The area around the western end of the trench also produced very high magnetometer responses. The majority of the trench was sealed by a mortar-rich demolition layer containing slag and furnace lining. A piece of a graphite composite tube of uncertain function was also recovered from this context. The most noticeable feature in this trench was the remains of a 1.3m square, mortared stone base. One corner had been broken away but the foundation trench was still visible. Just to the west of this was a solidified pool of iron-rich slag (possibly fayalite). This appeared to have two straight sides and there was a deposit of clean yellow foundry sand to the north of it. Elsewhere the trench was sealed by a shallow and variable yellowish brown clayey deposit (003). This was not excavated but a dark stoney layer could be seen beneath it in places. This contained a high proportion of cinders and broken glassy slag particularly on the south side of the square base. A possible slot could be seen running close to the south-east corner of the stone base. The iron pipe also passed through the eastern end of the trench.

Trench C (fig. 8)

This rectangular trench ($6m \times 2m$) with a narrow 4.5m long extension was dug in front of the brick revetment. There had been a build up of demolition debris against the revetment, so up to 1m of material had to be removed. The top of the revetment was cleared of rubble before the trench was excavated. This revealed the remains of another square (0.9m) mortared stone base. Photograph 7 shows the revetment after clearance.

The whole of the trench was sealed by demolition debris. This was removed, revealing the following features.

There was a paved area in front of the revetment. This consisted of stone slabs set in mortar. This had been broken away at the eastern side of the trench to reveal a stony subsoil which dropped away steeply to the east.

To the north of the paved area was a poorly defined east-west orientated linear feature. The eastern side of this consisted of flat capstones that appeared to have subsided into a drain or flue. One stone was lifted but the channel beneath was choked with mortar and other debris. No further action was taken here.

The northern end of the trench contained a concrete surface the southern edge of which was bounded by a length of decayed wood that could be the remains of shuttering. There was a rough area and three mounting holes close to the southern edge of the concrete suggesting that some kind of machinery had originally been mounted here. This also appeared to be in alignment with the stone base above the revetment. The eastern edge of the concrete was identified in the narrow extension trench.

A deposit of clay, slag and cinders (004) along with more demolition debris (005) was identified in the eastern end of the extension trench

Trench D (fig. 9)

A small $(1.6m \times 0.6m)$ trench was dug across the possible flue (feature 13) at the top of the break of slope. The feature was completely full of cinders and other burning products but had only survived to a height of around 10 cm. The cinders etc. were removed revealing compact yellow clayey silt (006). A hard iron rich concretion was also identified on the southern side of the feature.

Trench E (fig. 9)

Another trench with dimensions of 1.6m x 2.5m was dug at the southern end of the visible remains of the possible flue. This corresponded to the edge of the circular spread of crushed stone and slag (feature 11). No further remains of the flue could be found. A 10cm deep deposit of cinders and small pieces of slag was removed revealing compact yellow clayey silt (007). A piece of very well preserved wood was also found in the top of the yellow context.

Trench F (fig. 10)

A small trench with dimensions of 1m x 1.7m was dug on the edge of one of the hollows (feature10) above the break of slope. A small amount of demolition debris was removed, revealing part of a mortared stone and brick structure. The poorly- preserved remains of a wooden beam could also be seen within the stonework.

Trench G (fig. 11)

A 2.8m x 1.7m trench was excavated across the linear hollow (feature 7) running towards the top of the brick revetment and the associated stone base. The demolition debris was removed revealing a shallow 0.8m, wide channel bounded on the western side by concrete. The concrete appeared to be foundations, possibly of a brick structure, which could be seen to turn and terminate towards the southern end of the trench. The eastern side of the channel was bounded by a context of fairly pure mortar. It could not however be determined if this was in situ or redeposited.

6. CONCLUSIONS

The excavation strategy was not designed to produce a complete plan and interpretation of the site. The combined results of the topographic survey, magnetometer survey and the excavations do however give a good indication of the general layout and condition of the structures on the site.

No exact dating evidence was produced during the excavation. The extensive use of brick and concrete suggest a late nineteenth century date. The flue and a rectangular structure shown on the 1900 edition 25" O.S. map demonstrate that there were visible remains at this time. It should also be noted that the rectangular structure appears to extend on to both the upper and lower levels at the north end of the site.

The magnetometer data shows that the furnace remains are concentrated towards the western end of the lower level. The upper level produced no responses consistent with heavy in situ burning. The glassy slags contained little iron so were magnetically inert. This allows differentiation between the glassy slags and fayalite slags by magnetometer survey.

The numerous pieces of vitrified brick along with the solidified pool of slag demonstrate that there was a furnace on the site although its exact location is still unknown. The two dumps of crucible slag however are very small showing that this was unlikely to be a smelter producing commercial quantities of copper. This suggests that the smelter was either an experimental operation or was used to test or assay the ore.

The structures on the upper level appear to be aligned with at least some of the lower structures suggesting that a continuous process occurred here. The height differential could have been an aid in loading a top-fed furnace. The water tanks might have been used rapidly to cool and thus break up the crucible slags before they were re-smelted and further purified.

7. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FURTHER WORK

The limited area of trial excavation has yielded some information about the feature. More specific details such as the location of the furnace and the function of the various structures that have been located can only be resolved by the excavation of a larger area. The results of the geophysical survey suggest that the most likely location of the furnace is in front of the eastern end of the brick revetment. Analysis of the various slags and other debris would add to the understanding of the feature.

(Footnotes)

¹ Personal communication, D. Chapman.



Fig 1





Fig. 3





Fig. 5



Fig. 6



Fig. 7



Fig. 8



Fig. 9



Fig. 10



Fig. 11



7 The Mona Mine Smelter (feature 352): the revetment after clearance

YMDDIRIEDOLAETH ARCHAEOLEGOL GWYNEDD



GWYNEDD ARCHAEOLOGICAL TRUST

Craig Beuno, Ffordd y Garth, Bangor, Gwynedd LL57 2RT Ffon/Tel 01248 352535 Ffacs/Fax 01248 370925 e-mail: gat@heneb.co.uk web site: www.heneb.co.uk